
CABINET

GWYNEDD COUNCIL

DATE Tuesday, 25th June, 2019

TIME 1.00 pm

LOCATION Siambr Hywel Dda, Council Offices, Caernarfon, Gwynedd, 
LL55 1SH

CONTACT POINT Annes Siôn
01286 679490
cabinet@gwynedd.llyw.cymru

GWYNEDD COUNCIL CABINET MEMBERS

Members

Dyfrig L. Siencyn Leader

Dafydd Meurig Deputy Leader, Cabinet Member for 
Adults, Health and Wellbeing

Craig ab Iago Cabinet Member for Housing

Gareth Wyn Griffith Cabinet Member for Environment

Nia Wyn Jeffreys Cabinet Member for Corporate 
Support

Dilwyn Morgan Cabinet Member for Children and 
Young People

Gareth Thomas Cabinet Member for Economic 
Development and Community

Ioan Thomas Cabinet Member for Finance

Catrin Elen Wager Cabinet Member for Highways and 
Municipal

Cemlyn Rees Williams Cabinet Member for Education

Complete Agenda



AGENDA

Item Submitted 
by

Officer Page

1  APOLOGIES

2  DECLARATION OF PERSONAL 
INTEREST

3  URGENT ITEMS

4  MATTERS ARISING FROM OVERVIEW 
AND SCRUTINY

5  MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 
21 MAY AND 4 JUNE 2019

3 - 12

6  ANNUAL REPORT ON THE 
IMPLEMENTATION OF THE WELSH 
LANGUAGE STANDARDS 2018-19

Cyng / Cllr 
Nia Jeffreys

Gwenllian 
Williams

13 - 
29

7  MANAGEMENT OF THE COUNCIL'S 
SMALL HOLDINGS ESTATE

Cyng / Cllr 
Gareth 
Griffith

Dafydd 
Gibbard

30 - 
36

8  GWYNEDD COUNCIL PERFORMANCE 
REPORT 2018/19

Cyng. Dyfrig 
Siencyn

Dewi Wyn 
Jones

37 - 
94

9  GWYNEDD COMMON HOUSING 
ALLOCATIONS POLICY

Cyng/ Cllr 
Craig ab Iago

Arwel Wyn 
Owen and 
Gareth Parri

95 - 
154

10  HOUSING STRATEGY - FINANCIAL 
ALLOCATION FOR 2019/20

Cyng / Cllr 
Craig ab Iago

Arwel Wyn 
Owen

155 - 
159

11  ANNUAL EQUALITY REPORT 2018-19 Cyng / Cllr 
Nia Jeffreys

Delyth 
Gadlys 
Williams

160 - 
207



THE CABINET 21/05/19

THE CABINET 21/05/19

Present-
Councillors: Dyfrig L. Siencyn, Dafydd Meurig, Craig ab Iago, Gareth Wyn Griffith, Nia 
Wyn Jeffreys, Dilwyn Morgan, Gareth Thomas, Ioan Thomas, Catrin Elen Wager and 
Cemlyn Rees Williams

Also present-
Dilwyn Williams (Chief Executive), Iwan Evans (Head of Legal Services), Dafydd 
Edwards (Head of Finance Department), Morwena Edwards (Corporate Director), Ffion 
Madog Jones (Senior Finance Manager) and Annes Sion (Member Support Officer) 

Item 6:  Steffan Jones (Head of Highways and Municipal Department)  

1.  APOLOGIES

Cabinet Members and Officers were welcomed to the meeting.
No apologies were received.

2.  DECLARATION OF PERSONAL INTEREST

There were no declarations of personal interest

3.  URGENT ITEMS

There were no urgent items

4.  MATTERS ARISING FROM OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY

There were no matters arising from overview and scrutiny.

5.  FINAL ACCOUNTS 2018/19 - REVENUE OUTTURN

The item was submitted by Cllr Ioan Thomas    

RESOLVED

1.1 To note the final financial position of the Council’s departments for 
2018/19.

1.2 To approve the amounts to be carried forward (the “Revised Over/ 
(Under) Spend” column of the summary in Appendix 1), namely -

Page 3

Agenda Item 5



THE CABINET 21/05/19

DEPARTMENT £’000
Adults, Health and Well-being 15
Children and Families 100
Education 100
Economy and Community 28
Highways and Municipal 100
Environment (100)
Gwynedd Consultancy (59)
Corporate Management Team and 
Legal 

(76)

Finance (59)
Corporate Support (61)

1.3 To approve the following recommendations and virements (as outlined 
in Appendix 2)  

 The Children and Families Department to receive a one-off 
partial financial assistance of £1,544k to restrict the level of 
overspend that will be carried over by the department, to 
support them to move on to face the challenges of 2019/20.

 The Education Department to receive a one-off partial financial 
assistance of £16k to limit the overspend that will be carried 
forward by the department to £100k.

 Compensate the Economy and Community Department £157k, 
the sum of the overspend due to the slippage of establishing 
‘Byw’n Iach’ to run the leisure centres, which limits the 
overspend that will be carried forward by the department to 
£28k.

 The Highways and Municipal Department to receive a one-off 
partial financial assistance of £518k, which limits the overspend 
that will be carried forward by the Department to £100k, to 
support them to face the challenges of 2019/20. 

 In accordance with the Financial Regulations, it is 
recommended that the usual practice is adhered to in order to 
allow the Environment Department to keep (£100k) of their 
underspend, and to move (£392k) which is the sum above 
(£100k), to be used to support the departments that have 
overspent in 2018/19.

 On Corporate budgets, transfer:
- (£19k) related to the Council Tax Premium to a specific 
reserve to be considered for the Housing Strategy.
- (£551k) relating to capital costs to a capital programme fund.
- (£738k) on maintenance to a maintenance reserve. 

 Use (£1,843k) of the net underspend on the Corporate budget to 
support the departments that have overspent in 2018/19. 

 The remainder of the Corporate underspend (£173k) to the 
Council’s general balances.

1.4 To approve the virements from the specific reserves and provisions as 
outlined in Appendix 3 following a review of reserves and provisions, 

Page 4



THE CABINET 21/05/19

namely:
 Harvest (£3.931m) from reserves and (£69k) from 

provisions.
 Assign £3m to the Transformation Fund for the Council Plan.
 Transfer £1m in to the Council’s General Balances.
 Assign for a one-year period, £262k from the Supporting the 

Financial Strategy Reserve to bridge the funding source 
relating to liabilities of the Pension Fund.

DISCUSSION

The report was submitted, noting that the report elaborated on the Council's 
expenditure for 2018/19.  Cllr Peredur Jenkins was thanked for his commitment 
to secure the Council's financial position over the past years. It was expressed 
that the Council's financial management had been effective over the year, despite 
the requirement to realise savings. 

It was expressed that the report noted the final position of all departments, and 
attention was drawn to the main matters. It was noted that half the departments 
had been able to keep within their budgets. Attention was drawn to an 
improvement in the situation of the Adults, Health and Well-being Department by 
the end of the year as a result of receiving and re-directing late grants.  
Nevertheless, it was emphasised that there was an overspend of almost £1m in 
the Provider service and it was noted that the Cabinet Member and Head of 
Adults Department needed to look further into this overspend. 

It was noted that an increase had been seen in the Children and Supporting 
Families Department across a number of headings which meant that by the end 
of the year, the net overspend had increased to £1.6m. It was explained that out-
of-county placements were responsible for a vast amount of the overspend and a 
meeting had been arranged between the relevant Cabinet Members, the Chief 
Executive and other officers in order to address the matter in full. It was 
recommended for the Cabinet to restrict the level of overspend to carry forward to 
£100k. 

Attention was drawn to the Education Department, noting that since the last 
review that there had been a substantial improvement to the financial situation as 
a result of receiving and re-directing the grant. Nevertheless, it was expressed 
that an overspend continued in the Transport field, which had been the subject of 
a review to manage the overspend, however, reference was made to the need for 
further work. It was recommended that the overspend was restricted to £100k in 
order to assist the department in 2019/20. 

In the Economy and Community Department, a high percentage of the overspend 
was noted as a result of a slippage in the timetable for establishing Byw'n Iach, 
and it was recommended that the department be compensated £157k, namely 
the value of the slippage. Also, it was recommended for the Cabinet to provide 
one-off financial assistance to ease the overspend of £0.5m in the Waste field in 
the Highways Department.  

It was expressed that the underspend of some departments could be used by 

Page 5



THE CABINET 21/05/19

effective management of the budgets, in order to finance the total expenditure in 
accordance with the proposal for 2018/19, by using £1.51m from funds to finance 
one-off bids in 2018/19 and not make use of the Council's general balances. It 
was noted that the Council had managed to harvest over £4m of resources, with 
£3m earmarked for the priorities of the Council Plan. All the staff were thanked 
for their work in ensuring that the work of closing the accounts and producing the 
statement was done in a much shorter period compared to previous years. 

Observations arising from the discussion
 The Cabinet Member for Children and Supporting Families noted that he 

had faith in the service and in the level of safety of looked after children. It 
was added that overspend was often a discussion topic in the Department 
and Nationally as it was a problem that could be seen nationwide. It was 
expressed that the department had received an additional resource that 
would carry out a Ffordd Gwynedd review in the department to ensure that 
their systems were completely effective. It was noted that the next steps 
following the Ffordd Gwynedd review would be to raise the question as to 
whether the budget was fit for purpose. 

 Attention was drawn to the fact that there could be two possibilities 
following the report of the Children Department; either the financial 
management was poor or an overspend was unavoidable. It was 
reiterated that the overspend was nothing new to the officers and 
consequently it was shown that the financial management was good.  
Nevertheless, it was noted that there was a need to ensure that the 
department worked as efficient as possible and so the importance of 
meeting the officers was underlined in order to ensure that no stone was 
left unturned. 

 It was noted that over £800,000 had been added to the budget of the 
Children and Supporting Families Department by 2019/20, in response to 
the increase in demand, and further discussion would be held on realising 
the historical savings schemes of the Department. 

 It was expressed that the slippage with establishing Byw'n Iach accounted 
for the bulk of the overspend of the Economy and Community 
Department, however, it was expressed that the overspend in Storiel 
needed to be addressed urgently.  

 It was explained that the Education Department had anticipated an 
overspend of over £700k but that the department, by means of grants, had 
managed to reduce it to £116k. It was reiterated that further work needed 
to be done in the context of transport.  It was explained that school 
balances continued to be high, but that this was partly as a result of 
receiving Government grants late in the year.

 It was noted in the Highways and Municipal Department that some income 
targets were possibly high, but the department was monitoring this. It was 
added that there would be a change in the Waste Service which would 
reduce the overspend, within the year. 

 It was expressed that the overspend of the Adults Department had 
reduced following the late receipt of a grant, however, it was explained 
that the department needed to continue to consider the matter, in order to 
ensure that they dealt with any chance of an overspend. 

 Attention was drawn to cuts that were happening to services as a result to 
a reduction in the Government settlement and that we had conveyed the 

Page 6



THE CABINET 21/05/19

message to the Government continuously that this reduction was causing 
worry to the residents of Gwynedd.

6.  CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2018/19 - END OF YEAR REVIEW (31 MARCH 2019 
POSITION)

Submitted by Cllr Ioan Thomas 

DECISION

To accept the report on the end of year review (31 March 2019 position) of the 
capital programme, and approve the revised financing as shown in part 4 of the 
report, that is:

 £7,000 increase in the use of borrowing
 £1,739,000 increase in the use of grants and contributions
 £71,000 increase in the use of capital receipts
 £158,000 increase in the use of revenue contributions
 No change in the use of the capital reserve
 £184,000 increase in the use of renewal funds and others

DISCUSSION

The report was submitted, noting that its main purpose was to present the final 
situation of the 2018/19 capital programme. It was expressed that the report 
provided an analysis per department of the capital programme of £53.53 million 
for the three years 2018/19 - 2020/21. 

Attention was drawn to a main conclusion, namely that the Council had spent 
over £22.8m through capital schemes, where 55% of it was grant-funded.  
Concerns were raised about the reduction in the number of Council staff and the 
capacity that would be available to ensure that the plans were mature to submit 
for grants in the future. It was explained that the total of £12.7m was slipping from 
2018/19, compared with £15.6m at the end of 2017/18. The main reasons for the 
slippages were elaborated upon, which included the Schools Maintenance Grant 
of £1.8m arriving late, a change in the timing of the spending on the replacement 
of the Council's cars and awaiting decisions on match funding from Welsh 
Government on plans in the Property field. 

It was emphasised that the Council had been successful in receiving additional 
grants since the previous review, including School Maintenance Grants and the 
Intermediate Care Fund grant. 

Observations arising from the discussion
 It was asked, as some services depended on grants, how this could affect 

the Council in the future. It was noted that the Council were attempting to 
place pressure on the Government for grants to be included as part of the 
settlement, it was expressed that grant-dependent services caused 

Page 7



THE CABINET 21/05/19

uncertainty and it was difficult to plan for the future. 
 The staff were thanked for their hard work in ensuring grants and planning 

for the future plans. 

7.  SAVINGS OVERVIEW: PROGRESS REPORT ON REALISING SAVINGS 
SCHEMES

The report was submitted by Cllr Ioan Thomas  

DECISION

To accept the information within the report and note the encouraging progress 
towards realising the savings schemes of 2018/19 and previous years.

DISCUSSION

The report was submitted, noting that over 96% of the 2015/16 - 2017/18 savings 
had been realised by March 2018, it was added that this was a total of over 
£23m. It was expressed that there was slippage on 12 of the plans, with 7 of 
them in the Adults Department. Concern was raised about 2 schemes in the 
Education Department, namely the Child-care?? Element within the Free 
Breakfast Scheme, and the Increasing Primary School Meal Prices from £2.30 to 
£2.50. It was added that the plans did not meet the expected savings and had 
consequently led to an overspend. 

It was noted that the 2018/19 Financial Strategy had planned for savings to the 
value of £2.5m.  Nevertheless, it was expressed that 73% of the plans had been 
realised but that seven had slipped, including a delay in the transfer of the leisure 
provision to Byw'n Iach, and the 'End to End' scheme in the Children and 
Supporting Families Department. It was added that a review had been held in the 
LAC field which concluded that the number of nights that children spent in 
residential placements had dropped, but the cases had become more intense, 
and thus had increased the cost of the placements. 

In general, it was noted that the progress that had been made to realise savings 
was acceptable, but that some delivery difficulties had been highlighted. The 
importance of keeping to the savings was added, noting that unless it was 
possible to keep to the savings plans, the only other option would be to cut 
services.   

Observations arising from the discussion
 In relation to the increase in school dinner prices, it was noted that 

there had been a reduction in the number of pupils who purchased 
school dinners following the price increase; consequently, the scheme 
had not met its savings target. 

 It was noted that delivering savings schemes was becoming 
increasingly difficult for departments. Nevertheless, it was added that 
the report showed success on delivering, that the Council had planned 
appropriately for savings, and that its robust financial arrangements 

Page 8



THE CABINET 21/05/19

meant that we were in a better position to ensure that this continued. 

The meeting commenced at 1.00 pm and concluded at 1.55 pm

CHAIRMAN

Page 9



THE CABINET 4/06/19

THE CABINET 4/06/19

Present-
Councillors: Dyfrig L. Siencyn, Dafydd Meurig, Craig ab Iago, Gareth Wyn Griffith, Nia 
Wyn Jeffreys, Dilwyn Morgan, Gareth Thomas, Ioan Thomas and Cemlyn Rees Williams

Also present: 
Dilwyn Williams (Chief Executive), Iwan Evans (Head of Legal Services), Dafydd 
Edwards (Head of Finance Department), Morwena Edwards (Corporate Director) and 
Annes Sion (Member Support Officer)

Item 6:  Garem Jackson (Head of Education Department) and Gwern ap Rhisiart 
(Dwyfor/Meirion Area Education Officer)
Items 7 and 8: Mari Wynne Jones (Senior Adult Services Manager) and Ann Pari 
Williams (Well-being Team Leader)

1.  APOLOGIES

Cabinet Members and Officers were welcomed to the meeting.
An apology was received from Councillor Catrin Wager. 

2.  DECLARATION OF PERSONAL INTEREST

Councillor Nia Jeffreys declared an interest in item 8 as she was a member of 
the Dementia Go scheme Steering Group.  It was a prejudicial interest and she 
left the meeting during this item.  

3.  URGENT MATTERS

There were no urgent items.

4.  MATTERS ARISING FROM OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY

There were no matters arising from overview and scrutiny.

5.  MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 7 MAY 2019

The Chairman signed the minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 7 May 2019, as 
a true record.

Page 9



THE CABINET 4/06/19

6.  YSGOL LLANAELHAEARN

The item was submitted by Cllr Cemlyn Rees Williams 

DECISION

To grant permission to the Education Department to hold formal meetings with 
the governing body and other relevant stakeholders to discuss a range of 
potential options for the school’s future.

DISCUSSION

The report was presented, noting that the department was eager to hold formal 
meetings with the Governing Body and other relevant stakeholders to discuss a 
range of potential options for the school’s future. It was noted that concerns had 
been raised regarding the significant decrease in pupil numbers at the school, 
and that estimates showed that the numbers would decrease further.

It was noted that initial discussions had been held with the Governing Body, and 
it was emphasised that a consultation would be held in order to identify and 
discuss possible options. The Education Officer added that the school's capacity 
was 53 pupils, and that the numbers had fallen to 11. The numbers had been 
decreasing since 2013 and several children in the catchment area were attending 
other schools. 

The Local Member stated that Ysgol Llanaelhaearn was a small school that had 
worked hard in recent years to raise the standard of education and the children's 
attainment. He noted his disappointment and sadness about the school's 
situation and that the Governors had worked hard to try to increase the pupil 
numbers at the school. He added that he was aware that the school would face 
significant financial difficulties unless the numbers increased, but asked the 
Cabinet Members to consider the standard of the education and the children's 
happiness when discussing the options.

Observations arising from the discussion
 A question was raised about whether last year's Schools Organisation 

Code changed the way that the department could consider options.  It was 
noted that the school fell under the Rural School Closure Arrangements 
category, and as part of these arrangements all options had to be looked 
at, giving real consideration to the effect of closure on education, the 
community, and travelling arrangements to other schools.

 In relation to the timetable of meetings, it would be necessary to hold the 
first meeting before the end of the summer term, and the second meeting 
in September following further research over the summer

7.  TO PROMOTE INDEPENDENCE BY INCREASING CAPACITY, DEVELOPING 
SERVICES AND CHANGING CULTURE WITHIN THE OCCUPATIONAL 
THERAPY PROVISION

Page 10



THE CABINET 4/06/19

The report was submitted by Cllr Dafydd Meurig  

DECISION

Resolved to earmark £116,000 in one-off resources from the Transformation 
Fund to finance an Occupational Therapy Leader who would be responsible for 
leading and developing the Occupational Therapy service across the Adults, 
Health and Well-being Department (for a two-year period).

DISCUSSION

The report was presented, which noted that the department would be submitting 
a one-off bid for £116,000 from the Transformation Fund to finance an 
Occupational Health Leader for a period of two years. It was added that the 
rationale for this stemmed from the Department's transformation agenda for 
preventative services, and to identify ways of keeping service users at home for 
as long as possible before they entered care. The crucial role of Occupational 
Therapists in ensuring support within the home was emphasised. It was 
highlighted that this was a new key role to change the culture within the service, 
to ensure that the citizen was central to the services offered to them.

The Senior Adult Services Manager noted that the role would transform the 
service, by placing a specific emphasis on preventative work. She added that the 
role would entail remodelling and integrating the therapy roles between the Local 
Authority and the Health Board to ensure that existing resources were used in 
the most effective way and that they provided a more person-centred service for 
the citizen.

Observations arising from the discussion
 A question was asked about whether the Health Board was willing to 

collaborate more closely with the Council. It was noted that the 
Regional Integrated Committee had a consistent vision to work more 
closely, and it was added that there was a need to look at joint 
processes to reduce duplication.

 Support was expressed for the scheme, and it was noted that it was 
consistent with Cabinet priorities. Reference was made to the 
importance of preventative work, as small actions could make a huge 
difference to ensuring that people were able to stay in their own homes 
for longer.

 It was emphasised that this was a one-off bid for two years, and that 
the scheme would be reviewed at the end of the period. 

 A question was asked on whether apprenticeships in this area were a 
possibility. It was noted that discussions were being held with Glyndŵr 
University to train staff in this field to gain Occupational Therapy 
qualifications.  

 It was confirmed that the Cabinet, when receiving reports on the final 
accounts for 2018/19 at the meeting on 21 May, had reviewed the 
funds and provisions, and had transferred £3m to the Transformation 
Fund for the main priorities in the Council Plan. Therefore, sufficient 
monies had been earmarked there to fund the one-off bids submitted 
here, namely Promoting Independence by increasing the capacity of 

Page 11



THE CABINET 4/06/19

Occupational Therapy, and the Community Dementia Support services 
scheme, which will make a real difference to some of Gwynedd’s 
residents. 

8.  A ONE TIME BID FOR RESOURCES FROM THE TRANSFORMATION FUND 
TO FUND THE DEMENTIA SUPPORT SERVICE IN THE COMMUNITY 
SCHEME FOR ONE YEAR

Submitted by Cllr Dafydd Meurig

DECISION

Resolved to earmark £97,660 from the Transformation Fund to finance the 
Community Dementia Support Services Scheme (which includes Dementia Go), 
to finance two full-time posts (in Pwllheli and Porthmadog) and two 7-hour a 
week posts, located in Tywyn and Caernarfon, until 31 March, 2020.  

DISCUSSION

The report was presented, noting that this was a bid for funding following a two-
year successful pilot period. It was noted that the Dementia Go element was an 
original programme developed in Gwynedd that contributed to the lives of people 
who lived with dementia and their carers. It was added that Dementia Go was an 
opportunity to bring people who lived with dementia together socially, and that it 
assisted in enabling people to remain in their own homes for longer.

It was noted that 11 Dementia Go groups had been held across the county with 
four staff members working specifically on the scheme. It was added that the four 
staff members were champions in this field, and that they shared information and 
discussed dementia within the community. The Dementia Go sessions 
emphasised physical exercise, brought people together and reduced isolation.

Observations arising from the discussion
 Attention was drawn to the reference made in the report to the 

element of developing technology, and a question was asked about 
the type of developments this would entail. It was noted that the 
service had developed a tool that used virtual reality equipment to 
provide people in the community with an understanding of the 
experience of living with dementia.  

 It was noted that this was one-off funding, and a question was 
asked about whether staff within the Healthy Living Centres could 
be trained so that they could continue to hold the sessions. In 
response it was noted that Dementia Go staff held training sessions 
specifically in residential homes.

 It was emphasised that research was being undertaken and that a 
more formal evaluation should take place during the year that would 
lead to a consideration of whether funding should be provided after 
this year.

Page 12



THE CABINET 4/06/19

The meeting commenced at 1.00 pm and concluded at 1.35 pm

CHAIRMAN

Page 13



GWYNEDD COUNCIL CABINET

Report to the Cabinet

1 DECISION SOUGHT
Approval of the Annual Report and authorise it’s publication according to the 
requirements of the Welsh Language Standards. 

2 REASON WHY DECISION IS NEEDED
A statutory requirement is set on the  Council by the Welsh Language 
Standards, as set out by the Welsh Government under Section 44 of the Welsh 
Language (Wales) Measure 2011, to write an annual report on the 
implementation of the Standards, and to publish it on our corporate website, as 
well as ensuring that copies are avilable in all public offices of the Council by 
June 30th.  The Annual Report is therefore submitted to be approved and 
authorised. 

3 INTRODUCTION
There are a number of certain Standars that we need to report on, namely 
Standards 158, 164 and 170. 

https://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/en/Council/Documents---Council/Strategies-
and-policies/Language-Standards-and-Policy/Language-Standards-2016.pdf 

The report for 2018-19 needs to include this information: 

o how you complied with the standards (by class of standard – service 
delivery, policy making, implementation) 

o the number of complaints received (by class of standard – service 
delivery, policy making, implementation) – this relates to complaints 
received directly by you, and does not include complaints made to the 
Commissioner 

 

Meeting Date: 25 June 2019
Cabinet Member: Councillor Nia Jeffreys
Contact Officer: Gwenllian Williams 
Contact Number: Ext: 32469
Item Title: Annual Report on the Implementation of the Welsh 

Language Standards 2018-19

Page 13

Agenda Item 6

https://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/en/Council/Documents---Council/Strategies-and-policies/Language-Standards-and-Policy/Language-Standards-2016.pdf
https://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/en/Council/Documents---Council/Strategies-and-policies/Language-Standards-and-Policy/Language-Standards-2016.pdf


o the number of employees with Welsh language skills at the end of the 
year 

o the number of staff who attended specific training courses offered by 
you in Welsh during the year, and the percentage of all attendees who 
attended the Welsh version – this applies to specific courses named in 
the standards (i.e. recruitment and interviewing; performance 
management; grievance and disciplinary procedures; induction; dealing 
with the public; health and safety) and does not refer to Welsh language 
training 

o the number of new posts and vacancies you advertised during the year 
that were categorised with different Welsh language skills requirements. 

4 NEXT STEPS & TIMETABLE
The Members are asked to accept and approve the content of the report for 
publication. 

The final report will be published on the Council website by 30th of June 2019.

7 ANY CONSULTATIONS UNDERTAKEN PRIOR TO MAKING THE DECISION
Statutory Finance Officer:

Nothing to add to the report from a financial propriety perspective.

Page 14



1

ANNUAL REPORT ON THE IMPLEMENTATION OF WELSH LANGUAGE STANDARDS 2018-19

GWYNEDD COUNCIL

1. Background

The Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011 establishes a legal framework that places a duty on the 
Council to comply with the standards in relationship to the Welsh language. The individual standards 
explain how organisations are expected to use the language in different situations.  

The duties that derive from the standards mean that the Council should not treat the Welsh 
language less favourably than the English language, and that the Council should promote and 
facilitate the Welsh language (namely making it easier for people to use it in their everyday lives).  

The Language Standards are divided into five fields: 

 service delivery
 policy making
 action
 promotion
 record keeping

This Council received a compliance notice from The Welsh Language Commissioner under Section 4 
of the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011, on 30 September 2015. This notice specified the 
precise standards the Council is required to comply with and on 30 March 2016 a 147 standards 
came into effect, with four further standards coming into effect on 30 March 2017.   

As a result of the Council's historical commitment to the Welsh language, it had already been 
complying with a significant number of the standards set through the implementation of its 
Language Plan and indeed, this plan went further than the Welsh language standards in several 
fields.   

It was considered that the Council's current commitment to the Welsh language should not be 
weakened by limiting its commitment by complying with only the Welsh language standards, and 
consequently a new Language Policy was developed.  

The aim of the Council's Language Policy - namely its primary medium of ensuring compliance with 
the Language Standards - is to ensure that all the county's residents can use the Council's services 
through the medium of Welsh and English. The principle that Welsh and English should be treated 
equally is followed, but by working proactively to ensure that Welsh is prioritised at all times. 

Page 15



2

2. Compliance with the Standards

The Council's Language Policy and procedures ensure that all Council services are offered bilingually.  
As a result of years of setting language requirements when recruiting, and of offering training to 
improve skills and learning Welsh, we have ensured that the vast majority of Council staff are able to 
speak Welsh and are able to act in accordance with this policy, thus normalising the use of Welsh 
and ensuring that Welsh services are available without having to ask. 

Standards are noted in this section where the Council have had to take additional steps or give 
special consideration to compliance - beyond the implementation of the Language Policy - during the 
past year. Action is taken to ensure that we do our very best on behalf of Gwynedd’s residents in 
proactively offering Welsh services and in encouraging and promoting more use of the Welsh 
language while accessing services. 

SERVICE DELIVERY STANDARDS 

Gwynedd Council has a duty to comply with 70 service delivery standards and six additional service 
delivery standards. As a result of the Council’s historical commitment to the Welsh language, it was 
already operating in accordance with or beyond the requirements of many of these standards when 
they were imposed on the Council by the Welsh Language Commissioner. 

STANDARD CONTENTS OF THE 
STANDARD

ACTION

7+14+21+
30+32

Service Delivery 
Standards regarding 
asking an individual 
whether they wish to 
receive a Welsh service, 
or state that we 
welcome contact in 
Welsh. 

As a result of the Language Policy and the 
Council's historical commitment to the Welsh 
language, the use of Welsh has been normalised 
and there is high awareness amongst the public 
that they can get services and correspond with 
the Council in Welsh.  
 
The principles of the Language Policy, along with 
the Council's wider operational principles, mean 
that staff are expected to act in accordance with 
the principle of the active offer, i.e., that the 
language of choice and the Welsh language 
service is always available, as a first choice, and 
that nobody should have to "ask" for this service.

Accepting that mistakes will happen occasionally, 
we are confident that working proactively will 
remove the need to ask and state, and that there 
is a good understanding amongst residents that 
all services are available bilingually. 

Nevertheless, we acknowledge that people's 
habits change, and we intended to conduct 

Page 16



3

research over the coming year to look at users' 
attitudes, and their findings about the language 
medium of services, in order to ensure that this 
aspect of the policy is still relevant and effective. 

52+55+56+
57+58+
59+60

Service Delivery 
Standards dealing with 
the website, apps, 
social media and self-
service machines 

We still face some obstacles in regards to apps 
and websites, especially when purchasing 
external systems. We continue to deal with these 
cases individually to ensure that the public 
receive the best service and options.  

We need to work consistently to raise the 
awareness of external companies of the need to 
develop bilingual apps from the start, rather than 
having to adapt the app further down the line.  It 
also continues to be a challenge when the 
Council's websites or services need to transfer to 
external websites, such as on-line payment 
services, to ensure that everything is available 
through the medium of Welsh. 

More services and forms are now submitted on-
line, and the Council itself has been developing a 
number of on-line services recently in order to 
enable the public to make requests and 
payments via the Council website. These are all 
available bilingually. 

During the past year, there has been a change in 
the Blue Badge and DBS on-line application 
services.  The Council has attempted to influence 
the changes in order to ensure that the services 
reach our standards, but these two matters are 
ongoing, and have been referred to the 
Language Commissioner for support for a 
resolution. 

SUPPLEMENTARY
155+156+157+
158+159+160

Service Delivery 
Standards dealing with 
the compliance 
arrangements with 
Service Delivery 
Standards  

The corporate complaints procedure is followed 
when dealing with language complaints, and this 
procedure is on the Council's website.  
The Council formulates and publishes an annual 
report in accordance with the Welsh language 
Standards.  

POLICY MAKING STANDARDS

Gwynedd Council has a duty to comply with 10 policymaking standards, and six supplementary 
policy making standards. Again, the Council is already operating in accordance with or beyond the 

Page 17



4

requirements of many of these standards when they were imposed on the Council by the Welsh 
Language Commissioner. 

STANDARD CONTENTS OF THE 
STANDARD

ACTION

88+89+90+94 Policy Making Standards 
dealing with considering 
the impact on the 
Welsh language and on 
Welsh speakers.   

The Language Unit plays a greater role in impact 
assessments, by offering an expert and independent 
voice when assessing the impact of policy changes or 
restructuring of services. The procedure of assessing 
impact on equality matters includes the impact on 
people's opportunities to use Welsh, and the Unit will 
contribute to, and check any assessments in order to 
ensure a minimum impact. 

During the year, we have identified that the existing 
procedure does not achieve the desired outcomes in 
terms of ensuring that the Council takes advantage of 
every opportunity to promote the use of the Welsh 
language. 

The Language Commissioner's Assurance Report in 
summer 2018 also drew attention to the need to look 
at this matter, and therefore the Language Unit and 
the Equality Officer have been working together to 
consider changes to the process, in order to ensure 
that we get the best out of the practice as 
departments assess the impact of their policy 
decisions on various equality and language 
characteristics. 

The Council's work on developing the impact 
assessment guidelines for planning applications have 
also helped to develop our understanding in this field.  
From May 2019, the Language Unit will take an active 
role in validating any language assessments (concise 
or full) that are submitted as part of planning 
applications, and recommend steps to be taken if we 
see a potential impact on the prosperity of the Welsh 
language in our communities as a result of the 
proposed development.  

OPERATIONAL STANDARDS

STANDARD CONTENTS OF THE 
STANDARD

ACTION

127+136+136A+ Operational 
Standards dealing 
with assessing the 

Every year, the Council gathers information from each 
department to determine the number of staff who 
are Welsh speakers.   

Page 18



5

language skills of 
our employees The requirement to speak Welsh has been placed as 

an essential skill for each post within the Council; this 
means that some level of ability and understanding is 
required for every post.   

During 2018/19, a new procedure was established to 
determine linguistic requirements when appointing 
new posts.  Welsh language skills are still an essential 
requirement for all posts; however, when drawing up 
job descriptions and person specifications, managers 
are now asked to consider the level of linguistic skills 
required for the role in question, and differentiate 
between written, oral, and reading and 
comprehension skills, based on a framework 
developed by the Welsh Language Learning and 
Development Officer. 

In addition, during the year, the first part of the work 
of mapping the linguistic skills of the posts that 
already exist in the Council was completed.  Every 
department within the Council has now looked at the 
person specification for every post within their 
services, and validated that the language levels are 
appropriately placed for the requirements of the role. 

The second phase of this work, which is already 
ongoing, is to identify whether the officers currently 
in these posts reach the language requirements or 
not.

This work takes time, as it involves intense contact 
with managers and units, completing self-
assessments, and offering immediate support and 
training to individuals if it is found that they are at a 
lower level than the current desired skills. 

This work initially focused on front-line services, and 
up to the end of March 2019, the project was 
completed in nine front-line services, and was 
ongoing in another seven services. The individuals 
who do not reach the requirements of the post will 
receive another assessment to confirm the self-
assessment, and will then receive training in order to 
close the gap. This questionnaire allows officers to 
respond to the individual's specific needs following a 
detailed analysis of the responses.

This work has lead to an added and unexpected 
benefit as we are not only seeing many staff 
members with higher linguisticskills than those 

Page 19



6

specified for their post, but also the work has lead to 
an increase in the number of staff who are asking for 
training, like grammar lessons, to improve their skills 
further. 

128+129+130
+131+132+133+

Operational 
Standards dealing 
with general 
training, language 
and awareness 
training

The majority of the Council’s training is provided in 
Welsh, with English courses only available at request.
 
Specialist courses in specific fields, where an external 
service would need to be bought in, remains a 
barrier, despite the Council's consistent efforts to 
influence providers, and many of these course are 
provided bilingually.  

For the most part, Welsh language materials are 
successfully acquired, but not the trainers.   

Wherever possible, the Council responds to the 
challenge by holding train the trainer sessions, and 
develop the skills of the Learning and Development 
Team in order to ensure that they are able to provide 
the training themselves. 

During the past year, for example, Gwynedd Council 
officers were key in the efforts to ensure health and 
safety training (IOSH) entirely through the medium of 
Welsh. Up to this point, Council officers had to hold 
the course themselves, but were unable to acquire 
the accredited materials in Welsh. The course can 
now be followed entirely through the medium of 
Welsh. 

PROMOTION STANDARDS

In 2018-19, the Council's new strategic plan to promote the Welsh language was published in 
accordance with the requirements of the Standards. The Welsh Language Promotion Plan for 
Gwynedd 2018-2023 is an effort to identify the main challenges and opportunities that face the 
Welsh language in Gwynedd. The overall aim is to increase the opportunities for people to use 
Welsh, through the Council's services and in the community. The Council's Language Committee was 
a key part of drawing up this plan, and they keep an overview of its implementation by receiving 
regular reports on various projects and work streams that contribute towards the vision.

A copy of the Promotion Plan can be seen here [link]

Page 20



7

3. Report on the number of staff members who can speak Welsh 

REPORTING IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE REQUIREMENTS OF STANDARD 170 (a) the number of 
employees that have Welsh language skills  

The following data reports on the number of employees who have Welsh language skills, giving an 
analysis of the skills level per service: 

This data does not contain information about GwE or North and Mid Wales Trunk Roads Agency 
(NMWTRA) as they are regional divisions that are administered by Gwynedd Council. 

SERVICE

TOTAL 
NUMBER 
OF STAFF

NUMBER OF 
FLUENT WELSH 

SPEAKERS

NUMBER OF 
LEARNERS / ABLE 
TO UNDERSTAND 
AND TALK SOME 

WELSH 

NUMBER 
WHO DO NOT 

SPEAK OR 
UNDERSTAND 

ANY WELSH 
Education – Central staff

Teaching Staff 1
Ancillary Staff 

185

775

185

716 - 59
Environment 162 159 3

Finance 206 204 2

Corporate Support 184 184

Economy and Community 406 395 11 3

Adults, Health and Well-being 915 786 129

Children and Supporting Families 238 206 292

Highways and Municipal 546 530 16

Consultancy 118 105 12 1

Corporate Leadership Team 33 33

TOTAL 

1 Although we have not been collecting detailed data on the linguistic ability of education and 
schools staff in the past, a piece of work has been completed in 2018, under the guidance of GwE, to 

Page 21



8

assess the skills levels of the entire education workforce.  This survey shows that 87.1% of the 1,345 
members of staff who responded to the information request are able to communicate fluently and 
confidently in Welsh, and only 0.7% have no Welsh language skills at all. 

2 Data shown is for 2017-18. This information is gathered from the Adult and Childrens’ service’s 
annual data report (STF) – which has not yet been finalised for the year 2018-19. Data will be 
updated once available. 

Page 22



9

4. Reporting on Staff Training Through the Medium of Welsh and the 
Development of Language Skills

REPORTING IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE REQUIREMENTS OF STANDARD 170  – 
(b) number of members of staff who attended training courses offered in Welsh during the year 
(based on the records kept in accordance with standard 152); 

(c) if a Welsh version of a course was offered by you during the year, the percentage of the total 
number of staff who attended the course and who attended the Welsh version (based on the 
records kept in accordance with standard 152);  

Welsh is the language of every course within the Council, with English courses available upon 
request. If non-Welsh staff members or learners attend induction courses, the training will be 
offered bilingually. This can be done in many ways, depending on the circumstances, and the 
number of non-Welsh speakers at the session - by using an interpreter, or with the leader/trainer 
presenting in both languages alternatively. 

The only exception, where training will be conducted exclusively in English is when training is 
required within specialist fields, where specialist trainers will be bought in. Even then, every effort 
will be made when commissioning services to obtain bilingual materials, and every opportunity will 
be taken to attempt to influence on national providers. 

During the past year, for example, a major step forward was taken in the field of Health and Safety 
by ensuring that the national IOSH training will be available entirely through the medium of Welsh 
for staff members from now on. 

The Council had drawn the Commissioner's attention to the obstacles with this type of training after 
we received complaints from staff members, and to request their support to influence on the 
providers, but it is fair to say that the perseverance of Council staff on this matter has made an 
enormous difference to ultimately change attitudes and decisions within the establishment. 

Number of internal training “events” during the period from 1 April 2018 to 30 March 2019: 798

This is a combination of ‘corporate’ and ‘specialist’ titles, which include a variety of training – face to 
face, e-modules and webinars. 

Number of training titles within the same period: 252

TRAINING EVENTS
NUMBER ATTENDEES

Welsh 381 1483

English 218 1067

Bilingual 208 1140

Page 23



10

5. Welsh Language Training Report 2017-2018

Regarding the provision offered to the learners, the below arrangements were used as needed:

 Community based courses over a prolonged period of time (learners attending once or twice 
weekly within the community) 

 Welsh Improvement Sessions held regularly held by the Learning and Development Officer 
(Welsh Language) e.g. Mutations, Basic Welsh

 1:1 individual sessions with the Learning and Development Officer (Welsh Language) at the 
request of individuals

 1:1 individual sessions with external tutors at the request of individuals 
 Intensive courses (a week or more - at the Universities or Nant Gwrtheyrn) 
 Occasional courses - e.g. Welsh in the Workplace (two days )
 Summer Schools (held by Learn Welsh - North West)
 On-line course by Learn Welsh i.e. Croeso Cymraeg Gwaith
 One class takes place internally: Master level classes (Higher Level 2) - one morning per 

week. 

The following tables show the record of numbers who received training to develop language skills 
as it stood on 31 March 2019. 

Level Total 

ENTRY 28

FOUNDATION 15

INTERMEDIATE 16

HIGHER 10

MASTER 13

WELSH 
LANGUAGE 
IMPROVEMENT 90

172

Page 24



11

The learners follow a wide range of courses, as follows: 

Learning methods - TOTAL

Course Total 

Community courses 35

Master Level Classes 8

1:1 14

1:1 external (Learn Welsh  -North West) 2

Work Welsh - On-line 15

Welsh in the Workplace 3

Summer School 2

New Year Course 1

Nant Gwrtheyrn 4

Mutations 34

Basic Welsh 12

1:1 1

Welsh Language Improvement 33

Total 171

These learners are divided across the Council's departments as follows: 

Departments Total %

Education 25 15%

Environment 8 5%

Page 25



12

Finance 2 1%

CS 10 6%

Economy 9 5%

Adults 40 23%

Children 35 20%

Highways 5 3%

YGC 21 12%

NMWTRA 6 3%

LEISURE 9 5%

MEMBERS 2 1%

172

2017 - 2018 Dafydd Orwig Memorial Prize

Two awards are now presented each year, to recognise individuals in the Council who are learning 
Welsh, but also individuals or teams who make a particular effort, or go beyond their normal roles, 
to promote the Welsh language and ensure that residents and service users are able to use Welsh 
without any hindrance.

The awards were presented this year to Nancy Wilkinson (Environment Officer in Gwynedd 
Consultancy) and the Health, Safety and Well-being Service (for their work of securing Welsh 
language resources for the IOSH training). 

Page 26



13

6. Reporting on language requirements when appointing

REPORTING IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE REQUIREMENTS OF STANDARD 170  – 
Ch) the number of new jobs and empty jobs advertised by you during the year categorised as posts 
that require -  
(i) that Welsh language skills are essential 
(ii) that Welsh language skills need to be learnt when appointed to the post,  
(iii) that Welsh language skills are desirable, or 
(iv) that Welsh language skills are not essential (based on the records kept in accordance with 
standard 154)

That Welsh language skills are essential 500
That Welsh language skills need to be learnt 
when appointed to the post 

0

That Welsh language skills are desirable 0
That Welsh language skills are not essential 0

Every post advertised by the Council includes the ability to speak Welsh as an essential skill. 
However, during the past year, the Council has established a new system for identifying the exact 
linguistic requirements that are required for various posts, and now every post is advertised with a 
clear explanation of the required oral, written, and reading and comprehension skills.  

This is part of the Language Specifications' wider work.  

7. Reporting on language complaints

REPORTING IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE REQUIREMENTS OF STANDARD 170  – 
(d) number of complaints received  

The Language Commissioner conducted two inquiries into alleged failures to adhere to the 
Standards during 2017-18.

CSG236 Inquiry

In March 2019, it was deemed that the Council had breached two Standards and had failed to deal 
with correspondence and an appeals process in its entirety through the medium of Welsh. The 
Council has already taken steps to ensure that the situation does not arise again, and the Council's 
Language Policy clearly states that any member of staff has a right to submit complaints and follow 
the complaints procedure through the medium of Welsh.

Page 27



14

Inquiries by the Commissioner and internal complaints: 

Number of direct complaints received through the Council’s complaints process: 

Department The 
number of 
complaints

The matter relating to the complaint

Environment 1 The documents of the Planning process were not 
available in English

Corporate Support 2 The Council's official address on-line 

An enquiry from a GwE officer after an internal 
message was sent in Welsh only, with the English 
version as an attachment, according to the practice for 
internal communication. It was confirmed that the 
message complied with the requirements of the 
Language Policy.

Corporate Leadership Team 1 On-line questionnaire was not available in Welsh
Economy and Community 2 Business Loans Fund Terms - a new business had not 

used Welsh
Communities for Work leaflets were not available in 
Welsh

Finance 2 Answering machine:
1 English only message on the answering machine of 
the service that deals with bus pass applications. 
1 Welsh only message on the answering machine of 
the Council's taxation service. 

Total 8

Page 28



15

Developmental work:

We have established a work stream titled “Cymraeg yn y Gweithle” (“Welsh within the Workplace”) 
which looks thematically at various aspects of compliance and looks into new means of developing 
the Council’s ability to proactively provide linguistic options and to encourage more members of the 
public to use our Welsh language services. 

We have been focusing mainly on the work of setting language specifications for jobs during the past 
year, and have identified thematic fields including the use of language while developing on-line 
services and using apps.

In the coming year, we will be focusing on 

 Continuing with the work of identifying the language skills of officers through the work of 
the Language Specifications. 

 Understand how people use our services and how we can encourage more people to use 
Welsh forms and on-line services. 

 Develop a training programme that will focus on ensuring that staff use legible, simple and 
clear language when writing and communicating

 Expand the awareness programme to develop staff's understanding of their responsibilities 
when promoting the Welsh language - on a wider level than offering a bilingual service only. 

 Contribute to the Arfer pilot project by Bangor University that looks at attempting to change 
language habits amongst teams where there is an established habit of speaking English. 

We will also: 

 Develop arrangements and an understanding of the means the Council assesses the impact 
of decisions on the Welsh language more effectively, and ensure that every decision is 
supportive of the Welsh language.

Page 29



Gwynedd Council Cabinet

Decision sought

It is recommended that the Council should respond to the Communities Scrutiny 
Committee’s conclusions by: 

 Support the Cabinet Member in establishing a single County Smallholdings Consultation 
Panel to assist the Cabinet Member, with a clear constitution and brief, to assist the 
Cabinet Member in th emanagement functions of the smallholdings estate.

 Commissioning work by the Property Service to consider if there are any financial 
benefits to be derived from establishing a company to manage the smallholdings estate 
in the future. 

 Allow any future profit from the estate, which is above and beyond the sum already 
included in the Service’s current revenue budget, to be reinvested in the 
Smallholdings estate.  

1. CEFNDIR 

1.1 A report detailing the management arrangements and principles for the Smallholdings estate 
was presented to the Communities Scrutiny Committee on December the 13th, 2018. 

1.2 Following careful consideration of the information presented, the Committee concluded as 
follows: 

 The Council should establish a single County Smallholdings Consultation Panel to assist the 
Cabinet Member, with a clear constitution and brief.

 Consider if there are any financial benefits to be derived from establishing a company to 
manage the smallholdings estate in the future. 

 Keep the temporary staffing resource on a permanent basis
 That any future profit from the estate, which is above and beyond the sum already included 

in the Service’s current revenue budget, should be reinvested in the Smallholdings estate.  

1.3 Some of these conclusions require further work before being able to take action, and others 
have financial obligations, Therefore, in this report I will be considering the Scrutiny 

Date of meeting: June 25th, 2019

Cabinet Member: Cllr Gareth Griffith

Contact Officer: Dafydd Gibbard – Senior Property Manager

Report title: Management of the Council’s Smallholdings Estate

Page 30

Agenda Item 7



Committee’s conclusions and recommending how I believe the Council should proceed from 
here on. 

2 The Smallholdings Estate

2.1 The statutory provisions of smallholdings by the public sector dates back to the Smallholdings 
Act 1892. The majority of them were established following the First World War with the 
intention of offering opportunities for young families to become farmers in their own right.

2.2 By today there are 46 individual holdings in the Gwynedd Council Smallholdings Estate, with 
35 in Meirionnydd, 10 in Dwyfor and 1 in Arfon. Of the 46 holdings, 39 come with a house and 
7 are land only holdings.

2.3    The size of the estate extends to 2996 acres or 1213.53 hectares.  The size of the holdings vary 
from 2.5 acres to 212 acres. The average size of a holding is 65 acres. 

2.4 The tenant turnover is low. In recent years, only one or two changes have taken place every 
year.

2.5 In 2008, a comprehensive review of the Estate was carried out by a Working Group of the 
Resources Scrutiny Committee. It looked at the purpose of the estate, its financial 
performance and the management arrangements/principles. As a decade has passed since 
this review, it is now time to revisit this field and scrutinise the considerations related to 
providing farming opportunities by being owner of the Smallholdings Estate.

3 Purpose of the Smallholdings estate

3.1    The main work achieved by the Working Group in 2008 looked at the purpose and principles 
of managing the estate.  It was challenged whether or not there was justification to provide 
an 'optional' service of this type by considering the Council's current financial situation, and 
whether providing such a resource continued to be as relevant today as it was some decades 
ago when the estate was originally established.

3.2   The main conclusion of the Working Group was that smallholdings continue to play an 
important role in the rural community in economic and social terms and in view of this the 
Scrutiny Committee at the time decided that the reasoning that supported the importance of 
providing smallholdings should be ratified as follows:

 Offer young people affordable access to the farming industry - opportunities that would 
be extremely scarce without the holdings offered by public authorities.

 An opportunity for new farmers to establish their own businesses and offer the 
opportunities to move on to holdings of a more commercial nature in future. 

 Offer employment in rural communities and provide expert labour for other holdings.
 An opportunity to support and promote the local economy in rural areas. 
 A bank of land ready for any challenges the Council may face in future including affordable 

homes, environmental plans, carbon trading etc. 

Page 31



 An opportunity to encourage and support environmentally positive strategies along with 
sustainable farming methods including environmental management schemes. 

 Contribute to keep young people in the countryside and enable them to contribute 
towards all aspects of the area's traditional social life. 

3.3     The Communities Scrutiny Committee shared this view when the matter was considered 
before Christmas, and was content that the reasoning for continuing to provide a 
smallholdings estate was clear. 

4 The Estate’s financial performance

4.1    When the Working Group looked into the estate's financial performance in 2008, the income 
and the costs were as follows: 

Income / expenditure heading 2008
Income (rent) £165,800
Day-to-day maintenance costs £106,300
Other revenue costs (including 
staffing)

£63,500

Central costs £13,000
Annual profit/ loss -£17,000

4.2     Therefore, at the time, there was a cost of £17,000 for the Council to provide the 
smallholdings estate.

4.3       The Members had a clear wish that the estate should be self-sufficient in future. In order to 
try to secure this some specific management principles were established e.g. regular rent 
reviews, transfer tenants to more modern terms, transfer repair and maintenance 
obligations to new tenants etc.

4.4        After adopting these principles, the difference in the financial position of the estate by today 
is as follows:

Income / expenditure Heading 2008 2018 Difference
Income (rent) £165,800 £234,000 £68,200
Day-to-day maintenance costs £106,300 £119,000 £12,700
Other revenue costs (including 
staffing)

£63,500 £67,900 £4,400

Central costs £13,000 £16,000 £3,000
Annual profit/ loss -£17,000 £31,100 £48,100

4.5 It can be seen that the estate is now self-sufficient in financial terms. Over the last decade, 
there is a difference of £48,100 between the loss in 2008 and the income to the Council by 
today.

Page 32



4.6 It is seen that the income from rent has increased by £68,200 (41%) by being successful with 
our rent reviews and taking opportunities to transfer tenants from the old agreements to 
new agreements based on modern commercial terms. 

4.7 The expenditure on maintenance has remained relatively consistent, mainly due to the 
change to modern agreements where the tenant is now responsible for maintenance which 
has assisted us to reduce costs. 

4.8 In considering maintenance costs, regard should be given to the current condition of the 
holdings and the expenditure that is likely to face them in future. An annual review is held 
on the condition of the main buildings. The maintenance backlog (the expenditure needed 
to deal with existing defect across the estate) is £515,000. 

4.9 The other revenue costs, including expenditure on staff resources have remained relatively 
consistent over the last decade. Only £9,600 is spent on the staffing resources within the 
Estate Unit for the day-to-day management of the smallholdings.

5 The Scrutiny Committee’s Recommendations

a) Establish a single County Smallholdings Consultation Panel to assist the Cabinet Member, 
with a clear constitution and brief.

5.1       Historically, decisions relating to the letting of smallholdings have been made by the 
Cabinet Member with responsibility for Environment matters with assistance from other 
Members in the form of a Smallholdings Consultation Panel, one for letting holdings in 
Dwyfor and another for Meirionnydd. 

5.2       I agree with the Scrutiny Committee’s conclusion that establishing one County Panel would 
allow consideration of other matters beyond the current brief rather than advising on new 
lettings only. 

5.3       I am of the opinion that it would be beneficial to expand the Panel’s current brief to include 
matters such as prioritising expenditure, review the estate’s performance, advising on 
more complicated tenant related issues etc. There will be a need to establish a clear brief 
in consultation with the Property Service and supported by the Legal Service. 

5.4       I would foresee that the panel includes four Members and that there is a need to ensure 
equal membership from the two areas where the smallholdings are located whilst bearing 
in mind that there is a need for knowledge of the agricultural sector and the holdings 
themselves. 

b) Consider if there are any benefits to establishing a company to manage the 
smallholdings in the future 

5.5 We are aware that the Council has recently successfully established a company under its 
control to manage the Healthy Living service and the Scrutiny Committee were keen to 
consider whether or not there would be any benefits from  a similar arrangement to 

Page 33



manage the smallholdings. 

5.6 On the surface, I cannot see that the same benefits would be achieved for the 
smallholdings estate. However, further work is required before we can come to definite 
conclusions. I believe that there is a need to compare the strengths and weaknesses of the 
current arrangements with any alternative options to establish whether or not there is a 
real case for change and I recommend that the Property Service leads on this work with 
support from the Legal Service and Finance Department.

c) Increase the staff resource available to manage the estate

5.7 The smallholding estates are managed by the Estates Unit within the Council's Property 
Service. The main work of the Estates Unit is to manage all the Council's tenancies 
(Approximately £1.1M of annual revenue income) along with negotiating the terms for 
purchasing property for our capital plans and selling properties that are surplus to need. 
Over the last decade the selling programme has generated approximately £12M in capital 
income for the Council to be able to use it to invest in our annual capital programme.

5.8 Until the local government reorganisation in 1996, the former Gwynedd County Council 
had two full-time officers managing the Small-holdings Estate. For some years after the 
estate was managed by the equivalent of one full-time officer. Over subsequent years, this 
resource was cut consistently and by 2008 there was no specific resource within the Unit 
to address small-holding matters. Over the last decade the management tasks have been 
fulfilled as a small part of the Estate Manager's function.

5.9 Over the past 12 months, we have been able to free up the time of another officer within 
the Unit to assist with the work of managing small-holdings and this has enabled us to 
address matters that could not previously be met. This has enabled us to increase the rent 
income and deal with a number of contractual matters that were outstanding due to lack 
of resources. This is a temporary arrangement and has been at the expense of 
performance in the Estates Unit's other work fields.

5.10 However, the additional resource has undoubtedly been a success and has allowed the 
Unit to deal with matters which had been awaiting attention for some time. Therefore, 
following a recent restructure, the Service has already been able to generate additional 
capacity within this Unit which has allowed confirming the additional temporary resource 
on a permanent basis. A Senior Estates Surveyor will be able to allocate half of her time to 
deal with this work from now on. 

5.11 Therefore I believe that the Service has already responded to the Scrutiny Committee’s 
conclusion in this instance. 

d) That any future profit from the estate, which is above and beyond the sum already 
included in the Service’s current revenue budget,  be reinvested in the Smallholdings estate.  

Page 34



5.12 The estate’s financial position has changed considerable over the last decade and now the 
estate is self-sufficient and generates an annual profit in the region of £31,000 above the 
running costs. The Scrutiny Committee recognised that this income is included in the 
Service’s revenue budget and that the Council therefore depends on this current sum.  The 
members accepted that the current profit could not be reinvested within the estate 
without having to discover a saving equating to the same sum in another area and they did 
not feel that it would be sensible to increase the requirement for revenue savings at such a 
challenging time.  

5.13 However, should the income increase again in the future (through further rent reviews or 
by transferring tenants to more modern terms) the Scrutiny Committee was very keen to 
recommend that the additional sum should be allocated for reinvestment within the 
estate. 

5.14 I agree with this conclusion and recommend that any new profit generated in the future 
(i.e. above what the Council currently relies upon) be made available for reinvestment 
within the Smallholdings Estate itself. 

Statutory Officers’ views:

i. Monitoring Officer: 
The report notes that there is a historical practice of appointing panels to assist the Cabinet 
Member with the letting of small holdings. The recommendation to amalgamate and create one 
panel seems sensible. I can work with the Service and the Cabinet Member to establish terms 
of reference which accord with the current scheme of delegation in the Constitution. I note the 
Finance Officers comments in relation to the feasibility and value of transferring to another 
entity. Such a transfer is not a simple undertaking and there need to be a careful weighting up 
of the effect of the change in governassnce, the need for contracts , tax and cost effectiveness 
before setting off down this road.

ii. Head of Finance: 
I note that it is recommended to respond to the conclusions of the Communities Scrutiny 
Committee in 3 steps.  First, I agree that establishing one county-wide advisory panel for the 
smallholdings could assist the relevant Cabinet Member.  There are financial implications 
regarding the other 2 recommendations.
Should the smallholdings’ income increase further in the future, we would be able to identify 
the 'additional' income and set it aside in the smallholdings fund to be reinvested in the estate 
(as is already done with the Council's property maintenance fund).  I understand that there 
are reasons to earmark the smallholdings’ additional income in this way, but that should be a 
rare exception, rather than a precedent to spread across the rest of the Council's budgets.
However, I am not convinced that there would be any added value in establishing a company 
to manage the smallholdings.  Evidence from several places obviously shows that this would 
certainly create unnecessary additional costs (overheads) that would be disproportionate to 
the service / estate.

Page 35



Page 36



GWYNEDD COUNCIL CABINET

Report to a meeting of Gwynedd Council Cabinet

Date of meeting: 25 June 2019
Cabinet Member: Councillor Dyfrig Siencyn
Contact Officer: Dewi W. Jones, The Council's Business Support 

Service Manager 
Contact Telephone 
Number:

32233

Title of Item: Gwynedd Council Performance Report 2018/19

1. THE DECISION SOUGHT

1.1. To approve the Gwynedd Council Performance Report 2018/19 and to recommend 
its adoption by the Full Council.

2. THE REASON FOR THE NEED FOR A DECISION

2.1. In accordance with the Council's performance management procedure, the 
Gwynedd Performance Report for 2018/19 is initially submitted to the Cabinet for 
approval.

3. INTRODUCTION

3.1. We as a Council are required to publish an annual report measuring our 
performance against our priorities.

3.2. The Wales Audit Office considers this report when preparing its assessment of the 
Council’s performance.  As usual, they will be searching for a balanced report, which 
addresses the aspects that failed to be achieved as well as the successful aspects. 

3.3. The Gwynedd Council Performance Report 2018/19 (Appendix 1) has been 
structured in order to reflect the format of the 2018-23 Gwynedd Council Plan. The 
first part focuses on the performance of the Improvement Priorities projects and the 
second part looks at our day to day work in each Department.

3.4. It is noted that the report is based on the individual performance reports of the 
Cabinet members approved during the year. As with previous years, the intention 
is to publish the Council's Performance Report in the summer and then submit it to 
the Council meeting on 18 July. 

3.5. Contrary to the previous report, the table of measures is not provided at the end of 
the document. Rather, the main measures have been included within the body of 
the report in order to be a part of conveying the story.

Page 37

Agenda Item 8



3.6. It is noted that the content of the Leader's Foreword needs to be confirmed, and this 
will be done prior to submitting the final version of the report to the Full Council.

3.7. In order to meet the requirements of the Well-being of Future Generations Act, we 
are expected to report on our contribution to the principles of the Act and specifically 
the well-being objectives that we have adopted. Consequently, it can be seen that 
the well-being objectives, to which the Departments' day-to-day work and projects 
contribute, have been highlighted in the report.

4. NEXT STEPS AND TIMETABLE

4.1. The Council will discuss and accept the report, or not, at its meeting on 18 July 
2019. When the Council approves the final report, it will be published. 

4.2. Arrangements will be made to inform the public of the report by communicating the 
report and the main successes visually via social media as well as by printing copies 
and sharing them with the media and at the Council's usual locations e.g. libraries.

Views of the Statutory Officers

The Monitoring Officer:
Reporting on the performance and outcomes of the Council Plan is part of an 
appropriate governance regime. It also meets the Councils statutory duties to report 
annually on performance under the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2009 and 
achievement against the Wellbeing Objectives as noted in the report.

The Head of Finance Department:
I have worked with the author to prepare the financial aspects and figures in the 
Performance Report and its appendices, and I confirm the accuracy of the relevant 
content (the financial figures are consistent with the 2018/19 Statement of Accounts). It 
is staggering that the Council has achieved so much on the 2018/19 'journey' (on page 
4), while minimizing the detrimental impact of Government grant cuts, in achieving 
£25million of savings over the 4 years since 2015 (see page 49).

Page 38



Page 39



GWYNEDD COUNCIL
Annual Report 2018/19

Contents

Page

Gwynedd Council Leader’s Foreword 3

The Journey 2018/19

Introduction

4

5

Our Expenditure 7

Part 1 – Improvement Priorities 8

Part 2 – Departmental Reports

Education 28

Adults, Health and Wellbeing 30

Children and Supporting Families 34

Economy and Community 38

Highways and Municipal 41

Environment 44

Ymgynghoriaeth Gwynedd Consultancy 47

Finance and Information Technology 48

Corporate Support 52

If you would like to receive this document in a different language or

format please phone 01766 771000 or email equality@gwynedd.llyw.cymru

If you would like further information about this

report please contact the Council Business

Support Service on 01766 771000

or councilplan@gwynedd.llyw.cymru

Graphics “designed
by Freepik”

2
Page 40



GWYNEDD COUNCIL
Annual Report 2018/19

Foreword of the Leader of Gwynedd Council

3
Page 41



4
Page 42



GWYNEDD COUNCIL
Annual Report 2018/19

The Council published its 'Gwynedd Council
Plan for 2018-2023' in March 2018, in which
our ambition and priorities were set for the
period in question. This report, therefore,
looks specifically at what the Plan has so far
achieved.

This year, the report is in two parts. The first
part concentrates what we achieved through
the projects we chose to focus on in order to
make a difference for the Communities of
Gwynedd (our Improvement Priorities). This
part has been structured according to the
Improvement Priorities.

The second part of the report concentrates on
the performance of the day to day work
carried out on behalf of the people of
Gwynedd by the different Council
Departments. We will also report on the
Local Priorities identified by elected members.

As we have previously reported, our financial
situation as a Council has changed significantly
over recent years and it will continue to
challenge us as we plan our services for the
future. We have delivered our projects and
have provided our services despite facing
substantial cuts of £27m in grants from the
Government since 2013/14.

With the introduction of the Well-being of
Future Generations Act (2015) (the Act)
designated public bodies are required to work
individually and collectively to improve well-
being in Wales.

In line with the requirements of the Act, the
Council adopted seven Well-being Aims for

2018/19, which contribute to the seven
national well-being aims. The aims are based on
the well-being assessment carried out by the
Gwynedd and Anglesey Public Services Board
and engagement sessions held when developing
the Plan.

The need to act in accordance with the five
sustainable development principles has also
been noted, through:

• considering the long-term
• prevention
• integrated working
• working collaboratively
• and being inclusive of people of all ages.

We are expected to report on our
contribution to the principles of the Act, and
information about many of these activities can
be found in the bulk of the report. In addition,
the Well-being Objectives, to which each
individual project contributes, and the
Departments' day-to-day work are noted at
the end of each chapter.

We have agreed that the best way to embed
the responsibility for acting in accordance with
the five sustainable development principles is
for the Department Management Teams to pay
attention to the principles when forward
planning. There is some evidence to suggest
that this does happen, but the need to assess
whether this method is successful has been
recognised. In order to get a better picture of
the true situation, we will assess how the five
ways of working have been embedded within
individual Departments over the coming year
before we reach a conclusion about the steps
that need to be taken to improve the situation.

Introduction

5
Page 43



GWYNEDD COUNCIL
Annual Report 2018/19

Progress in the Gwynedd Council Plan is

monitored consistently during the year at

Departmental performance challenge

meetings. At these meetings, the Cabinet

Member, with the support of the Chief

Executive or the Corporate Directors, reviews

the progress of the Department's

improvement priorities projects and its day to

day work. Furthermore, members of the

relevant Scrutiny Committee attend so that

they can report the achievements to the rest

of the members.

Following the performance challenge meetings,

Cabinet Members prepare individual reports in

which they summarise the current

performance of the fields for which they are

responsible. These reports are discussed at

regular meetings of the Cabinet in order to

consistently review our work and ensure we

are on the right track.

At the end of each financial year, the Annual

Performance Report is prepared, which

reports on the progress of the Gwynedd

Council Plan. The report is presented to the

Cabinet and the Full Council for approval at its

July meeting.

Gwynedd Council Well-being Aims National Well-being Goals

We will ensure that the residents of Gwynedd are: P
ro

sp
e
ro

u
s

R
e
si

li
e
n

t

H
e
a
lt

h
ie

r

E
q

u
a
l

C
o

h
e

si
v
e

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
ie

s

A
v
ib

ra
n

t
c
u

lt
u

re
w

h
e

re
th

e
W

e
ls

h
la

n
g
u

a
g
e

is
th

ri
v
in

g

G
lo

b
a
ll
y

re
sp

o
n

si
b

le

1. Enjoy happy, healthy and safe lives
2. Live in quality homes within their communities
3. Earn a sufficient salary to be able to maintain

themselves and their families
4. Receive education of the highest quality which will

enable them to do what they want to do
5. Live with dignity and independently for as long as

possible
6. Live in a natural Welsh society
7. Take advantage of the beauty of the County's natural

environment.

6
Page 44



GWYNEDD COUNCIL
Annual Report 2018/19

Children and
Supporting Families

Department

£15,792,000

Education
Department

£83,432,000

Adults, Health and
Wellbeing Department

£51,135,000

Highways and
Municipal

Department

£24,309,000

Corporate Support
Department

£7,801,000

Environment
Department

£2,969,000Finance and Information
Technology Department

£5,915,000

Economy and Community
Department

£4,273,000

Corporate Management
Team and Legal Servicesl

£1,686,000

Net Expenditure
2018/19

Gwynedd
Council

Departments

Ymgynghoriaeth Gwynedd
Consultancy

£432,000

Our Expenditure

7
Page 45



GWYNEDD COUNCIL
Annual Report 2018/19

Improvement Priorities

7 Improvement Priorities have been identified within the Council's Plan with projects that we

will focus upon in order to realise the ambition of seeing every community in Gwynedd thrive.

On the following pages, a report is provided on the progress of those projects during 2018/19

which also notes the well-being objectives that they contribute towards.

Further information on what we will do in the future in Gwynedd Council's Plan 2018- 2023

can be obtained by visiting www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/councilplan

Improvement
Priority 1

Improve the conditions to create a viable and prosperous economy
whilst aiming towards securing more jobs which offer good

salaries.

North Wales Growth Deal Improvement Priority 1

What did we promise to do?

Work jointly with partners across north Wales on matters such as the North Wales
Growth Deal to create appropriate conditions in order to attract investment to the area
to achieve the priority.

What progress was made in 2018/19?

During 2018/19, Gwynedd Council has worked jointly with partners across north Wales
ensuring a contribution of £120 million each from Welsh Government and the UK
Government for the Growth Deal, which includes seven strategic programmes and 14
projects. The North Wales Economic Ambition Board was established as a Joint
Committee during February 2019.

The Economy and Community Department has lead on developing an outline business case
for a Trawsfynydd Power Station site plan, and has also contributed towards other schemes
including the Digital Connectivity project and the Skills and Employment programme.

Well-being Objectives -

• Enjoy happy, healthy and safe lives.
• Earn a sufficient salary to be able to maintain ourselves and our families.
• Live in quality homes within their communities.
• Live in natural Welsh society.
• Receive education of the highest quality which will enable us to do what we want to do.

8
Page 46



GWYNEDD COUNCIL
Annual Report 2018/19

Keeping the Benefit Local Improvement Priority 1

What did we promise to do?

The Council is responsible for buying a number of goods and services and is eager to try
to ensure that local businesses can compete and win these contracts in order to ensure
that as much of the Council's expenditure as possible remains local.

We are eager to build on this work, to attempt to increase the Council's expenditure with
local businesses and to raise the businesses' awareness and understanding of the Council's
procurement process, supporting them to compete and win contracts within the Council
and beyond.

What progress was made in 2018/19?

Using capital and revenue figures, the percentage of the Council's local expenditure is
consistent with 2017/18, namely 62%. On the other hand, when using revenue figures alone,
the percentage of expenditure with local companies has increased by 4% to 59%, namely a
total of £62m.

As a Council, we have focused on helping local companies to be aware of existing
opportunities to apply for contracts with the Council, to offer them training on how to
submit a tender and to assist them to be able to apply for any professional accreditations
they could require to apply for work (e.g. health and safety). During the year, we supported
the market in the following fields:

• Adult care
• Transportation
• Maintenance
• Equipment hire
• Protective clothing
• Cleaning goods

We are awaiting to see whether or not the support provided will lead to an increased
number of local companies in Gwynedd securing work contracts with the Council in future.

Well-being Objectives -

• Earn a sufficient salary to be able to maintain ourselves and our families.
• Live in natural Welsh society.

Create High Value Jobs

(£26,500 + salary)
Improvement Priority 1

What did we promise to do?

We will seek to target sectors that pay well by creating an environment which supports
new businesses and grows existing businesses, by promoting the county and attracting
additional investment, and ensures that the local workforce is able to take advantage of the
opportunities. We will lobby and facilitate by creating conditions to attract investment in

9
Page 47



GWYNEDD COUNCIL
Annual Report 2018/19

strategic sites such as the Trawsfynydd Power Station, Llanbedr Airfield and Parc Bryn
Cegin / Parc Menai. Good work has already started to attract investments to sites at
Trawsfynydd and Llanbedr, but this momentum needs to be sustained.

What progress was made in 2018/19?

During the year, 57 high value jobs have been created and 29 high value jobs have been
protected as a result of the intensive support work being done to attract investors and
businesses to the area.

£7.5 million of European funding contribution was confirmed towards the work of
developing the Llanbedr site that will include improving site facilities and creating a space
for aerospace business and creating a new access.

The UK Government's Nuclear Sector Deal was officially launched in Trawsfynydd in
September 2018, noting that the site was ideal for a Small Reactor development.

Well-being Objectives -

• Earn a sufficient salary to be able to maintain ourselves and our families.
• Live in natural Welsh society.

Arloesi Gwynedd Wledig Improvement Priority 1

What did we promise to do?

We intend to build on the good work that has already been done to transform the rural
economy by introducing innovation within traditional sectors (such as agriculture and
tourism) and support investment in the digital infrastructure of our rural communities,
giving particular attention to the Dwyfor and Meirionnydd areas. We will also influence and
lobby regionally and nationally on behalf of the needs of rural Gwynedd.

What progress was made in 2018/19?

We have already attracted £4 million from the Rural Development Programme to
Gwynedd to develop innovative working approaches and a range of exciting developments
in order to target the rural communities. During 2018/19, 18 exciting innovative
developments were trialled, with examples such as:

• A Digital Playground was launched in Glynllifon, which offers opportunities to
experiment with the Internet to respond to the challenges of rural areas.

• The Drone School gave 25 young people an opportunity to attend activities over
six weekends to learn about flying drones at the Llanbedr Aerospace Centre.

• Local schools participated in the Solar System Snowdonia project to recreate the
Solar System within the boundaries of Gwynedd.

• A community transport plan for visitors in Harlech.

Some of the trialled schemes are being developed further; during 2018/19 we secured
funding from Welsh Government to support 10 rural towns and villages in the county to
develop a WiFi service for the public.

10
Page 48



GWYNEDD COUNCIL
Annual Report 2018/19

The Arfor programme was approved, securing £523k for Gwynedd in order to create
employment to support the Welsh language.

Well-being Objectives -

• Earn a sufficient salary to be able to maintain ourselves and our families.
• Live in natural Welsh society.
• Receive education of the highest quality which will enable us to do what we want to do.

Increase the Benefits from
Major Events

Improvement Priority 1

What did we promise to do?

We have already been successful in attracting a number of national and international high-
profile events to the county which brought in an investment of £6.7m in 2016/17. We are
eager to continue with this and ensure that local businesses benefit from the events. This
will lead to an increase in the number of opportunities to promote the county, an increase
in the number of visitors to the county and an increase in the number of opportunities for
local companies to work at or offer services to the events.

What progress was made in 2018/19?

A support package was promoted for the 2018/19 term. 23 events were supported during
the year, including Zip World Rocks, Festival Number 6, and welcoming the final stage of
the women's Tour of Britain cycle race to Dolgellau which was the first time for the event
to come to Wales. During the year, it was managed to generate an economic benefit of
£5.7 million in the county. 2,776 young people had an opportunity to either participate,
volunteer or attend events.

Well-being Objectives -

• Earn a sufficient salary to be able to maintain ourselves and our families.
• Live in natural Welsh society.

World Heritage Site Improvement Priority 1

What did we promise to do?

We are looking to realise a programme of regeneration activities in these areas which will
lead to an increase in residents' ownership of their heritage, the form and appearance of
communities and the quality of tourists' experience, along with continuing to work to
secure a World Heritage Site status for the slate industry in Gwynedd.

What progress was made in 2018/19?

11
Page 49



GWYNEDD COUNCIL
Annual Report 2018/19

We have also continued to work on obtaining a World Heritage Site designation for the
slate areas, it was announced that the Slate Landscape of North West Wales would be the
next nomination submitted to the World Heritage Committee by the British Government.

We have managed to attract nearly £1m in grant investment and loans to the Slate areas in
order to realise engagement and regeneration activities. A Wales Slate Co-ordinator has
been appointed to lead on the work.

During the year, commissioning work has been undertaken, which includes a commission
to create Habitat Schemes in the Slate areas, these schemes will steer the priorities of the
communities over the next 5-10 years.

Well-being Objectives -

• Enjoy happy, healthy and safe lives.
• Earn a sufficient salary to be able to maintain ourselves and our families.
• Live in natural Welsh society.
• Take advantage of the beauty of the county's natural environment.

Benefiting from Tourism Improvement Priority 1

What did we promise to do?

Our intention is to look at the possibility of getting visitors to contribute financially to
maintaining and enhancing Gwynedd's destinations and raising the standards of the tourism
sector. In doing so, we will improve the provision of the county's destinations and increase
the standard of industry provision for visitors.

What progress was made in 2018/19?

This project remains in its early days, a workshop was held with the sector during the year
with the intention to seek opinions and contribute towards setting the foundation for the
business plan, the Benefiting from Tourism Scheme. The project board was established
which has supported with the initial work. Experts were commissioned to undertake
further work to identify potential models for implementation, a report will soon be
submitted to the project Board in 2019/20.

Well-being Objectives -

• Earn a sufficient salary to be able to maintain ourselves and our families.
• Live in natural Welsh society.
• Take advantage of the beauty of the county's natural environment.

12
Page 50



GWYNEDD COUNCIL
Annual Report 2018/19

Businesses Receiving Support
to Prosper

Improvement Priority 1

What did we promise to do?

Over the coming years, we will review how these services are provided in order to
consider whether there is room for improvement and will implement any lessons which
emerge to ensure that businesses are assisted to thrive.

What progress was made in 2018/19?

This is a new project, and therefore, it remains in its early days. During 2018/19, the work
of scoping and holding cross-departmental discussions in relation to adopting the 'Better
Business for All' has been undertaken. A brief and project plan was completed in order to
steer the work for the future.

Well-being Objectives -

• Earn a sufficient salary to be able to maintain ourselves and our families.

Improvement
Priority 2

Improvement Priority 2 - Ensure that every pupil has the
opportunity to reach his or her potential by ensuring that we have

a sustainable education system, which provides development
opportunities relevant to everyone whatever their background or

where they live.

Transforming the Schools
System

Improvement Priority 2

What did we promise to do?

We have consulted on a series of principles which should be a basis for any future changes
and we will establish a scheme to embed those principles in order to ensure a viable
education system which will ensure that every child in the county is given a fair opportunity
to develop his or her potential.

What progress was made in 2018/19?

Following general concerns that the current schools system is not sustainable, the Council
Cabinet adopted the fit for purpose education principles:

• A system of viable secondary schools;
• No more than two age ranges within the same class in the primary sector;

13
Page 51



GWYNEDD COUNCIL
Annual Report 2018/19

• Approximately 80% of non-contact time for the Headteacher to focus on leadership
issues in the primary sector.

The principles consider sustainable models for the county's primary and secondary schools,
along with the leadership models for our schools. The principles are already being
considered in the delivery of the Band A and Band B C21 Schools projects, and these will
be the fundamental principles for consideration when we respond to any opportunities for
the future.

Well-being Objectives -

• Enjoy happy, healthy and safe lives.
• Receive education of the highest quality which will enable us to do what we want to do.
• Live in natural Welsh society.

Strengthening Leadership Improvement Priority 2

What did we promise to do?

We will continue to encourage and promote the professional development of existing
leaders in our schools, while committing to the available leadership development
programmes. We will also identify and target future leaders, ensuring that they have access
to these programmes.

What progress was made in 2018/19?

In collaboration with GwE, the Authority has planned to put relevant training arrangements
in place to develop future leaders, and to promote the professional development of the
existing leaders in our schools.

Well-being Objectives -

• Receive education of the highest quality which will enable us to do what we want to do.

Bangor Catchment Area Improvement Priority 2

What did we promise to do?

We will review the education provision in Bangor while looking to put a new scheme in
place which will improve the provision in the future.

What progress was made in 2018/19?

Following a review of the education provision in Bangor, the Cabinet has approved a plan
worth £12.7 million in order to construct a new school in the catchment area and to
increase the capacity of Ysgol y Faenol. Work to construct the new school building has

14
Page 52



GWYNEDD COUNCIL
Annual Report 2018/19

commenced and a turf cutting ceremony was held on 7 March 2019 with children from the
three schools that will merge.

Well-being Objectives -

• Receive education of the highest quality which will enable us to do what we want to do.

Y Berwyn Catchment Area Improvement Priority 2

What did we promise to do?

We will complete the work of establishing the Welsh-medium Learning Campus for pupils
aged 3-19 on the Ysgol y Berwyn site, Bala which will also offer services for the local
community, by September 2019. This involves completing the process of establishing the
governing body, completing the construction work and assisting with arrangements for
opening the new Learning Campus.

What progress was made in 2018/19?

As the construction work has come to an end, the School has now been named Ysgol
Godre’r Berwyn. The Headteacher commenced in post in January and work is continuing
to appoint to the structure. Work on the community elements is progressing well and a
local group of people is busy arranging use of the social space in future.

Well-being Objectives -

• Receive education of the highest quality which will enable us to do what we want to do.

Transforming the Provision of
Additional Learning Needs and
Inclusion

Improvement Priority 2

What did we promise to do?

We will develop the support in the classroom, pre-school provision, post-16 provision and
Special Schools. We will also build on the existing partnership work between our Special
Schools and with the authority's mainstream schools in order to improve the learning
experiences of children with severe and complex needs.

What progress was made in 2018/19?

Work was completed to restructure the additional learning needs and inclusion service
which enables a more effective strategic direction with better connection between both
fields.

A new website was launched for the ALN&I Service on 5 November 2018,
www.adyach.cymru

Well-being Objectives -

15
Page 53



GWYNEDD COUNCIL
Annual Report 2018/19

• Enjoy happy, healthy and safe lives.
• Receive education of the highest quality which will enable us to do what we want to do.
• Live with dignity and independently for as long as possible.

Improvement
Priority 3

Reduce inequality within the county.

Gwynedd Residents to Play a
Full Part in the World of Work

Improvement Priority 3

What did we promise to do?

We will be looking at focusing on a series of activities in order to get more Gwynedd
residents into full-time work thereby reducing inactivity and unemployment.

What progress was made in 2018/19?

During 2018/19, Gwynedd Council received £300k of funding from Welsh Government.
The package of employment projects was launched as "Gwaith Gwynedd (Gwynedd
Work)". The package includes five projects that collaborate in order to support Gwynedd
residents into employment. To date, schemes such as ADTRAC, OPUS, Communities for
Work and Communities for Work+ have supported nearly 350 individuals, supporting
nearly 60 into employment and 80 to obtain a qualification. TRAC has supported over 600
children to reduce the risk of being NEET.

Well-being Objectives -

• Enjoy happy, healthy and safe lives.
• Earn a sufficient salary to be able to maintain ourselves and our families.
• Live in natural Welsh society.

Supporting Families Strategy Improvement Priority 3

What did we promise to do?

We will review our existing arrangements in this field in order to do more of what works
to meet the needs of children and their families. Offering support to some families before
matters escalate will be essential to help children and families prosper and to reduce the
need for more intensive services.

16
Page 54



GWYNEDD COUNCIL
Annual Report 2018/19

We will ensure a clear vision with key partners such as the Health Board, together with
our communities and the Third Sector, to provide the best outcomes for those children,
young people, and families who need our help.

What progress was made in 2018/19?

The work programme on the agenda has moved forward during the year. We have updated
needs assessments and analysed them at local levels for the Gwynedd population
assessment. Further work has taken place to identify the demand for support for families
across the Council's departments, in addition to mapping out the provisions that are already
available to support Families across Gwynedd, and the way people gain access to these
services. This work has led to improving our understanding of the current situation and
will guide the way we plan our response to the needs in the future, jointly with our partners.

The work of developing the Supporting Families Strategy and Welsh Government's recent
announcement to merge their preventative grants has given us an opportunity to reflect on
our direction. As a Council, we are eager to look more broadly at the preventative field
and the support we provide the residents of the county, across all our services, in order
to tackle some of the barriers they face.

Some residents need more support, and the Council invests in, provides and plans many
services and interventions that tackle various issues such as: difficulties with parenting and
raising a family, having and maintaining a home, maintaining healthy relationships, dealing
with substance misuse, alcohol, violence, crime and the effects they have, healthy and active
lifestyles, insufficient income and lack of work, inability to stay in education, lack of
qualifications and basic skills, caring, ageing, loneliness and lack of social contacts. Therefore,
we intend to establish a 'Supporting People Board' in order to bring all of the above
elements together with the intention of providing better support for people.

Well-being Objectives -

• Enjoy happy, healthy and safe lives.
• Live with dignity and independently for as long as possible.

Working Together against
Poverty

Improvement Priority 3

What did we promise to do?

We will continue with the work to help residents gain skills and cope with managing
household income and debts, to access on-line information and services, and implement
schemes that will provide employment opportunities for people who are not part of the
labour market. We will also provide support for people to cope with changes in the welfare
and benefits field.

What progress was made in 2018/19?

In order to support Gwynedd residents with the changes to their benefits, the Gwynedd
Welfare Reform Group was established on a joint basis with partners. During the year, the

17
Page 55



GWYNEDD COUNCIL
Annual Report 2018/19

Group has developed and lead on an Action Plan and has launched a marketing campaign,
"Your benefits are changing", on a joint basis across Gwynedd. We have continued to co-
ordinate and hold 'Pennywise' events across Gwynedd on a joint basis with Job Centre Plus,
offering access to information and support for Gwynedd residents.

The Digital Gwynedd project has continued to offer Digital Drop-in sessions across the
county, and 3,000 residents have been supported to nurture digital skills to date.

For the future this work will be incorporated within the work programme of the Supporting
People Board that is referred to above.

Well-being Objectives -

• Enjoy happy, healthy and safe lives.
• Earn a sufficient salary to be able to maintain ourselves and our families.
• Receive education of the highest quality which will enable us to do what we want to do.
• Live in natural Welsh society.

Corporate Parent Improvement Priority 3

What did we promise to do?

As corporate parents, we will aim to improve the opportunities for our children in all
aspects of their lives. By listening to and seeking the views of children in our care, we will
ensure that the support we provide meets their needs and that we take action to close any
gaps. We will also ensure that those leaving our care are prepared and empowered for life
as adults, ensuring that they receive suitable support to assist them to fulfil their potential.

What progress was made in 2018/19?

Considerable work has taken place during the period to try to identify where we need to
improve and to identify good practice through the task groups that have already been
established. We are of the opinion that this improvement priority has now been completed.
The Panel has identified fields that require attention and a work programme is in place to
address this. This was reflected in the Care Inspectorate Wales report, which described
the Corporate Parent Panel as 'ambitious for looked-after children'.

Well-being Objectives -

• Enjoy happy, healthy and safe lives.
• Live in quality homes within their communities.
• Live with dignity and independently for as long as possible.
• Live in natural Welsh society.

18
Page 56



GWYNEDD COUNCIL
Annual Report 2018/19

Reducing the Pay Gap between
Women and Men and Men /
Women in Leadership

Improvement Priority 3

What did we promise to do?

Although the Council is firm that it adheres to equal pay, it acknowledges that a pay gap
exists between men and women.

We will research how this pay gap could be reduced with the intention of promoting the
number of women who reach high level jobs within the Council.

What progress was made in 2018/19?

At the end of March 2018, 71% of the Council's entire workforce were women, and 63%
of this percentage worked part time, of which a substantial number were in jobs that paid
lower salary levels such as care or cleaning jobs. Consequently, the salaries women received
as an entire cohort was 9.9% lower than the entire cohort of men who worked for the
Council.

Should the current situation continue, appointing women to every post on the senior
manager level within the Council would not ensure a significant reduction in the pay gap.
Therefore, it became apparent that the project focus needed to shift, and we now focus on
eliminating any element of the work conditions and environment within the Council that is
a barrier to women applying for leadership and management posts in future. With 50%
fewer women than men believing that they can apply for leadership or management posts,
the focus of this project is now on 'Women in Leadership'.

Well-being Objectives -

• Earn a sufficient salary to be able to maintain ourselves and our families.
• Live with dignity and independently for as long as possible.

Improvement
Priority 4

Ensure a greater supply of suitable housing available to our
residents.

Suitable and Affordable Housing Improvement Priority 4

What did we promise to do?

The purpose of the Suitable and Affordable Housing project is to ensure that we have
a detailed understanding of the nature of the demand for housing within our communities
so that we can plan for the future and make a difference.

19
Page 57



GWYNEDD COUNCIL
Annual Report 2018/19

What progress was made in 2018/19?

The Housing Department has been working on assessing Housing needs in Gwynedd and
has consulted on the findings during the year. The work of completing the Housing Needs
Assessment is a strong foundation for the Housing Strategy for the People of Gwynedd
(2019-2024) that has been completed during the year and is about to be submitted to the
Cabinet. The Strategy sets a clear goal for the field of Housing in its entirety, with affordable
and suitable housing driving our plans for the future.

Well-being Objectives -

•Enjoy happy, healthy and safe lives.
•Live in quality homes within their communities.
•Live with dignity and independently for as long as possible.
•Live in natural Welsh society.

Identify and Promote Housing
Schemes and Initiatives

Improvement Priority 4

What did we promise to do?

Our intention is to improve residents' access to support in relation to housing needs while
identifying schemes and initiatives that are available to assist them. We will also reach a
decision on the best way of promoting these schemes and initiatives and regarding the need
to develop further specific support.

What progress was made in 2018/19?

The work of assessing the Housing needs of Gwynedd residents, and to draw up the
Housing Strategy for the People of Gwynedd, has improved our understanding of the
challenges that face people within the Housing field. Addressing the challenges that face
people when trying to find a suitable home is central to the Housing Strategy for the People
of Gwynedd.

Well-being Objectives -

• Enjoy happy, healthy and safe lives.
• Live in quality homes within their communities.
• Live with dignity and independently for as long as possible.
• Live in natural Welsh society.

Improvement
Priority 5

Ensure that we encourage and promote the ability of the people of
Gwynedd to live their lives through the medium of Welsh.

20
Page 58



GWYNEDD COUNCIL
Annual Report 2018/19

The Welsh Language in Public
Services

Improvement Priority 5

What did we promise to do?

At present there is inconsistency in the provision of bilingual services by public bodies in
Gwynedd which means that it is not always possible for residents to use the Welsh language
naturally when communicating with public bodies.

We will be looking at improving the situation by collaborating with public organisations in
Gwynedd in order to enable and encourage Gwynedd residents to use the Welsh language
when contacting the organisations and ensuring consistency in the provision.

What progress was made in 2018/19?

The main public bodies that provide a service in Gwynedd are members of the Gwynedd
and Anglesey Public Services Board. Therefore, we have collaborated with fellow members
of the Board to see how we can share good practice and help each other to implement the
Language Commissioner's Language Standards, for the benefit of our residents. Although
there are a number of examples of maintaining high standard Welsh services, unfortunately
we do not believe that work on this important matter has progressed swiftly enough over
the year.

Well-being Objectives -

• Live in natural Welsh society.

Gwynedd Businesses using the
Welsh language

Improvement Priority 5

What did we promise to do?

Gwynedd businesses have a role to play in promoting and using the Welsh language and
our intention will be to encourage businesses to use the language when offering services.
We will need to consider how the Council will be able to promote this and what activities
are likely to be most effective in the field.

What progress was made in 2018/19?

The Council comes into contact with businesses in the county in several ways - our work
to support local businesses in order to improve the local economy, our planning processes
and our procurement processes (the purchase of goods or services). Therefore, the year
was spent examining how we can influence and help businesses to offer a Welsh or bilingual
service to our customers. Conditions have now been set in agreements for the business
loans fund, and we have collaborated with the Welsh in Business project which is funded
by Welsh Government in order to increase businesses' use of the Welsh language. Similarly,
we have also started to collaborate with other counties in west Wales through the Arfor
project, to support businesses to develop a Welsh service.

21
Page 59



GWYNEDD COUNCIL
Annual Report 2018/19

Well-being Objectives -

• Live in natural Welsh society.

Promote the use of the Welsh
language within the Council's
services

Improvement Priority 5

What did we promise to do?

Gwynedd Council has been prominent in terms of ensuring that services are available
through the medium of Welsh and ensuring that the Council's internal work happens
through the medium of Welsh. Nevertheless, we acknowledge that we are in a challenging
period and that we need to work continually to push the boundaries and make sure that
the provision is consistent across all our services.

We will continue to collaborate with departments to look at the way they respond to the
public's demand for Welsh-language services, to consider their success in normalising the
Welsh language and the ways they could be promoting the use of the Welsh language
amongst their users.

What progress was made in 2018/19?

Focus was placed on working with front-line services, completing work in nine Services,
and the work continues in seven others. The Welsh language skills of front-line staff were
assessed to examine whether there were any gaps in skills and further support or training
was offered if it was necessary. All of this in order to maintain or improve the Welsh service
for residents.

Holding one-to-one language training and mentoring sessions have led to individuals using
the Welsh language in the workplace and with the public, something that they did not do
previously. Using technology - e.g. Facebook, Whatsapp groups etc. extensively to share
ideas and to practise the Welsh language has helped staff. Residents in care homes also help
staff at the homes to practise their use of Welsh.

86% of staff questioned felt that the training provided had had 'a lot' of impact on them in
the workplace, with 79% of staff questioned believing that the service user had benefited
from the fact that staff received the training.

Well-being Objectives -

• Live in natural Welsh society.

Secondary Sector Language
Strategy/Charter

Improvement Priority 5

What did we promise to do?

We will continue to employ a Secondary Sector Language Strategy Co-ordinator who will
provide the appropriate challenge and support to our secondary schools. Every secondary

22
Page 60



GWYNEDD COUNCIL
Annual Report 2018/19

school will have an individual and unique action plan which will reflect the linguistic context
of the school and the surrounding community. The young people themselves will also
develop a programme of informal and exciting activities for their peers, in order to raise
the status and increase the informal opportunities for young people to use the Welsh
language socially.

What progress was made in 2018/19?

Each secondary school has received support to implement the main priorities of the
Language Strategy and to review their individual Action Plans. Also, every secondary school
received support to implement the language web with Years 7 and 8 during the Autumn
term.

Well-being Objectives -

• Live in natural Welsh society.
• Receive education of the highest quality which will enable us to do what we want to do.

Improvement
Priority 6

Ensure that we have care services which help people to live
their lives as they wish.

Community Resilience Improvement Priority 6

What did we promise to do?

We will develop preventative services which are aimed at supporting residents, linking
people with support within their communities and focusing on five areas during the first
year and making them Dementia Friendly. A key part of community resilience is how
different generations co-habit and socialise and we will build on the success of the work
behind the 'Hen Blant Bach' programme which was an opportunity to look at how bringing
nursery-aged children and older people together would work.

What progress was made in 2018/19?

One of the requirements of the Act* is to ensure that we provide information, advice and

assistance to people in a simple and accessible way. To this end, we have incorporated this

within the five community teams. This involves simple arrangements for the residents of

Gwynedd, and also ensures that individuals remain in control whilst seeking information

about what they need.

23
Page 61



GWYNEDD COUNCIL
Annual Report 2018/19

The Community Connectors Scheme has been established and has placed individuals

sponsored by a third sector agency within three of the TAC. They map services and groups

within communities and link individuals requiring assistance with those services. It also

identifies gaps in the service and promotes community enterprises.

Following two successful six-week series of Bridging the Generations in Bangor and Nefyn,
the Well-being Unit has arranged activities between tenants of Sheltered Housing in
Barmouth and children at Ysgol y Traeth. The Well-being Unit is also working with the

Head of Grŵp Llandrillo Menai Site in Dolgellau on creating links between the students and

older people, and it is anticipated that this could help with recruiting more young people
to the social care field.

The "Dementia Go Scheme" is going from strength to strength and they now hold 14 classes

across the county. The scheme has also been extended and developed to offer experiences

to residents within our care homes. We have held workforce training sessions at 11

residential homes in the county. The scheme will ensure that residents have the opportunity

to be as active as possible to reduce the risk of falling, reduce depression and increase the

quality of life.

Well-being Objectives -

• Enjoy happy, healthy and safe lives.
• Live with dignity and independently for as long as possible.

Re-designing Care Services Improvement Priority 6

What did we promise to do?

We will continue with this work and establish five local teams jointly with our partners
which will ensure effective services focused on the individual and ensure that our hospital
discharge arrangements are effective and are in keeping with what matters to that individual.

As part of our work with our care services providers, we will experiment with new ways
of commissioning home care packages and will also invest in our care homes in order to
improve our more acute care provision. In addition, we will collaborate with the Health
Board in order to strengthen mental health services locally and will look at innovative ways
of improving learning disability services.

What progress was made in 2018/19?

Five locality teams (TAC) have been located in the Llŷn, Caernarfon, Bangor,
Eifionydd/North Meirionnydd and South Meirionnydd areas. These are integrated multi-
disciplinary teams of health and social care services. This change means that the people
who require a service, and their families, can make direct contact with the relevant officers.
Having smaller areas also means that it is easier for staff to gain a better understanding of

24
Page 62



GWYNEDD COUNCIL
Annual Report 2018/19

what is happening within local communities, and in turn, this will improve the individuals'
experience.

We have also been working on improving the flow of patients through the care and health
system, by following cases from end to end and attempting to remove any obstructions
arising. This work also keeps to the principles of doing what matters to the individual and
is based on the same principles as the work of the integrated teams. An experiment on
Ogwen Ward, Ysbyty Gwynedd has attempted to identify methods to improve the patient
transfer system and, although it is early days, initial work indicates very interesting and
positive signs.

The Council has prioritised the development of specialist dementia provision within the
Council's in-house homes in partnership with the Health Board. Construction work has
been completed to develop the specialist units at Llys Cadfan in Tywyn; Plas Hafan in Nefyn
and Plas Hedd in Bangor thanks to funding through Welsh Government's Integrated Care
Fund; it is expected that the unit at the Council's Bryn Blodau Home in Llan Ffestiniog will
be completed by the end of June 2019.

The first tenants of the Hafod y Gest Extra Care Housing in Porthmadog moved in during
January. Hafod y Gest is a partnership between Gwynedd Council and Grŵp Cynefin and
the scheme was developed by 'Anwyl Construction'. It is located in the centre of the town
and community of Porthmadog, and is closely located to the town's shops and facilities. The
response of residents to the development has been very positive.

The Council has taken advantage of funding from Welsh Government's Intermediate Care
Fund to create a new model of service provision that will benefit adults with learning
disabilities located in Caernarfon. The funding has been used to restore a café area and to
upgrade the communal room. The café provides opportunities for work experience and
training for adults who are known to the Learning Disability Team in the area so that they
can develop important practical life skills, along with providing a new service for the broader
community.

Well-being Objectives -

• Enjoy happy, healthy and safe lives.
• Live with dignity and independently for as long as possible.
• Live in quality homes within their communities.

The Workforce and Recruitment
within the Care Field

Improvement Priority 6

What did we promise to do?

Before being able to establish an action plan to resolve the problem, we need to ensure
that we really understand the problem, and we will investigate the existing situation in
Gwynedd, the pressures on our workforce and for the Council and will look at
implementing the solutions which become apparent. We will also work on raising the
profile and status of care workers by reviewing existing career paths, so that a career in
social care work is a positive career choice, and we will promote the care field as a career
by disseminating appropriate information to local organisations. We will also review our

25
Page 63



GWYNEDD COUNCIL
Annual Report 2018/19

Apprenticeship scheme within the Council to seek to influence the number of apprentices
within the care field.

What progress was made in 2018/19?

A lot is happening within the project with various plans attempting to address different
aspects in an attempt to better understand the problem. The Domiciliary Care Project in
Bethesda is attempting to address the problem within the domiciliary care field and has lead
on a substantial change in the way we provide domiciliary care in Gwynedd. Similar projects
are also taking place in the Tywyn area.

Work has also been commissioned to improve our understanding and identify main
messages in the older people field. A session was held in September to improve members'
understanding of the recruitment challenges that exist and ascertain their views and opinion
on future opportunities.

In addition, the Area Teams are conducting a joint-exercise with our partners to gather
information about cases in one specific area. The team will scrutinise cases in detail in order
to better understand the need within one small area. Conclusions can, thereafter, be
reached on possible solutions.

Well-being Objectives -

• Enjoy happy, healthy and safe lives.
• Receive education of the highest quality which will enable us to do what we want to do.
• Earn a sufficient salary to be able to maintain ourselves and our families.
• Live with dignity and independently for as long as possible.

Improvement
Priority 7

Ensure that the whole Council places the people of Gwynedd at
the centre of everything we do.

Empowering Units to Implement
Ffordd Gwynedd

Improvement Priority 7

What did we promise to do?

Establishing a consistent culture will not happen in isolation, and the purpose of this project
is to lead service teams to reflect on their current working arrangements, to challenge
whether they are putting the people of Gwynedd at the centre and whether there is room
for improvement.

We will continue to hold intensive reviews within a number of services to ensure that they
place the people of Gwynedd at the centre of their work. Also, the training programme for
Service Managers on the principles of Ffordd Gwynedd (including robust performance

26
Page 64



GWYNEDD COUNCIL
Annual Report 2018/19

management principles) will continue, and support will be available for them to undertake
their own reviews.

What progress was made in 2018/19?

As noted when describing the 'Developing Leadership' project, officers within the Council,
who are managers, have completed a training course on how to implement Ffordd
Gwynedd. They have then progressed to hold their own reviews on how their services
place the people of Gwynedd at the centre of their work.

In the meantime, the work of holding intensive service reviews with support from specialist
officers continues, and working methods have changed during the year as a result of this
support. For example, teams of highway workers use mobile electronic tools to record and
arrange highway repair work which has reduced the time of the whole process.

Realising Savings

What did we promise to do?

The cuts in funding that the Council receives from the Government means that we must
cope with receiving less money to maintain our services. Over the last eight years, we have
had to cut £48m from the Council's budget.

We will, therefore, continue with the work of ensuring that we realise those savings which
have already been approved and ensure that we plan to find savings in the future. During
2018/19, we will develop savings options for 2019/20 onwards in order to respond to the
financial challenges facing the Council. Naturally, we will consult with the residents of
Gwynedd on those options.

What progress was made in 2018/19?

Public consultations were held to ascertain the priorities of Gwynedd Residents, along with
a public consultation on proposed savings schemes in order to assist Councillors when
making a decision. The Council adopted a budget on 7/3/19 which incorporated savings of
£5.2m. This was in addition to the £48m we already had to cut from Council budgets.

In terms of realising those savings, 96% of savings schemes for the period 2015/16 - 2017/18
have been realised, with an element of concern regarding plans to increase income within
the Education Department, where projected income has not emerged. The Department
will seek methods to compensate for the deficit. In terms of 2018/19 savings, 73% of savings
have been realised and seven out of a total 28 schemes have slipped. However, it is
expected that most of these will be delivered in due course. There is concern regarding
one scheme only within the Children field where a scheme that had to find savings by
reviewing how we met the needs of looked after children had to be delivered; however, it
did not generate as much savings as expected. Further work will be carried out during the
coming year to examine what else is possible to do.

27
Page 65



GWYNEDD COUNCIL
Annual Report 2018/19

In addition to the work that this Department

is doing to deliver the Improvement Priorities

in Part 1, the remainder of the ' day-to-day '

work also contributes to the Council's

ambitions.

One of the Council's main priorities is to

ensure that the children and young people of

Gwynedd are all given the same opportunities

and have the best possible education and

experiences.

The results of the Foundation Phase (7 years)

for this year are lower than in previous years,

and the main reason for this is the use of brand

new outcomes in language and mathematics for

assessment purposes. This nationwide fall in

results is reflected in Gwynedd results.

Therefore, comparisons between the results of

the Foundation Phase with previous years

should be avoided as they are not measured on

a comparative basis. 81.7% of learners assessed

at the end of the Foundation Phase reached the

Foundation Phase Indicator (FPI), which is

below the national percentage of 82.6%.

Our children and young people's educational

attainment in the Summer 2018 results, in Key

Stage 2 (11 years old) and Key Stage 3 (14

years old), remains positive and strong.

Key Stage 2 performance at the highest level

was very positive; 91.2% of learners achieved

the Core Subject Indicator (CSI) - either

Welsh or English, and Mathematics and

Science, which is above the national percentage

of 89.5%.

The performance of learners in Key Stage 3

was 92.8%, which is strong and has remained

consistent, and is above the national average of

88.1%. Nevertheless, there was a fall in the

percentage of free school meal (FSM) learners

that achieved Core Subject Indicators (CSI) at

the end of Key Stage 3.

After reaching Key Stage 4 (14-16 years old -

GCSE) there was a fall in each of the main

indicators compared to the previous year. 15

subjects were updated and were sat for the

first time this year, and significant changes were

made to the boundaries of grades, especially

grade C in English and Mathematics. That had

a substantial impact on English results.

Nevertheless, the performance in Welsh first

language was consistently high.

43.8% of learners who have access to free

school meals (FSM) in 2018 gained five GCSEs

grades A*-C, including Welsh (language) or

Percentage of pupils who have achieved the Core

Subjects Indicator (CSI) at the end of Key Stage 3: (14

years old)

Summer

2014

89.11%

Summer

2015

91.3%

Summer

2016

92.0%

Summer

2017

92.8%

Summer

2018

92.8%

Education Department

Percentage of pupils who reached the Core Subject Indicator

(CSI) at the end of Key Stage 2 (11 years old)

Summer

`2014

86%

Summer

2015

89.5%

Summer

2016

89.8%

Summer

2017

92.1%

Summer

2018

91.2%

28
Page 66



GWYNEDD COUNCIL
Annual Report 2018/19

English (language), and Mathematics or

Mathematics (numeracy) TL2+).

There was an improvement in the performance

of two of the three Key Stage 5 indicators.

60.4% of learners gained three grades A*-C,

and surpassed the Wales-wide performance of

58.1%.

Estyn continues to inspect our schools, and the

inspection profile across the sectors in

Gwynedd is excellent. During the 2017-18

year, Estyn held inspections at 19 schools in

Gwynedd and no follow up action was deemed

necessary at 16 of the schools inspected, and

the least intensive follow up category was

awarded at the three other schools.

There is a national matrix process for school

categorisation. The category colour notes the

level of assistance the school needs - green,

yellow, amber or red (the schools in the green

category need the lowest level of assistance,

and those in the red category need the most

intensive assistance). In 2017/18, 91% of our

schools were in the green or yellow category,

which is an increase of 24% since 2014-15.

The welfare service supports schools to

promote attendance, positive behaviour and

support for children and young people who

experience behavioural, emotional and/or

social development difficulties. Learners'

attendance at secondary schools in Gwynedd

in 2018/19 was at 94.8%, which remains

consistently good.

Gwynedd Council is part of the Gwynedd and

Anglesey post-16 Consortium, which sets the

direction for the area's post-16 provision. In

2018-19, 846 learners attended one of the 14-

16 partnership courses in Gwynedd.

This Department's day-to-day work

contributes towards the Gwynedd Well-being

Objectives, ensuring that Gwynedd residents

can:

• Enjoy happy, healthy and safe lives.
• Receive education of the highest

quality which will enable us to do
what we want to do.

• Live in natural Welsh society.
• Live with dignity and independently

for as long as possible.

29
Page 67



GWYNEDD COUNCIL
Annual Report 2018/19

In addition to the work that this Department
is doing to deliver the Improvement Priorities
in Part 1, the remainder of the ' day-to-day '
work also contributes to the Council's
ambitions.

The performance of the Adults, Heath and
Well-being Department for the past year has
been positive and a great deal has been
achieved. We have much to be proud of in
Gwynedd, and to an extent, this is a reflection
of the good relationship we have with our key
partner within the field, namely the Health
Board. For many years now, we have noted
that we are on a journey of transformation,
and it is important to note that Welsh
Government published 'A Healthier Wales' in
May 2018, and that this document responded
to the Parliamentary Review of January 2018.
The direction set out by the Government is
consistent with the direction we have agreed
upon as a County and our local transformation
work is consistent with that which is noted as
best practice.

Five Local Teams have been established within
the older people field, and everyone within the
teams shares the same principles, providing the
individual with a lead person who will facilitate
their journey through the health and care
system.system. The change in the way of
working has meant that staff naturally pursue
"what matters" to individuals as the main driver
for the decisions they make. This way of
working is proving to be highly successful.
This is a huge change, and is based on a

fundamental change in the way we all work.
These are early days, but is evident that this is
the way forward in terms of obtaining the best
results for the people of Gwynedd.

The way we report on measuring our purpose
needs to be reviewed, and this is
acknowledged. Current statistics show that
100% of people assessed who have physical
disabilities are able to achieve what is
important to them.

Although only a small number of cases have
been reported to date it shows encouraging
signs. A task group has been reviewing and
amending the assessment documents; and the
new documentation is being trialled at present.
It will be possible to generate more accurate
reports from the new documents, and
generate detailed information about any needs
that are not being met. This information will
help leaders develop and improve support in

Adults, Health and Social Care Department

Gwynedd Monthly Social Care Reason

Reasons for delay: Community care arrangements Community care assessment

30
Page 68



GWYNEDD COUNCIL
Annual Report 2018/19

the local teams and will feed into the
population needs assessment for
commissioning suitable services locally.

Work is also taking place to improve people's
experience when transferring from hospital
back into the community. Our vision for the
future is to strengthen our community teams
in order to improve our ability to respond and
provide support as people transfer from
hospital to the community. The number of
individuals unable to be discharged from
hospital on time because of social reasons has
fallen over the final quarter of the year but we
continue to face a challenge to provide care
services within some communities within the
county.

The development of the Community Resource
Teams (CRT) and the development of home
care plans in the Tywyn and Bethesda areas
have contributed to the reduction. An
experiment on Ogwen Ward, Ysbyty
Gwynedd, which aims to improve the patient
transfer system, although in its infancy, has also
shown interesting and highly positive signs. We
will update you on this experiment in future.

The preventative intervention offer drives the
field of Learning Disabilities, with its focus
being on developing social services. The
performance measure within the Learning
Disabilities Team is naturally developmental,
but it shows a positive performance with 97%
reporting that we had achieved what mattered.
The Team will be considering and developing
its performance measures in future in order to
generate a fuller picture.

We are endeavouring to provide information,
advice and support to people in a simple and
accessible way. The purpose of the new service
is to provide accurate and timely information
for the people of Gwynedd about the
resources, contacts and networks available to
them locally.

Work is ongoing to update information to
ensure that the information given to the public
is clear and up to date, and we have also been

working very closely with DEWIS Cymru to
update the website and promote its use. This
website gives information to residents and staff
about the range of services/clubs and activities
happening within their area.

Within the carers field, the North Wales
Regional Partnership Board has created a
strategy that acknowledges the importance of
working in partnership with carers of all ages.
The strategy has led to developing and co-
producing an 'offer' for carers, which includes
the service standards that partners are
committing to deliver. Over the coming
months, we will consider the strategy and
create an action plan to ensure that we commit
in full to the standards and develop considerate
measures against the offer.

The Adults Department has put robust
arrangements in place during the year in order
to ensure expertise and a full understanding of
all the issues involving safeguarding. There has
been a general increase in cases involving
safeguarding issues recently; however, from
discussions with other Authorities within the
region, it is clear that we are all in a similar
situation. In response to the increase in
safeguarding referrals, the Unit has developed
a 'Safeguarding Hub' as a first point of contact
for all Adult Safeguarding before they are
passed on for appropriate intervention. 400
safeguarding enquiries were made during a 12
month period, and 363 enquiries were
completed in seven days (91%).

31
Page 69



GWYNEDD COUNCIL
Annual Report 2018/19

Our adult safeguarding measures suggest a
strong performance yet again in 2018/19.

Gwynedd faces several challenges in the
housing field including an ageing population and
changes in benefits, but opportunities also
exist. Our intention is to ensure that we have
a detailed understanding of the nature of the
demand for housing within our communities in
order to prioritise our efforts to generate the
greatest social benefits.

The Empty Houses Team has had great success
with its 'Grants for first time buyers' scheme.
During 2018-19, the Team received 115
applications for this grant, and has already
approved £1.5 million of the grant to 85 of
these applications. This will assist in housing
almost 200 individuals and families. Since its
inception, the Team has seen an increase in the
number of applications for mortgage deposits,
which are available to help first-time buyers
gain access to the housing market.

There is a high number of empty houses
around the County and the Housing Service
has been working to bring some of these
houses back into use for the residents of
Gwynedd. There are approximately 1300
empty houses across the County. Progress
against the measure has been positive.
PSR/004 Percentage of private sector
dwellings that had lain empty for more
than six months on 1 April and that were
occupied again during the year as a result
of direct action by the local authority. By
the end of this performance period, 61 houses
have come back into use, with 141 people from
Gwynedd being housed.

The Housing Service has been operating in
order to prevent homelessness but also to
provide support for families or individuals who
find themselves homeless. An increase of 35%
was seen in the number of people who present
themselves as homeless or under threat of
becoming homeless over the past five years.
There was substantial increase in the demand
last year, and 768 individuals were provided
with a service. The Unit's performance is
amongst the best in Wales in homelessness
prevention, and supports the emphasis placed
on prevention.

With Government grant funds, the
Homelessness Service has also financed a
project to co-ordinate a service for prison
leavers. One officer in the team takes
responsibility for people who return to
Gwynedd to live following a period of
imprisonment and attempts to identify and
arrange accommodation for them to avoid
homelessness as they are released from prison.
The project has developed a good relationship
with the prisons, the Probation Service, and a
number of other agencies who work with the
individuals. We have supported 120 individuals,
of whom 41% were given accommodation. The
greatest obstacle for the majority of this group
of individuals is the shortage of one-bedroom
properties with support for vulnerable single
people leaving prison.

In responding to this barrier, the service works
jointly with the third sector agency, Cais, to
find property for single, vulnerable people in
the Bangor Area. This scheme being developed
will provide accommodation and intensive
support, with an emphasis on developing the
skills of the person to enable him/her to live
independently.

Another development in the field of
homelessness, is the 'intensive support for
rough sleepers'. The Service collaborates with
North Wales Housing and, with the aid of a
Welsh Government grant, a support officer
has been appointed to encourage people to
work together to help solve their problems,

32
Page 70



GWYNEDD COUNCIL
Annual Report 2018/19

and to support them to move on to stable
accommodation.

To this end, the Department has submitted an
application for funding from Welsh
Government's Innovative Housing Fund, and
has been successful in attracting funds to
develop flexible 'pod' units. These units will
provide homes with support for the most
vulnerable people in our society for whom it is
difficult to find placements. The aim is to
develop four pods for four individuals. Work
will commence early in the new financial year.

The Supporting People programme provides
support for vulnerable people to manage or
retain their tenancy and live independently.
During 2018/19, the programme in Gwynedd
has supported 2,286 people to gain access to
and maintain permanent or temporary
tenancies and prevent homelessness. Due to
the change in legislation and the conditions of
the supporting people grant, more emphasis is
now placed on homelessness prevention by
means of earlier and more creative
intervention. We have developed a drop-in
service in two areas that offers support for
local people before the need for
accommodation or more specialist support is
reached. Since the projects began in 2016, we
have supported 449 young people.

Local Priorities

There is concern about the high number of
houses in multiple occupation (HMOs) in
Bangor, which negatively affect the city's
appearance. There is also concern that the
situation leads to a higher than usual number
of empty homes, resulting in a shrinkage of the
housing market for local residents.
These matters are addressed within the
Housing Strategy for the People of Gwynedd
2019-2024.

It has been suggested that purpose built care
provision needs to be developed in the
Dolgellau and Pen Llŷn areas, and that we can
measure the exact provision required and how
best to fund it by collaborating with others.

This will be addressed in the Re-designing Care
Services project.

This Department's day-to-day work
contributes towards the Gwynedd Well-being
Objectives, ensuring that Gwynedd residents
can:
• Enjoy happy, healthy and safe lives
• Live in quality homes within their

communities.
• Live in a naturally Welsh society.
• Live with dignity and independently for as

long as possible.

33
Page 71



GWYNEDD COUNCIL
Annual Report 2018/19

Children and Supporting Families
Department

In addition to the work that this Department

is doing to deliver the Improvement Priorities

in Part 1, the remainder of the ' day-to-day '

work also contributes to the Council's

ambitions.

I can confirm that practice and performance

throughout the Children's Field is generally

strong. This was confirmed in a Full Inspection

Report by Care Inspectorate Wales on 28

August 2018. The Inspectors noted that 'the

Gwynedd children's services had significant

strengths and they had a committed and strong

workforce'. The Inspectorate identified many

fields for further development, and these fields

are in-keeping with the priorities already

identified in the Council's improvement Plan.

To ensure that services are provided as locally

as possible, three Families First Family Support

Teams will be established in the areas of Arfon,

Meirion and Dwyfor, with Barnardo's leading

the Team in Meirionnydd. The Teams have

family support workers who offer direct

support with the development of parenting

skills and support for young people, as well as

practical support. A Youth Worker will be

attached to each team and will be able to focus

on improving results for young people aged

between 11-25. Families will also be able to

gain access to a wide range of therapeutic and

support services in order to meet their

individual needs. We have also commissioned

'Y Bont' to provide an advocacy service.

The Information, Advice and Support Service

has also been established and it offers a wide

range of information about activities and

organisations within communities that could

meet individuals' needs. This service will be

developed further in future and there are plans

to have Community Connectors as part of the

service.

The Children's Referrals Team is now part of

the above service and, despite the change, it

has maintained their high standards this year

once again through promptly responding to

referrals.

Similarly, the Social Work Teams have offered

prompt support and intervention for children

and their families.

We are very fortunate in Gwynedd that our

Social Work Teams are stable and experienced

and that staff turnover is very low. The

percentage of our staff who are Welsh-

speakers is 84%, and the highest in Wales, and

the rest are keen learners.

As part of the day-to-day work of operational

teams within the department, workers offer

professional support and intervention. In

addition, they have the option to request more

specialist interventions such as those offered

by the Edge of Care Team. The Team became

operational in 2015 and it has been an exciting

34
Page 72



GWYNEDD COUNCIL
Annual Report 2018/19

and important development as we transformed

experiences for children and families. The

purpose of the team is to work intensively with

vulnerable children and families, and children

who are about to be taken into care. The Edge

of Care team shows satisfactory performance

with interventions seemingly having a positive

effect on the lives of children receiving a

service and their families.

The success of collaboration between families

and the team means that several children have

been able to stay at home with their families,

some have been able to return home from

foster and residential care, and it has ensured

that vulnerable foster placements have been

greatly stabilised. Although the number of

looked after children increased during the

team's period of operation, the number of

children in foster or residential placements has

remained stable.

We are statutorily required to establish an IFSS

service (Integrated Family Support Service)

that provides intensive intervention for families

facing difficulties with substance misuse and

domestic violence. We have been providing

this service jointly with Anglesey County

Council. Following a full appraisal, in order to

generate better results for families and avoid

duplication, the service underwent a

restructure during the year. The service is now

provided within our operational teams and the

Edge of Care Team.

At the end of March 2019, we had 247 children

in our care. Compared with the number of

looked after children over a five-year period,

the total has increased from 185 to 247, which

is almost a 27% increase. Nevertheless, the

number of children who are either in

residential or foster placements has remained

consistent or has fallen.

There has been an increase in the number of

looked after children who have been placed at

home with their parents under a Care Order

from the Council, from 12 to 64 over the last

five years.

The profile of the population of looked-after

children has changed, the average cost of

residential placements has increased, and so

has the complexity and profundity of cases.

The lack of more specialist residential

placements is also an enormous challenge for

the Department. The lack of available

residential placements and the increased costs

associated with them is a matter receiving

national and regional attention. The matter

was recently the subject of a discussion by the

Welsh Government Public Accounts

Committee. On a regional level, under the

leadership of the North Wales Heads of

Children's Departments, work is taking place

on a regional feasibility assessment to run a

residential placement jointly, or to look at

options with current providers for children

and young people in north Wales.

Children and young people come into our care

under highly challenging circumstances, but we

are as ambitious for these children as we

would be for our own children. We have

Independent Reviewing Officers (IRO) who

monitor the care plans of each child and young

person we look after, and they assure us as a

12

64

0

50

100

2013/14 2018/19

Children placed at home with
their parents under a

Protection Order to the
Council

35
Page 73



GWYNEDD COUNCIL
Annual Report 2018/19

Council that the interests of the child are

safeguarded throughout their time in care.

Improving the experience of children and

families going through the Safeguarding

procedure is something that the Department

is looking into. Less emphasis is placed on the

timetable set and more on the quality of the

contact the children and young people have

with our officers. This is something that the

inspectorate recently highlighted. Our

Independent Review Officers are looking at the

way they work and the way we can improve

and develop practice.

Our ability as a Council to place children with

foster parents is a key part of the service for

children. We as a Council are extremely

proud of our foster parents, and the Fostering

Team continues to ensure that we have

enough foster parents to meet the needs of

children who cannot reside at home. However,

ensuring the capacity and availability of foster

parents is a challenge. We held several

recruitment drives over the past five years in

an attempt to encourage more people to

become foster parents. On a national level,

again, the lack of fostering placements is being

acknowledged. The Outcomes for Children

Ministerial Advisory Group will publish the

2017-2020 Action Framework which aims to

reduce the number of looked after children,

improve care experiences and outcomes,

provide better support for young people

leaving care, and tackle the care emergency.

As part of the National Fostering Framework,

a detailed work programme is in place to try

to deal with the matter. The regional project

manager leads on the work of analysing the

needs of local authorities, care pathways, the

profile of the care cohort, the outcomes of

court proceedings and placements, the levels

of placement breakdowns in North Wales. On

a local level, work is ongoing to improve the

marketing work to attract foster carers,

improve recruitment and the profile of

Gwynedd as a fostering agent. As corporate

parents, we need to be cognisant of this

challenge and support this work wherever we

can.

One of the highlights for the Department in

2013-18 was witnessing the Hafan y Sêr Short

Respite Unit opening its doors for the first time

in April 2018 to disabled children and young

people. The unit opened in April 2018 and this

new service offers a short respite provision

that gives disabled children and their families

care and support by specialist staff. This

provision addresses the need that families have

expressed to the Derwen Team for some time.

The Unit is located on the Ysgol Hafod Lon site

in Penrhyndeudraeth.

Furthermore, the Children and Supporting

Families Department has a Safeguarding and

Quality Assurance Unit that assures the

Council that our safeguarding arrangements

are robust.

36
Page 74



GWYNEDD COUNCIL
Annual Report 2018/19

The reasons for any slippage in performance

have been challenged and are mostly related to

staff sickness, availability of colleagues from

other statutory bodies, and families' availability.

On the whole, the delay is short (days) and

longer delays have been carefully assessed and

have not led to an unacceptable impact on the

child.

The Department has been successful in

attracting a regional grant to move forward

with the pioneering scheme of 'Safeguarding

Children Effectively'. The plan attempts to

respond to the practice needs of workers in

the challenging field of child protection. In brief,

it has been developed in order to prevent

abuse as effectively as possible, thus leading to

timely decisions in which safeguarding services

can take a step back. The aim is to collaborate

with the University in order to review and

appraise the plan and, if successful, extend it

across the region as a model of good practice.

This Department's day-to-day work

contributes towards the Gwynedd Well-being

Objectives, ensuring that Gwynedd residents

can:

• Enjoy happy, healthy and safe lives

• Live in a naturally Welsh society.

• Live with dignity and independently for

as long as possible.

37
Page 75



GWYNEDD COUNCIL
Annual Report 2018/19

In addition to the work that this Department

is doing to deliver the Improvement Priorities

in Part 1, the remainder of the ' day-to-day '

work also contributes to the Council's

ambitions.

Developing Gwynedd’s Economy

Gwynedd's economy is performing

fairly well at a Wales level but not in

comparison with other regions of Britain and

Europe. Wage levels in Gwynedd are much

lower than in other parts of Wales and the

productivity value of Gwynedd businesses is

low compared to other areas. It is therefore

important that Gwynedd Council takes

proactive measures to create the conditions

that enable businesses to grow and stimulate

economic growth at a time of economic

uncertainty as Britain leaves the European

Union.

We are working to target the highly paid

sectors by creating the conditions that support

new businesses and that grow existing

businesses. During 2018/19, 57 high value jobs

(with salaries of £26,500 or more) have been

created, the most over the past four years, and

29 jobs have been safeguarded as a direct

result of our activities. We have worked with

partners by leading on the STEM North

project, securing £1.9 million to coordinate the

STEM extra curricular provision for pupils, in

order to secure a local workforce that will be

able to capitalise on development that will lead

to high value jobs.

During 2018/19, £14.1 million in grant funding or

joint funding was brought into the County, the

highest in the last five years.

Rental income levels have increased as the

Council's industrial / enterprise spaces are 96%

full. There is still demand for empty units

across the County, and there is a shortage of

spaces for businesses that wish to expand or

move into the area.

During 2018/19, 213 businesses were given

support. This is a fall on previous years, as a

result of a more restrictive definition of the

measure.

Economy and Community Department

Number of high value jobs created

Funding or co-financing brought into the County

38
Page 76



GWYNEDD COUNCIL
Annual Report 2018/19

The Department acted on 202 business

enquiries over the year. The number has fallen

compared with previous years due to a lack of

financial support schemes.

As part of the work to regenerate Caernarfon

town centre to improve quality, visitors'

experience of the area, and the appearance of

the town, two strategic regeneration schemes

were completed: Ffestiniog Railway building

and the Galeri2 Scheme.

The tourism industry is a key employer in

Gwynedd. With an economic value of nearly

£1billion, over 15,000 people work in this

sector. During the year, the new Snowdonia

Mountains and Coast website was completed,

and this attracted over 1 million visitors, an

increase of 29,000 on the previous year.

Funding from Visit Wales was secured to fund

activities to promote the Coast Path outside

the main visitor season, jointly with Ceredigion

and Pembrokeshire.

The Department manages 301km of the

Gwynedd coastline, concentrating on eight

blue flag beaches, four harbours and two

marinas. During the year, attention was given

to reviewing the management arrangements

for the marina and harbour for the future and

to programme detailed dredging work at

Pwllheli Harbour.

Supporting Strong and Healthy
Communities

Area Regeneration Officers continue to

support voluntary groups and local enterprises

to respond to local opportunities and needs.

65 projects were supported to develop a new

service or to safeguard access to a service in

2018/19. Over £500,000 of match funding was

invested in Cist Gwynedd projects.

The Libraries Service has continued to ensure

that the people of Gwynedd have access to

support, resources and information, with over

300,000 people visiting Gwynedd Libraries

during the year. 96% of users reported that

they were satisfied with the service they

received. A new self service system was

introduced in libraries in 2018/19 and 2,422

Gwynedd children participated in the Summer

Reading Challenge; a total of 46,851 children's

books were read during the period.

The Council continues to maintain galleries,

museums and archives in Gwynedd, with

almost 60,000 visitors to the galleries and

museums in 2018/19. Neuadd Buddug closed in

December 2018 and transferred to the Derek

Williams Theatre, which is the new centre at

Ysgol Godre'r Berwyn. A national campaign,

Explore Your Archive, was launched at the

Caernarfon Record Office. Many people

reported that their experience of visiting the

record office was good and 94% were satisfied

with the service.

Businesses receiving support

People visiting Gwynedd libraries

39
Page 77



GWYNEDD COUNCIL
Annual Report 2018/19

Our Youth Service was remodelled during the

year and the new structure is now in place. The

service in its new form offers a range of

activities including engagement work,

volunteering in the community, cookery skills

and sports.

The department is responsible for a network

of 12 Healthy Living Centres, with 89% of

customers expressing satisfaction with the

service in 2018/19. Intensive work was carried

out during the year to establish the Byw'n Iach

Cyf. company and on 1 April 2019,

management of the centres was transferred to

the new company through agreement.

The Department organises and supports a

range of sports activities in schools, the

community and outdoors including Active

Family, triathlon, squash and badminton

sessions. The Future Leaders scheme proved

a success this year, with many gaining

volunteering prizes during the year.

The Exercise Referral team supports Gwynedd

residents to improve their health, with 65%

reporting that their quality of life has improved

after receiving the support, and 80% saw an

increase in their fitness level.

Local Priorities - The Council's Plan

One of the local priorities noted in the

Council's Plan is the desire to attract more

long term, highly paid jobs to the areas of

Porthmadog, Ffestiniog and Penllyn; the

Creating High Value Jobs project developed

new opportunities in Trawsfynydd and

Llanbedr that will benefit those communities.

Improving the poor connectivity of mobile

phones and broadband in the Dolgellau area is

another local priority. We are pressing on

Welsh Government to prioritise the County

for plans in the field, thus adhering to the

principles of Digital Gwynedd.

New financial assistance packages for local

businesses were launched during the year.

These are the Penygroes and Bethesda Interest

Free Loans Fund, and the Bangor City Centre

Regeneration and Investment Fund, which

respond to the local priorities for the

regeneration of the areas of Dyffryn Ogwen,

Dyffryn Nantlle and Bangor. During the year,

four empty properties have been returned to

use after receiving support.

Because of concerns around the future of the

Ffestiniog Community Centre, the

regeneration team recently conducted a

review of public buildings throughout

Gwynedd. This review showed that public

buildings in Blaenau Ffestiniog, including the

Community Centre, were used ineffectively

and this identified an opportunity to improve

resource sharing in future.

This Department's day-to-day work

contributes towards the Gwynedd Well-being

Objectives, ensuring that Gwynedd residents

can:

• Enjoy happy, healthy and safe lives.

• Earn a sufficient salary to be able to

support ourselves and our families.

• Live in quality homes within their

communities.

• Live in a naturally Welsh society.

• Make the most of the beauty of the
county's natural environment.

40
Page 78



GWYNEDD COUNCIL
Annual Report 2018/19

Street Cleaning

Maintaining a high quality local environment and the

appearance of streets and public places is important

to the residents of Gwynedd. In terms of the local
environment, it is very important that our streets

are clean and safe. The Cleanliness and Street

Appearance Measure this year to date was at 74.1%
which showed an improvement on the end of year
performance for 2017/18 (71.95%).

Keep Wales Tidy carries out a
survey to asses how many

'defects' such as rubbish, weeds,

dog fouling, chewing gum and
cigarette stumps can be found

on our streets. According to

the independent survey, the

cleanliness and appearance of Gwynedd streets
continues to be of a good standard, and it appears

that a recent improvement in behaviour is likely to
prevent untidiness.

Roads

It is important that businesses and residents are able

to move safely and with ease within the county and,

in order to ensure this, the Council ensures the

upkeep of 2,697km of county roads and 199km of
Trunk Roads (highways of national importance) on

behalf of Welsh Government. At present, our

highways in Gwynedd, the Class A and B roads, are

in a good condition and fewer than 4% are defective
and need attention. Due to a reduction in the funds

available for Local Government, it has been more

difficult for us to maintain the class C and
unclassified roads to the same standard.

As a result of the financial pressures on the

Council, further pressures on the Council's road

maintenance budgets are inevitable, and preventing

the deterioration in the quality of our roads,

particularly the lower priority roads, the Class C

and unclassified roads, will be a challenge.

Whilst the condition remains stable, with 14.5%
deficient and in need of attention, our reduced

budget will make it difficult to maintain our current
performance.

Waste

It is vital that we deal with waste appropriately in
order to protect our environment and avoid
creating problems for future generations.

By the end of 2018/19, 63.3% of waste from
Gwynedd homes was recycled, reused or

composted, which is an increase of 8% in the rate
since 2014/15.

Through the commitment of the county’s residents

and businesses to reducing

their over-dependence on
the disposal of waste to

landfill, this change in the

system has been crucial in
improving our performance.

The County's businesses

have also contributed to improvements and, by the
end of 2018/19, 48% of commercial waste had been

composted or recycled, which is a substantial
increase compared with 35.45% in 2014/15.

It also matters to the people of Gwynedd that their

waste is collected when we say we will collect it.

During 2018/19, we made a total of 4,556,708 refuse
collections, and we received 12,314 complaints

about missed collections (or 0.27%). Some of these

failures were due to severe weather and others
because of shortcomings on our part. In order to

improve the service we provide the people of

Gwynedd, we have been reviewing our work

practices. The changes will gradually come into force
in 2019/20.

Highways and Municipal Department

3.50% 3.10% 3.50% 3.20% 3.30%

3.70% 3.40% 3.90% 3.80% 3.80%

14.20%
15.80% 15.20% 14.10% 14.50%

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Percentage of principal roads in poor condition

A B C

41
Page 79



GWYNEDD COUNCIL
Annual Report 2018/19

The performance measure for the percentage of

urban waste sent to landfill was lower in 2018/19 at

18%, compared with 43.33% in 2014/15. This

improvement could be attributed to the fact that
more residual waste had been treated through the

incineration process and, consequently, had not

been sent to landfill.

Street Lighting

We continue to fix street lights promptly and it

takes two and a half days on average - a figure that
has remained broadly constant over the past five

years.

As part of the Council's "invest

to save" programme, our
substantial programme to change

street lights to LED has been

implemented over recent years.

During 2018/19, 1,680 street
light units and LED signs were

changed and, since 2015/16, we

have changed over 10,000 street
lights and signs to LED

technology. As a result of these

changes, it is anticipated that we

will save £260,000 a year and will reduce carbon

emissions (414 CO2). A new three year

programme to change the remaining lights to LED

will begin in April 2019 and we will save £185,000
and will reduce carbon emissions (572 CO2).

Public Toilets

There are 62 public toilets in the County, together
with 35 community toilets in places such as cafés,

pubs etc, and 17 public toilets owned by Snowdonia
National Park Authority.

As with other counties throughout Wales,

Gwynedd has faced a period of substantial budgetary
cuts, which has meant finding savings in the public

toilets' expenditure over recent years. But through

collaborating with community and town councils

and community groups, we have been able to
maintain a high number of toilets for public use in

Gwynedd. We have also created a Public Toilet

strategy which is a statutory requirement on all
authorities, this work was completed very recently.

Local Priorities

In response to complaints about mess and rubbish

falling from/being left by refuse and recycling

collection vehicles, a number of steps have been put
in place over the past year to try to improve the

situation. This includes using Romaquip vehicles

rather than Kerbside vehicles, which means that no

tipping takes place above the height of the vehicles
and they are, therefore, safer for the workforce.

Using these new vehicles also means a reduction in

the number of materials falling from the vehicles as
materials are not stored freely when moving from

property to property, which leads to greater

organisation when serving the cartgylchu. Over the

coming year, we will continue to respond to our
residents' concerns and ensure an improvement in
the situation by focusing on the smaller vehicles.

In 2018/19, we continued to collaborate on the

Delwedd Bangor project which is a partnership

comprising of representatives from the City

Council, BID Bangor, Bangor University and several
other organisations, and this work is proceeding

well. The group's main focus is to improve the City's

image. We will learn from this work in Bangor and
will then introduce it in other areas. We also work

with a group in Dyffryn Nantlle to improve the

area's appearance. We will learn from our

experiences of working with Bangor project as we
continue with this work.

55.25

58.7
62.34 60.01

63.335.45

41.44 40.5

44.34

48

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Percentage of urban waste collected by the Local Authority
and prepared for reuse, recycling or composting

Percentage of commercial recycling/composting levels

42
Page 80



GWYNEDD COUNCIL
Annual Report 2018/19

This Department's day-to-day work contributes

towards the Gwynedd Well-being Objectives,
ensuring that Gwynedd residents can:

• Enjoy happy, healthy and safe lives

• Make the most of the beauty of the County's
natural environment

43
Page 81



GWYNEDD COUNCIL
Annual Report 2018/19

The main areas of responsibility of the
Environment Department are Planning, Public
Protection, Transportation and the
Countryside, and the Corporate Property
Service.

Planning

The Planning Service facilitates and manage
sustainable developments for the benefit of
communities, the economy and the
environment within the Gwynedd planning
authority area (which does not include the
National Park area), with 90% of the service's
customers being satisfied with the service.

Of those who are unsatisfied, the observations
received state dissatisfaction with
arrangements to contact the service, with
communication difficulties noted in the
observations received by happy, as well as
unhappy customers. The service will work to
improve the situation in 2019/20.

In 2018/19, on average, planning applications
took 63 days to be determined by an officer,
with applications determined by a Committee
taking 149 days, on average to receive a
decision. The performance reflects the fact
that applications that are submitted to the
Committee tend to be complex or contentious
applications, and it is not unusual for decisions
to be deferred in order to provide an
opportunity to receive more information or to
hold discussions.

Affordable housing is a matter of priority for
the Council, with 48% of the housing approved
through the planning system in 2018/19 being
affordable housing, either through a 106
agreement or because they are housing built by
registered social landlords. This figure is an
increase of the 38% recorded in 2017/18, and
it is still higher than the highest target in the
Joint Local Development Plan, namely that
developments include 30% affordable housing.
This means that the Planning Service
contributes directly towards the affordable
housing provision in Gwynedd in a significant
way.

The Planning Service also deals with planning
enforcement, by taking enforcement action on
developments that have not been given
planning permission. In 2018-19, they dealt
with approximately 218 cases. For 2018-19,
61% of cases were investigated, which took 37
days, on average, to do so. During the year, 40
cases that required remedial action were
recorded, with 35% completing remedial
action and the other 65% under way. The
process of taking enforcement action is lengthy
due to the nature of investigation
requirements, statutory requirements and
legal processes, but it should be noted that a
satisfactory solution to the case is often more
important to the customer than the time it
took to deliver on it.

Environment Department

85

90

95

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Percentage of Customers who said
they were satisfied or very satisfied
with the level of service from the

Planning Unit 11%

6%

27%

42%

62%

52%

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

2017/18

2018/19

Percentage of Affordable Housing

Affordable Housing - Section 106

Affordable Housing

Housing

44
Page 82



GWYNEDD COUNCIL
Annual Report 2018/19

Food Hygiene

99.19% of Gwynedd food
establishments roughly
comply with food hygiene
standards, namely 2,071

out of 2,088 establishments.

Over the last few years, the Public Protection
Service has found it very difficult to cope with
the number of required inspections, and
additional resources had to be obtained to
clear the backlog of inspections that had
developed. For 2018/19, there was a backlog
of 17 food hygiene inspections, along with a
backlog of 152 Food Standards inspections.
This backlog is in the low risk food
establishment category, but in July 2018, the
Cabinet resolved to allocate more resources
to the service in order to provide them with
resources to be able to cope with the work,
thus enabling the service to appoint two
additional officers. However, it takes time to
become fully qualified to undertake food
hygiene inspections and, therefore, we will not
see the full impact of the additional resources
for some time.

Otherwise, encouraging performance is seen in
the field of Public Protection with all air
pollution inspections and animal food
organisations being inspected in accordance
with the programme. It was managed to
resolve 698 offences during the year by means
of intervention by the Public Protection service
and another 49 are waiting to be resolved.

Traffic and Street Works

Seeing an order being enforced is
important to the person requesting
traffic orders, and the practice we
had of advertising the number of
applications in one pack has come to
an end as it would often be possible
for one contentious order to hold
back a number of other orders. This change in
the process has led to a reduction in the
average time it takes to put a Traffic Order in
place from 519 to 297 days.

Public Transport

The public transport sector in Gwynedd has
been faced with a turbulent period over the
last few years, with the service having to
respond swiftly to major changes in terms of
available providers in the field. The
Transportation and Countryside Service has
now commenced the work of undertaking a
comprehensive survey of the public transport
network. The Service is collaborating with
Bangor University in order to plan a network
that will be based on social value rather than
cost and the number of passengers. It will also
consider innovative methods
of offering a public transport
network. The review is
expected to be completed by
September 2019, becoming
operational in April 2020.

In the meantime, the service continues to deal
with complaints submitted by the public and
collaborates with the industry to maintain
services that meet the needs of Gwynedd
Residents. The Service is monitoring the
punctuality of bus companies, with 83% of
services arriving on time in 2018/19. Of the
services that were not on time, the majority
had arrived within 5 minutes of the time on the
timetable.

2071 -
99.19% 17 -

0.81%

% of Food Businesses who
Comply

Comply Don't Comply

45
Page 83



GWYNEDD COUNCIL
Annual Report 2018/19

Property

Telecare, or assistive technology, assists with
reducing risks within the home by enabling
vulnerable individuals to live an independent
life. In January 2018, the Council's Property
Service took responsibility for the service of
installing telecare equipment in Gwynedd. The
time it took to install Telecare equipment
decreased from 53 days to 5 days following its
transition under the care of the Property
Service. By becoming more accustomed with
the work, the service has managed to improve
gradually, taking 4.5 days, on average, by the
end of 2018/19.

Carbon emissions

In order to respond to the challenges that arise
from climate change, and ensuring that
Gwynedd communities are prepared for the
future, the Council adopted a Carbon
Management Plan in May 2010. The plan has
been a substantial investment of £3,750,170 in
order to reduce carbon emission activities of
the Council, in addition to contributing
towards the wider aim of a low carbon
Gwynedd.

The nature of such plans is integrally measured
over a long period of time, with small
differences between monitoring periods having
a cumulative impact over a more extensive
period. Since the baseline was established in
2005/06, the Council's carbon emissions have
reduced by 43%, with a further reduction of
4.1% in 2018-19, and this has led to a
cumulative financial saving of £4,062,958 since
the plan was rolled-out.

During 2018/19, the importance of the
successes of the carbon management plan
became apparent as the Council (7/3/19),
Welsh Government (29/4/19) and the
Westminster Government (1/5/19) declared a
climate emergency. The statement means that
the Council intends to take further action and
be innovative as it strives for a zero-carbon
future.

Local Priorities

It was noted there was concern in the
Caernarfon and Dyffryn Ogwen area about the
lack of public car parking for local people. The
residents of the Penllyn area had concerns
about the lack of parking spaces for workers
on Bala Industrial Estate, which have now been
resolved. The department did not succeed in
responding to these concerns in the
Caernarfon and Dyffryn Ogwen areas in 2018,
and we will investigate and consider options to
address the problem.

This Department's day-to-day work
contributes towards the Gwynedd well-being
objectives, ensuring that Gwynedd residents
can:

• Enjoy happy, healthy and safe lives
• Live in quality homes within their

communities
• Take advantage of the natural beauty of

the County

0
10
20
30
40
50

Percentage of reduction in carbon
emissions from Council buildings

46
Page 84



GWYNEDD COUNCIL
Annual Report 2018/19

Ymgynghoriaeth Gwynedd Consultancy
(YGC) operates commercially in the
engineering and construction fields to
secure high quality employment in the
County and generate profit to help the
Council's financial position.

For 2018/19, a profit of £58,744 was
generated, which was above the target set.

The Building Control Unit collaborates
with the public and partners to ensure safe
buildings for our communities that are in
line with the latest technical requirements.
This Unit is responsible for ensuring that
construction work meets building
standards. This is important and valuable
to the people of Gwynedd, as it will ensure
that any building work is safe and is of the
required standard.

The Building Control Unit continues to
provide a good service for residents and
the satisfaction score has remained high
and stable over recent years. In a customer
satisfaction survey in 2018/19, an average
score of 9.6 out of 10 was given. Work is

underway to establish the reason for any
dissatisfcation.

One of the Building Control Unit's duties is
to process applications for Full Plans. The
Unit aims to inspect the plans within 15
days, and release decisions on the
applications as soon as possible. During
2018/19, it took 16 days on average to
check applications for full plans (initial
decision), which is the same number of
days as in 2017/18. However, this is one
day more than the 15 day target.

As with other coastal areas in Wales, some
coastal areas in Gwynedd are at higher risk
of flooding. We collaborate with our local
and regional partners to identify and
reduce Flood Risk to Gwynedd
communities.

During 2018/19 the Unit
attracted grant funding to
undertake case studies on
how the risk of flooding
could be reduced in the
Aberdyfi area; Barmouth: Y Felinheli; Hirael
Bay, Bangor; Tremadog; and Rhostryfan.
Furthermore, improvements were made
during the year in Llanberis; Borth-y-gest;
Abererch; Tal y Bont; and Pwllheli. Over
the past year, 176 residential properties
have benefited directly in relation to flood
risk, thanks to grant funded improvements.

Ymgynghoriaeth Gwynedd Consultancy (YGC)

Department

£21,256

(£34,118)

£95,619
£81,695

£58,744

(£40,000)

(£20,000)

£0

£20,000

£40,000

£60,000

£80,000

£100,000

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Profit againstTarget

15.2
17.2

19
16.1

16.6

0

10

20

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Average number of days taken to
check full plans application (first

decision)

47
Page 85



GWYNEDD COUNCIL
Annual Report 2018/19

The Council cannot fight nature at every
turn, of course, and we continue in our
endeavours to assist the residents of Y
Friog to plan for the future, where the
forces of nature will inevitably defeat us.

We continue to collaborate with the public
sector, and other bodies, by raising
awareness of flood risk and coastal erosion.

During 2018/19, we completed work on
inspecting the condition of our assets and
on ensuring that these assessments remain
current. This first inspection showed that
three out of 183 of our assets require
urgent attention, and a further 21 will
require attention before long. These assets
will be attended to over the coming years.

This Department's day-to-day work
contributes towards the Gwynedd
Well-being Objectives, ensuring that
Gwynedd residents can:

• Enjoy happy, healthy and safe lives
• Live in quality homes within their

communities
• Benefit from the beauty of the

County's natural environment.

48
Page 86



GWYNEDD COUNCIL
Annual Report 2018/19

The Finance Department ensures the
appropriate support for the Council in
managing, safeguarding and developing its
financial position in addition to providing
services, such as collecting revenue and paying
benefits, in a fair manner. The Council's
Information Technology services are also part
of the Finance Department and they offer high
quality technical guidance and support which
promotes the Council's basic values.

Financial Management and Savings

Since 2015, the Council's budget has reduced,
with a total of £25 million of savings having
been realised over the past four years. This
means that the Finance Department's financial
management work and responsible support is
an asset to the Council's departments when
achieving for the people of Gwynedd at a
financially difficult time. Through conscientious
financial management, the Department has
helped the Council manage to keep within its
budget every year between 2015/16 and
2018/19.

In the financial climate where the Council is
required to reduce its budgets every year due
to continuous restrictions on public
expenditure, as well as reliable financial
estimates and accurate and fair accounts, the
Finance department is responsible for the
Council's robust arrangements to ensure that
all departments realise what is expected of
them.

The latest information shows that 96% of
schemes programmed for delivery by the end
of 2018/19 have been realised, a value of £23
million in savings. In terms of 2018/19 schemes,
73% of the £2.5 million of planned savings have
been realised during the year and it is expected
that 1 scheme will be delivered on time and
that seven schemes will slip.

The rest of the Finance Department's support
units are performing well, with the measures
used showing that the performance is
maintained or improved. The satisfaction of
other departments with the services of the
Department remains high, which gives
assurance that high quality support is provided.

Internal Audit

The Council's Internal Audit service gives
confidence to the citizen and the Council on
the Council’s control environment and
governance arrangements through
independent and objective reporting to the
Head of Finance and the Audit and Governance
Committee.

During 2018/19, the service undertook 58
audits, with the majority either being awarded
a 'high' or 'adequate' assurance level, but 6
inspections received a 'limited' opinion.

In addition to the Internal Audit work, the
service has offered an internal audit service to
67 town and community councils in Gwynedd
and Anglesey. Very positive observations were
received from the councils that collaborated
with the Service, which in turn has led to
invitations to fulfil the same role again.

Finance and Information Technology

Department

49
Page 87



GWYNEDD COUNCIL
Annual Report 2018/19

The Auditor General for Wales used the
Gwynedd Internal Audit report on Holyhead
Town Council as an example of good practice,
and CIPFA also referred to the innovation of
Gwynedd Internal Audit in a leading document,
which is another sign of the high standard
service provision.

Pensions

The Pensions Service administrates the Local
Government Pension Scheme on behalf of over
40 employers, including Gwynedd, Anglesey
and Conwy councils. The service focuses on
operating accurately and promptly on behalf of
its members. During 2018/19, service
performance slowed down slightly, taking 4.64
working days to send a letter informing
individuals of the value of their retirement
benefits but, on the whole, the general
performance of the service was stable when
dealing with considerable staff turnover.
However, the performance is a substantial
improvement from the 9.5 days that was
recorded for 2015/16. The work of improving
systems and communication with other
organisations that are part of the Gwynedd
Pension Fund is coming to fruition in order to
automate the task of gathering the required
information earlier and ensuring that
information about scheme members is up to
date.

Taxes

On 1 April 2018, the 50% Premium came into
force on the Council Tax of second homes and
long-term empty properties. This resulted in
additional work pressures on the service in
dealing with enquiries, and a small reduction
was seen in the Council Tax collection rate
during the year (96.65% in 2018/19 compared
to 97.13% in 2017/18). Despite the reduction
in the collection rate during the year, the vast
majority of the money that is due continues to
be collected eventually.

Benefits

2018/19 was a transitional year with the
DWP's Universal Credit commencing in
Gwynedd in December 2018. The impact of
Universal Credit on work to process Housing
Benefit and Council Tax Reductions will
increase in 2019/20. In 2018/19, the average
time taken to process a new benefit application
was 19.62 days, and 5.51 days to process a
change in circumstances, compared to 18.51
and 5.65 days in 2017/18. We continue to
compare favourable with the latest national
processing figures of 20 and 8 days, which were
published by the DWP.

Income

The Income service processes cash receipts
and collects the Council’s debts promptly and
efficiently. The service had managed to collect
94.64% of invoices raised by the Council in
2018/19, and service performance has
gradually improved during 2018/19, with a
prompt collection rate of 88.86% of various
debts by the end of the year, compared to a

97.2 97.29 97.35
97.13

96.65

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

COUNCIL TAX
COLLECTION RATE

50
Page 88



GWYNEDD COUNCIL
Annual Report 2018/19

rate of 86.47% at the beginning of the year.
However, the Income service deals sensitively
with the circumstances of debtors by agreeing
on a payment arrangement with some debtors.

Information Technology

The Information Technology (IT) service
provides and supports technology of all kinds
to help the people of Gwynedd to gain easy
access to the Council's information and
services, and for staff to work efficiently.

The Council's current IT Strategy was adopted
in 2016 and implementing the strategy has
enabled the service to develop and pioneer
when providing support for the Council. The
work of developing the new strategy is in hand
and it will be completed by the end of autumn
2019/20.

A clear change that has derived from the
strategy is developing online services,
especially self-service to gain access to Council
services. Some services were already available
on the Council's website, but in November
2017 the digital channel was re-launched by
introducing more services and strengthening
provision to track the status of service
applications. A further development was seen
in July 2018 with the "Gwynedd app" being
launched for Apple and Android devices which
is going from strength to strength. The "app"
has now been downloaded 902 times and has
more than doubled in numbers between
January and May 2019.

Technical provision is coming closer to the
grass roots and as part of analysis work for the

digital channel, mobile apps were introduced
to a number of officers who offer direct
services for the public. Waste technicians
mainly use this provision. The technology
enables them to act on applications sooner and
that up-to-date information is available to be
shared directly with Gwynedd residents. It is
anticipated that provision will be extended to
more Council services in future.

One of the priorities of the IT service is to
ensure that the Council's website is available to
the public, and that the Council's network is
available to its staff. The service's performance
on these aspects have been consistent, with
the network available 99.97% of the time in
2018/19. The Council was faced with a major
incident in summer 2018 which led to Council
systems being unavailable for a period of time,
but it was managed to restore high priority
systems swiftly, with the remainder being
restored over the following days. A number of
changes were made following the incident in
order to strengthen the resilience of the
provision to ensure that no such incident
occurs in future. Although the situation has
substantially improved, a few actions are still
required in order to complete the changes, of
which will conclude in Q3 2019/20.

85 90 95 100 105

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

2017/18

2018/19

Council Website Availability

91

92

93

94

95

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Rate of various debt collection
within the quarter - Value (%)

51
Page 89



GWYNEDD COUNCIL
Annual Report 2018/19

In addition to the work that this

Department is doing to deliver the

Improvement Priorities in Part 1, the

remainder of the ' day-to-day ' work also

contributes to the Council's ambitions.

Customer Contact

2018/19 was a successful year in increasing

the number of services available to

Gwynedd residents through on-line self

service. It is now possible for Gwynedd

residents to access an increasing number of

services at a convenient time for them, 24

hours a day, 7 days a week. It also provides

a more cost effective way of contacting the

Council for a service.

Gwynedd residents and businesses can now

get in touch about 17 matters relating to

highways, ordering and paying for a parking

ticket, paying for school meals, and creating

a self-service business account. We have

also launched a mobile phone app that gives

residents a greater choice arbound how and

when to ask for services. During the year,

9,129 residents have opened new self-

service accounts.

We provide a prompt

telephone service through

Galw Gwynedd, which has

improved since the previous

year.

However, we are aware that there is room

for further improvement, as only 55% of

residents who contacted Galw Gwynedd

gave 10 out of 10 for the service provided.

An increasing number of Gwynedd

residents now choose to contact the

Council via electronic means. In 2018/19,

the Council's website received 2,178,222

individual visits. Only 277 (0.01%) of these

visitors submitted a complaint or a negative

comment about the website. The vast

majority were addressed promptly and in

ways that resolved the problem, and 72% of

these were resolved within three working

days.

Communication

Holding a two way dialogue with the people

of Gwynedd in order to share information

about the Council's services and to hear our

residents' opinion about those services is a

priority. In 2018/19, 5,960 of the people of

Gwynedd responded to all the Council's

corporate public consultations, and specific

focus was placed on ensuring that the

Council listened to the voices of specific

groups such as young people, the LGBT+

community, ethnic minorities, refugees and

adults with learning disabilities.

Corporate Support Department

52
Page 90



GWYNEDD COUNCIL
Annual Report 2018/19

Registering Births, Deaths and

Marriages

The service's performance was maintained

with 93% registrations of death being made

within five days, which exceeds the

Government's expectations by 90%.

In February 2018, the General Register

Office conducted an investigation that

noted the need to pay attention to 12 action

points. Following another inspection 12

months later, it was recognised that 11 of

the 12 action points had been addressed.

Council Business Support

During the year, our

arrangements to assess the

impact of equality when

creating policies and

implementing them were

improved. The Gwynedd

and Anglesey Public

Services Board Well-being

Plan was published in June

2018, which outlines six fields of priority on

which the Board members will collaborate

in order to ensure the best services for the

residents of both counties. Further research

work is needed before many of the plans can

be developed, but we will continue to

contribute to those plans in 2019/20.

Language Unit

We as a Council have used

lessons learnt over the past

five years and more recently

to create a 'Welsh Language

Promotion Plan for Gwynedd

2018-2023'.

During this past year we have also

developed a closer working relationship

with the rest of Wales' Mentrau Iaith, in

order to strengthen our own mentrau iaith,

which are Hunaniaith

and Menter Iaith

Bangor. We place

great importance on

equipping others to

offer a Welsh medium

provision, rather than

supplying our own

direct provision.

Information Management

We are acutely aware that the information

we hold about people and resources

constitutes sensitive and valuable data.

One incident had to be reported to the

Information Commissioner because of its

gravity, but formal proceedings will not be

taken against us as appropriate procedures

are in place.

Number of information breaches where

information about an individual has been

stolen/lost/sent to the wrong address

Our priority for the future, of course, will

be to ensure that every member of staff has

received training on how to protect data,

including providing repeat training according

to need, so that similar incidents do not

occur in future.

During the year, the number of applications

from individuals wishing to see information

about themselves (data protection

53
Page 91



GWYNEDD COUNCIL
Annual Report 2018/19

requests) has more than doubled to 59. As

we cannot prioritise our budget in order to

employ staff or redeploy them in order to

respond to this increase, we have lived with

the fact that 75% of these requests were

answered within the expected time of one

calendar month.

Additionally, 1,155 freedom of information

requests were made during the year.

During 2018/19, several

research projects were

undertaken, which have

either contributed to

developing policies or to

improving internal

procedures. They include the research on

New Housing Developments, which is a

comprehensive piece of work in which

residents of new houses across Gwynedd

were asked their reasons for moving, where

they previously lived, language spoken, etc.,

and the chain was then followed to the

houses from which they moved. A working

group is currently analysing the results, but

it will certainly be able to contribute to the

work and policies of our housing and

planning units in future.

Purchasing

In addition to the work on the 'Keeping the

Benefit Local' Improvement Priority, the

Procurement Service also collaborated with

departments across the Council in order to

establish contracts and arrangements that

have given them the opportunity to save

money. In 2018/19, opportunities were

identified to save a total of £239,280.

Democracy and Translation

The purpose of the

Democracy Service is to

support Councillors in order

that they can make decisions

and act in the interest of the

residents of Gwynedd. For the 2018/19

period, the percentage of committee

agendas published within the timetable (at

least five working days before the meeting)

increased to 97% in 2018/19, compared

with 95% in 2017/18.

The standard of the work produced by the

Translation Unit remains excellent in all

respects, with 28 of the 29 satisfaction

questionnaires completed scoring the

written translation service a 5 out of 5.

Human Resources Support

In August 2018, the Council reached a

collective agreement with the labour unions

on a package of changes to working

conditions. One of the commitments that

emerged as a result of that process was to

strengthen the relationship between the

labour unions and the Council in general.

Since then, and further to the monthly

meetings that had already been established

with the Corporate Human Resources

Service; the Adults, Health and Well-being

Department; and the Highways and

Municipal Department also hold regular

discussions with union representatives on

matters relating to their services.

We are delighted that the changes made in

2018/19 have meant that minimum wage at

the Council will increase to £9.18 per hour

86%
87%

89%

83%

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Percentage of Freedom of
Information Requests replied

to within 20 working days

54
Page 92



GWYNEDD COUNCIL
Annual Report 2018/19

from April 2019 onwards. This compares

with £8.21 for the National Living Wage and

the £9.00 per hour recognised as the Real

Living Wage by the Living Wage Foundation.

This is the first time this Council has

reached the aim of paying a minimum wage

that is higher than what the Living Wage

Foundation recognises to be a Living Wage.

Although we saw an increase in the number

of sick days per staff member during

2018/19 compared with the previous year,

we continue to be among the Councils with

the lowest level of sickness absence.

The Support Service provides

administrative assistance to the Council's

staff. In 2018/19, an electronic module was

developed in order to introduce on-line

access through the Self Service system so

that Managers and Staff could check staff

members' criminal records (DBS). Further

work is needed before we can say that the

new electronic system has fully eliminated

paper bureauocracy, and one important

step that is being awaited is for the Language

Commissioner to look at ensuring the

system's bilingual administration.

On contacting applicants for jobs with the

Council to ask their opinion about the

application process, the response showed

100% satisfaction with the service. Behind

this result is a great deal of work that was

carried out during the year in order to

tighten the processes of inputting

information and save staff time.

Organisational Learning and

Development

The Organisational

Learning and Development

service provides a learning

and development service

for the Council's staff. The

most exciting

development this year was

the establishment of our Apprenticeships

Scheme, and three apprentices have now been

appointed. The Plan will be further extended in

2019/20 in the hope of increasing this number

to 20.

Health and Safety

During the year, there was an increase in the

number of accidents the Council was required

to report on under the Reporting of Injuries,

Diseases or Dangerous Occurences Regulations

(RIDDOR).

In order to ensure that our health and safety

procedures are as robust as they can be, the

Unit continues to run a programme of

inspections and assesses any weaknesses that

exist in individual departments and discusses

those weaknesses with the relevant heads.

Local Priority

Looking into the possibility of collaborating

with Partneriaeth Penllyn in order to

transfer responsibility for resources within

the community to enable them to use

44
42 43

50

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Number of RIDDOR reported
accidents

55
Page 93



GWYNEDD COUNCIL
Annual Report 2018/19

income to maintain local services had been

identified as a priority in the Penllyn area.

Discussions have been held and these will

continue in order to develop and alternative

model for transferring responsibility for the

resources within the community.

This Department's day-to-day work contributes

towards the Gwynedd Well-being Objectives,

ensuring that Gwynedd residents can:

• Enjoy happy, healthy and safe lives

• Earn a sufficient salary to be able to

support themselves and their families

• Live in a naturally Welsh society.

Legal Services

The Legal Service provides a full legal

service for all the departments within the

Council. In order to generate income, we

also provide the same service for external

clients. We continue to receive

consistently positive feedback, with the

2018/19 customer satisfaction survey

showing that 84% of clients were fully

satisfied (a score of 10 out of 10) with the

service provided. We are further

investigating the reasons why the remaining

16% were not entirely satisfied in order to

see whether we can do something about it.

One common factor that we are aware of is

the need to frequently communicate with

clients so that they know if things are going

to take longer than anticipated. We will

address this issue further during the coming

year.

The service is also responsible

for administrating all elections

in the County. During

2018/19, we have

administrated elections for

three by-elections.

During 2018/19, the annual canvas was held

and completed. By changing our way of

working in order to make greater use of

technology, we hope to increase the

electoral register in areas and within groups

that are less likely to be on the register. We

will assess the success of the experiment in

the coming year.

56
Page 94



Report to Cabinet

Date of Meeting: 25 June 2019
Cabinet Member: Councillor Craig ab Iago
Contact Officer: Arwel Wyn Owen, Assistant Head Housing and Wellbeing

Gareth Parri, Housing Options Team Leader
Contact Telephone 01286 679468
Number: 

Title of Item:  Gwynedd Common Housing Allocations Policy

1. THE DECISION SOUGHT

1.1. Approval of a new Common Housing Allocations Policy of letting social housing 
based on reflecting applicants' needs by placing them in a band rather than allocating 
points.

2. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDING THE DECISION

2.1. The Gwynedd Common Housing Register Partnership was established in 2012 in 
order to establish a common housing register and implement a common housing 
allocations policy for access to social accommodation in Gwynedd. The Housing 
Options Team in Gwynedd Council has the responsibility of administering the register 
on behalf of the partnership. Before 2012 there were 4 separate housing registers 
and 5 different allocation polies which created confusion and was an unsatisfactory 
situation.

2.2 Aspiration by the Gwynedd Common Housing Register Partnership to simplify the 
social housing allocation process through the implementation of a system that is 
easier to understand and to simplify the application process.

2.3 The Partnership decided to commission an independent review of letting 
arrangements and Baltimore Consulting conducted a review during 2018. The review 
included the role of the Housing Options Team in Gwynedd Council as well as the 
lettings departments of Grŵp Cynefin, Cartrefi Cymunedol Gwynedd and North 
Wales Housing.

2.4 One of the main outcomes of the survey was to confirm a recommendation that there 
is a need to improve and simplify the customer journey. The current allocation 
system, which is based on a points scheme, is a complex one and can at times be 
difficult to explain. There was also a desire to respond to some frustrations and to 
look at the emphasis placed on local connection.

3. INTRODUCTION AND RELEVANT CONSIDERATIONS

3.1. It is a statutory requirement, in accordance with section 167 of the Housing Act 1996, 
that all local housing authorities in Wales have a scheme (its housing allocation 
scheme) for determining priorities and the process to be followed in the allocation of 
housing. The Act also directs that reasonable preference must be shown to 
applicants who fall within certain categories.

Page 95

Agenda Item 9



3.2 The Housing Options Team has the responsibility of maintaining the register on 
behalf of the Partnership and the partners' vacant properties will be allocated to 
applicants from the register.

3.3 Section 167 (2) of the Housing Act 1996 states that 'reasonable preference' must be 
given to particular groups of people in the process of assessing housing need. These 
groups are:

 People who are homeless within the meaning of Part 2 of the Housing 
(Wales) Act 2014.

 People who are owed a duty by a local housing authority under sections 66, 
73 or 75 of the 2014 Act.

 People occupying insanitary or overcrowded housing or otherwise living in 
unsatisfactory housing conditions.

 People who need to move on medical or welfare grounds.
 People who need to move to a particular locality in the district of the authority , 

where failure to meet that need would cause hardship to themselves or to 
others.

3.4 Part 6 of the 1996 Act enables housing authorities to use their discretion in framing 
their housing allocation policy in a way so that it will give additional preference to 
families who are in urgent housing need, and that its possible to prioritise between 
applicants on the basis of the following factors:

 financial resources
 the behaviour of the applicant, or that of a member of the household
 an applicant’s connection with the area

3.5 It is recommended that applications for social housing in Gwynedd are placed in one 
of 4 bands, and using the discretion referred to in 3.4 above, the applicant’s 
connection with Gwynedd is central to the bands. There is also provision for reducing 
priority of applicants who have displayed unacceptable behaviour, whether it be anti-
social behaviour or debts with a member of the Partnership. Here are the details of 
the bands:

Band Degree of Housing Need 

a. Applicants in urgent housing need with a Gwynedd connection
1

b. Applicants in urgent housing need (with no Gwynedd connection) 

2 Applicants in housing need with a Gwynedd connection

3 Applicants in housing need with no Gwynedd connection and 
Applicants with reduced priority  

4 Applicants with no housing need but with a Gwynedd connection
 
3.6 The Partnership has been innovative in its desire to try to maximise opportunities for 

local people to have access to social housing. Each band where Gwynedd 
connection applies (namely bands 1a, 2, 3 and 4) will be filtered, first, on the basis of 
5 or more years of residence in the community where the property to be allocated is 
located, and then by date of receipt of the application. Applications with less than 5 
years of contact with the community will then appear, again in order of date of receipt 
of the application. It is anticipated that this will maximise the opportunities for people 
with connections with Gwynedd and the community to be offered social housing.

Page 96



3.7 It is anticipated that the new system will be easier for applicants to follow as each 
application will be placed in a particular band and therefore replaces the current 
system of allocating points which can be complicated. In order to improve the 
customer journey, a facility will be offered to submit an application for housing over 
the web through the Council's website.

3.8 With each new system some applicants will benefit and others get less priority. It is 
anticipated that the changes will mean applications that are in need of housing with a 
Gwynedd connection will generally be with a better chance of being offered a 
tenancy. Such applications, depending on the nature of the need, will appear in 
bands 1a or 2. Those candidates with 5 years or more connection with the 
community in which the property is located will naturally progress to the top of the 
band, again strengthening the local element.

3.9 Applications with less than 5 years Gwynedd connection will appear in bands 1b and 
3 (depending on their housing needs). Also appearing in band 3 will be applications 
that would otherwise appear in a higher band, but because of behaviour or debt are 
being placed in a lower band. If there is an effort to improve behaviour and/or pay the 
debt the application will be elevated back to the original band. The policy also 
includes provision for a panel of professional officers to set a higher priority for some 
applications based on circumstances of the application.

3.10 As part of the consultation on the proposed allocations policy, the Partnership asked 
for views on the legality of the policy by Hugh James, a legal company who 
specialise in the field of social housing. Views were also sought from an expert in the 
field of social housing and homelessness, who is located in North Wales, on the 
practicality of the policy. The comments received have been incorporated in the 
policy in Appendix 1.

3.11 In the consultation process referred to below, the Council had intended to place 
applications with urgent housing needs but without a Gwynedd connection below 
applications with housing need with a Gwynedd connection. The Welsh Government 
raised concerns stating that the Council is opening itself to a challenge. The 
Partnership again asked for legal advice.

3.12 Following receipt of the advice the banding system has been amended to establish a 
policy that addresses Section 167 of the Housing Act 1996 beyond any doubt. Advice 
was given that it is not clear that the original model addressed the legislation and 
may be open to legal challenge. It is anticipated, however, that the real impact of 
implementing the change will be minor, with only 12 applications affected.

4. NEXT STEPS AND TIMETABLE

4.1. On receipt of the Cabinet’s decision, work will commence to prepare for the 
implementation of the policy in its new guise. This will include:

 Informing applicants of the change and the likely impact on them. This is a 
statutory requirement in accordance with the Housing Act 1996. 

 Implement a computer system to administer the applications on the register
 Re-assess each application to determine in which band they will appear
 Implement a communications strategy to communicate the change with 

applicants, stakeholders, Councillors and the general public including 
potential applicants

4.2 It is planned to introduce the new regime during the autumn of 2019.

Page 97



5. ANY CONSULTATIONS UNDERTAKEN BEFORE RECOMMENDING THE 
DECISION

5.1 The Welsh Government’s Code of Guidance on the Allocation of Housing and 
Homelessness recommends a thorough consultation process where a local authority 
intends to make significant changes to its allocation policy. The code suggests 
contacting organisations that represent people with protected characteristics and 
marginal groups.

5.2 General Consultation

5.3 Various statutory and third sector organisations both locally and nationally were 
invited to participate in the consultation. Direct contact was made with those 
organisations to invite them to complete a questionnaire on the Council's website.

5.4 Consultation with Applicants

5.5 In addition, the Code and the law States the need to inform people who are likely to 
be affected by the change, namely the applicants on the housing register. The 
Partnership decided to go a step further and directly contact all applicants inviting 
them to take part in the consultation.

5.6 Each applicant was informed of walk-in sessions held during January/February 2019 
and an opportunity for applicants to obtain more information about the proposed 
changes to the Allocation Policy. Events were held in Dolgellau, Pwllheli and 
Caernarfon. Applicants were encouraged to complete the consultation questionnaire 
on the Council's website and questionnaires are also available in each Siop 
Gwynedd and libraries across the county. A press release was issued to inform about 
the consultation and there were also frequent messages on the Council’s social 
media throughout the consultation period.

5.7 Consultation with Councillors in Gwynedd

5.8 Presentations were held to Gwynedd Councillors in four session during the 
December 2018 round of forums / area committees. The Councillors’ comments 
during those sessions, comments additionally submitted in person, and as part of the 
general consultation have been taken into account before submitting this final draft.

5.9 Numerous comments were submitted as part of the consultation and the Partnership 
has considered all comments. The Partnership has recommended that a number of 
those comments are incorporated in the Allocations Policy. The table below 
summarises:

Comment by Details of the comment that was included in the Policy

Councillor

Move community connection over in cases where there 
is a need for a specialist property that is not available 
in the existing community, but is available in the 
neighbouring community.

Stakeholder

Include some groups of applicants who are owed a 
duty in accordance with section 75 of the Housing 
(Wales) Act 2014 and who are in temporary 
accommodation which is not entirely suitable for them 

Page 98



as being in urgent housing need rather than in housing 
need.

Stakeholder

Include applicants who are homeless because they are 
fleeing violence as being in urgent housing need, but 
included in band 1a even if no they have no Gwynedd 
connection.

5.10 Views of the Statutory Officers:

i. Monitoring Officer:
I am conscious that  the proposed Policy is a collaborative arrangement with other 
social housing providers in the area and the proposed policy has been the subject of 
joint specialist legal advice.  From a propriety perspective the recommendation and 
the policy reflect the advice given.

ii. Statutory Finance Officer:
I understand there will be no financial commitments, over and above the Housing 
Options Team’s existing resources, in endorsing this new policy for the allocation of 
social housing.

5.11 Local Member’s View:

5.11.1 Not a local matter.

5.12 The Result of any Consultation:

5.12.1 The results of the consultation process have been considered as part of the process 
of drafting the final version of the policy. The results of the consultation questionnaire 
(via the Council's website and via paper questionnaires) are shown in Appendix 3.

Appendices:
Appendix 1 – Gwynedd Common Housing Allocation Policy 
Appendix 2 – Equality Impact Assessment
Appendix 3 – Consultation Questionnaire Analysis 

Background Documents:
None.

Page 99



GWYNEDD COMMON HOUSING REGISTER PARTNERSHIP

COMMON HOUSING 
ALLOCATION POLICY

Page 100



Draft for Consultation Published  December 2018

Gwynedd Housing Options 
Cyngor Gwynedd Council
Penrallt
Caernarfon
Gwynedd
LL55 1BN
01286 685100
housingoptions@gwynedd.llyw.cymru  
www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/taicymdeithasol   

Page 101

mailto:housingoptions@gwynedd.llyw.cymru
http://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/taicymdeithasol


Contents

Part 1 Introduction
Introduction 1
Common Housing Register Partnership – Aims and objectives 1
Gwynedd Common Housing Allocation Policy 2
The legal framework 2
Equality and diversity 4
Language 5

Part 2 Applying for Housing
Operation of the Housing Register 6
Housing options 6
The Housing Register - Application process 7
Who can apply? 8
People who are ineligible to join the Housing Register 8
No housing need 8
Transfer applications 8
16 and 17 year-old applicants 8
Armed Forces Covenant 9
Applicants without a fixed address 9
Gypsy and Traveller applicants 9
Documentation required 9
Notification of decision 10
Review of a decision relating to housing application 10
Complaints regarding the service 10
False or misleading information 11
The provision of information to applicants 11
Choice of area and property types 11
Keeping an application up to date 12
Keeping the register up to date – 12 monthly review of application 13
Cancellation of applications and removal from the register 13

Part 3 Prioritising Applicants for Housing
Introduction 14
The Banding Scheme 14
The priority bands 14
Gwynedd connection 15
Urgent housing needs 16
Housing needs 18
No housing need 21
Reduced priority 22
Suspended applications not considered for an allocation 23

Part 4  Letting of Accommodation
The selection of applicants for an offer of a tenancy 25
General needs housing 25

Page 102



Sheltered housing 25
Properties designated for older people and/or people with a 
disability

25

Accessible homes 26
Applicants’ suitability for an allocation 26
Affordability 26
Offer of accommodation 26
Refusing an offer of accommodation 27
Available to let properties 28
Management transfers 28
Local lettings policies 28
Section 106 agreement lettings schemes 29
Sensitive lettings 29

Part 5 Review of a Decision and Review Procedure
The right to have a decision reviewed 30
Operational Group Panel review 30

 
Part 6 Governance Arrangements

The Gwynedd Common Housing Register Strategic Group 32
The Gwynedd Common Housing Register Operational Group 32

Appendices
Appendix 1 – Lettings which do not fall within the scope of the 
scheme

33

Appendix 2 – Ineligible applicants – Persons from abroad 35
Appendix 3 – Ineligible applicants – Unacceptable behaviour 37
Appendix 4 – Household type and bedroom requirements 39
Appendix 5 – Glossary of terms 41

Page 103



1

PART 1 - INTRODUCTION

Introduction 

1.1  Gwynedd Council, Cartrefi Cymunedol Gwynedd, Grŵp Cynefin and North 
Wales Housing have established a partnership called the Gwynedd Common 
Housing Register Partnership (the “Partnership”). 

1.2  The purpose of the Partnership is to have a common housing register with an 
associated common allocation policy, supported by the provision of effective and 
timely information and advice for applicants. 

1.3  This approach means:
 A single point of access for social housing in Gwynedd
 A single, easy to understand allocation scheme for all social lettings in 

Gwynedd
 Applicants being able to make informed choices about the housing options 

available to them to meet their needs
 Allocating our social housing stock in a fair, transparent, consistent and 

accessible way 

Common Housing Register Partnership – Aims and objectives

1.4  This policy document sets out the priorities and procedures for accessing social 
rented housing, agreed by members of the Partnership. This document is called the 
Gwynedd Common Housing Allocation Policy (the Policy).

1.5  The partners are: 
 Gwynedd Council
 Cartrefi Cymunedol Gwynedd
 Grŵp Cynefin
 North Wales Housing 
(referred to as “the Partners” or individually as “a Partner”)

1.6  The Policy described in this document will apply to all social lettings in Gwynedd 
made by the Partners (social lettings are lettings of social housing by the Partners 
but excluding lettings shown in Appendix 1). The key objectives of the policy are that 
it: 

 Helps meet housing need and local housing issues in Gwynedd
 Gives priority to those in greatest housing need and with the strongest 

connection to the area for which they are applying  
 Is easy for applicants and staff to understand 
 Consistently prioritises applicants in similar circumstances 
 Ensures all applicants are considered by all social housing providers with a 

single application  
 Accommodates applicants’ preferences as far as possible   
 Makes best use of housing stock
 Takes into account local circumstances

Page 104



2

 Provides all applicants with advice about all their housing options
 Provides support for applicants to make an application as required 

1.7  Each of the Housing Association partners are Industrial and Provident Societies, 
each of which has charitable aims. The charitable aims of each of the Housing 
Associations require them to accommodate people who require assistance with 
housing and accommodation because of financial hardship (because their financial 
means are so limited that they are not able to obtain accommodation suitable to their 
needs on the open market) or by reason of needs relating to their age or infirmity. 

Gwynedd Common Housing Allocation Policy 

1.8  This Policy meets the requirements set out in Part 6 of the Housing Act 1996 (as 
amended by the Homelessness Act 2002 and the Housing (Wales) Act 2014), giving 
reasonable preference to those applicants in greatest need. Specifically, this policy is 
to be regarded as Gwynedd Council’s allocation scheme in accordance with section 
167(1) of the Housing Act 1996. It also incorporates the key aims and objectives 
outlined in the Gwynedd Local Housing Strategy. 

1.9  The Policy reflects housing need by placing applicants in one of four priority 
bands. Details of how these bands are prioritised can be seen in Part 3 below.

1.10  The Policy also incorporates (as detailed in Part 4 of the policy):
 A Local Letting Scheme
 A Section 106 Letting Scheme
 Sensitive Lets

1.11  The Policy also contains details of governance arrangements (as detailed in 
Part 6 of the policy) to ensure that all partners comply with the rules of the policy and 
that the policy is improved in response to lessons learnt in its implementation and 
that information about letting outcomes is available and published.

The legal framework

1.12  Part 6 of the Housing Act 1996 (“the 1996 Act”), as amended by the 
Homelessness Act 2002 and the Housing (Wales) Act 2014 (‘’the 2014 Act’’), sets 
out the legal framework for the allocation of accommodation by local authorities in 
Wales. 

1.13  The Partnership will ensure that the Policy is fully compliant with relevant 
legislation and regulations. Gwynedd Council will maintain the Housing Register on 
behalf of the Partnership.

1.14  Gwynedd Council has the responsibility to identify housing needs and provision 
within the county. The Planning Policy Wales 2002 and Planning Policy Statement 
(MPPS) 01/2006 state “it is essential that local authorities understand their whole 
housing market and can develop sound approaches to preparing Development Plans 
and local housing strategies”.  The maintaining of the common housing register 
contributes greatly to identifying demand and need for social housing in the county.

Page 105



3

1.15  The Policy is obliged to take, and has taken, account of the provisions of the 
Welsh Government’s “Code of Guidance for Local Authorities on Allocation of 
Accommodation and Homelessness” (March 2016 issue).

1.16  Under section 50 of the 2014 Act, and paragraph 3.8 of the Code, Gwynedd 
Council (“the Council”) declares that the Policy is consistent with its homelessness 
strategy as a whole. 

1.17  The Policy has also taken account of the Delivery Outcomes for Housing 
Associations in Wales, particularly in relation to the following: 

 We engage with others to enhance and maximise outcomes for our service 
users and the community

 We let our homes in a fair, transparent and effective way

1.18  This Policy recognises the need to achieve a balance in allocating housing 
between the needs and preferences of applicants, the wellbeing of existing tenants 
and the community as a whole, and the need to make best use of a publicly funded 
resource.

1.19  This Policy determines the Partnership’s priorities and the procedures to be 
followed in selecting households to be accommodated by the housing association 
members of the Partnership.  “Procedure” includes all aspects of the allocation 
process, including the people, or descriptions of people, by whom decisions are 
taken (in accordance with section 167 of the 1996 Act).

1.20  The Act requires a published summary of the allocations policy to be available 
free of charge on request. The Policy is available for inspection from any of the 
partners and on their respective websites. 

1.21  The Policy will be reviewed annually whilst also taking into consideration any 
changes in the legal framework provided by the UK and Welsh Government within 
that year or to respond to any case law that affects the operation of the Policy. 

1.22  In framing the Policy the Partnership will also ensure that the policies and 
procedures adopted are compatible with obligations imposed on them by other 
existing legislation, in addition to Part 6 of the 1996 Act, including, but not limited to: 

 Welsh Language Act 1993 (as amended by the Welsh Language (Wales) 
Measures 2011)

 Human Rights Act 1998 
 Freedom of Information Act 2000 
 Equality Act 2010
 Welfare Reform Act 2012
 Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014
 Housing (Wales) Act 2014
 Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015
 Renting Homes (Wales) Act 2016
 Housing Acts 1985, 1988 and 1996
 Data Protection Act 2018 and the European Union’s GDPR (General Data 

Processing Regulations)

Page 106



4

 Children Act 2004 (specifically section 11)
 Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014

Equality and diversity

1.23  All members of the Partnership believe that strong communities thrive and 
prosper if individuals and groups are treated fairly, with respect, and given access to 
rights and services. The Partnership’s aim is to create an environment where this is 
possible and to put equality and diversity at the heart of everything that they do. 

1.24  The Partnership will promote equality and diversity by: 
 Building values of mutual respect where individuals have a sense of belonging 

and where individuals are encouraged to participate and gain full access to 
services to which they are entitled. 

 Recognising that some individuals and certain communities are particularly 
disadvantaged and will require extra recognition and support to deal with their 
disadvantages. 

1.25  The Partnership’ aims are: 
 To improve social cohesion by promoting positive relationships and a sense of 

community and belonging - by reducing fear and tensions – particularly around 
race, disability, faith, generational, gender and sexuality issues - by promoting 
a vision in which individuals, groups and communities are properly valued. 

 To promote citizenship rights and responsibilities. The Partnership and its 
individual members will do this by ensuring that they do all they can in providing 
real leadership and compliance with duties and by acting to protect the rights of 
individuals and groups by ensuring that abuse, mistreatment or discrimination is 
recognised and properly dealt with. 

1.26  The Policy complies with the Equality Schemes of all of the partners. It has 
also been developed in accordance with the public sector equality duty contained in 
the Equality Act 2010.   

1.27  Each applicant will be asked a series of questions, as part of the application 
process, to enable the partnership to monitor the impact of the Scheme on the 
following dimensions of equality:

 Age
 Disability
 Gender reassignment
 Marriage and civil partnership
 Race 
 Religion or belief 
 Sex
 Sexual orientation

1.28  Upon request the scheme will be made available in a range of formats, to meet 
the communication needs of all members of the community.

Page 107



5

Language

1.29  The Team will communicate effectively in Welsh or English.Translation 
services will be arranged for applicants who are not able to communicate effectively 
in either Welsh or English. Where the applicant requires additional support to 
communicate, the Team can arrange this on their behalf. 

1.30  The Council is required to meet the Welsh Language Standards 2015, and 
whilst the Housing Association Partners do not have to do so, they voluntarily meet 
the Standards.

Page 108



6

PART 2 APPLYING FOR HOUSING 

Operation of the Housing Register

2.1  The Housing Options Team (the Team) within Gwynedd Council shall maintain 
the Housing Register on behalf of the Partnership and deal with applications in 
accordance with this policy.

2.2  The housing register is a list of households who require housing. 

2.3  The register is ordered in accordance with this policy. Households on the 
register are prioritised in bands according to need and local connection, and within 
bands by community residency and waiting time. 

2.4  Housing providers with a property to let will go to the register to see which 
applicant is in greatest need and has been waiting the longest. 

2.5  The register shall be kept up to date. Households on the register will be 
reviewed every 12 months, or upon a change in circumstances. New applicants join 
the register when their application is complete.

2.6  Applicants may move between priority bands if there is a change in 
circumstance. 

2.7  Applicants who have been assessed and who are not in housing need and do 
not have a Gwynedd connection according to the banding criteria, will not be given 
any priority. They will not be placed in an allocation band or accepted on the housing 
register.

2.8  Applicants not accepted onto the register because they have been assessed as  
not in housing need but who do have a Gwynedd connection, may apply for 
vacancies where there is no demand from applicants on the register.  Such 
vacancies are advertised by the housing providers and on the Council’s website as 
Available to Let properties. Applicants not accepted onto the register can reapply at 
any time if their circumstances change.

2.9  Details of how to contact the Team will be provided throughout Gwynedd, in 
Council offices, in offices of members of the Partnership and in a range of other 
locations. Details will also be made available on the Council’s website and links will 
be provided to the relevant page of the Council’s website and on the websites of 
members of the Partnership.

Housing Options

2.10  The Team will provide housing options advice when dealing with all enquiries. 
The Team shall adopt a triage approach when they are contacted by a person for the 
first time so that all housing options may be explored. This may include advice and 
information on the following options which are available to households in housing 
need:

Page 109



7

 Home purchase, including low cost home ownership
 Affordable housing schemes
 Intermediate Rental schemes
 Private Rented Accommodation
 Social Housing (including sheltered housing, extra care housing and supported 

housing)
 House share and spare room schemes
 Gypsy and Traveller sites with permanent pitches
 Adaptations to properties to enable people to stay in their existing homes 

(where that is possible)
 Advice on identifying suitable alternative accommodation, for example where 

the current property is overcrowded or under-occupied or the property is no 
longer suitable for people with a disability 

 Mutual exchange for existing social housing tenants
 Home improvement schemes and adaptation services which enable people to 

remain in their existing homes
 Advice on seeking assistance to those who are homeless or threatened with 

homelessness.

2.11  The Partnership has produced a booklet called ‘Your Housing Options’ which 
gives details of the other housing opportunities available in Gwynedd. A copy is 
available on request or on the Council and partner websites.

2.12  Applicants will receive information about the application process and how 
homes are allocated. Those who wish to make an application for social housing will 
be advised about:

 Whether they are likely to have a priority for housing   
 Whether housing suitable for their needs is likely to be available for them in the 

areas of their choice   

2.13  If the Team has reason to believe that an applicant may be homeless or 
threatened with homelessness, then the Council will ensure that the necessary 
enquiries are made to establish whether it owes the applicant a duty under Part 2 of 
the 2014 Act (homelessness legislation). 

2.14  Any person seeking assistance from Gwynedd Council under Part 2 of the 
2014 Act (the homelessness provisions) will also be directed to the Team to 
complete an application. In all such instances their completed application will be 
assessed for their eligibility to be placed on the Register.

The Housing Register -  Application process

2.15  All applicants will have their applications dealt with confidentially.  

2.16  To make an application to join the Housing Register all applicants will need to 
complete an application or apply on-line by visiting the Council’s website.

2.17  All completed applications will be assessed by the Team.

Page 110



8

Who can apply?

2.18  Any person aged 16 or over can apply to the Team to join the Housing 
Register, either as a sole or joint tenant. If under 18 years old, they must give details 
of a trustee (see paragraphs 2.23 – 2.25 below).
 
People who are ineligible to join the Housing Register

2.19  Under the 1996 Act local authorities must consider whether applicants are 
eligible for housing assistance. All applicants and their household members will be 
verified to ensure they are eligible for an allocation of social housing. Those 
categories of applicants which are classed as ineligible and cannot join the Housing 
Register are shown in detail in Appendices 2 and 3.  

2.20  Applications from ineligible applicants will not be registered. Applicants will 
need to provide evidence of their identity and former conduct and will need to 
provide consent for the Team to be able to make the necessary enquiries to 
determine eligibility. Generally, ineligible applicants fall into two categories:

 People subject to immigration control and others from abroad without 
permanent permission to remain in the UK (see Appendix 2)

 Those people who have acted in the past in an unacceptable manner (see 
Appendix 3) 

No housing need

2.21  Applications with no housing need (as determined in accordance with 
paragraph 3.40 below) and without a Gwynedd connection (as determined in 
accordance with paragraphs 3.11 – 3.13 below) shall not be placed in any of the 
priority bands. Such applications shall not be registered.

Transfer applications 

2.22  This Policy applies to existing social tenants seeking to transfer 
accommodation. Existing social tenants who want to move, will need to apply for a 
new allocation through the register. The same rules about housing need will be 
applied to determine their priority. 

16 and 17 year-old applicants 

2.23  Applicants of 16 or 17 years of age cannot hold a tenancy in their own right. 
Where a sole applicant is under 18, or if joint applicants are both under 18 he / she / 
they will need to provide details of an adult (someone over the age of 18) who is 
prepared to be a Trustee. 

2.24  A trustee holds the tenancy on trust for the young person until they turn 18, and 
are under an obligation to look after the tenancy. When the young person turns 18, 
the tenancy will become their full responsibility. The housing provider will need to 
check that a prospective Trustee (a person or an organisation) can afford to take that 

Page 111



9

role and will ensure that they have been advised to seek independent advice about 
the responsibility they are taking on. 

2.25  If the applicant is unable to provide a Trustee, the housing provider may refuse 
to offer a tenancy. Young applicants will be advised about this during their housing 
options assessment. 

Armed Forces Covenant

2.26  Gwynedd Council has signed up to the Armed Forces Covenant, a copy of 
which is available at www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru. In the context of this policy, this 
means that Gwynedd Council will ensure that those who serve or who have served 
in the armed forces and their families will be treated with fairness and respect.

Applicants without a fixed address

2.27  Applicants with no fixed address can request for correspondence about their 
application to be sent care of another address. If no other address is available, the 
Team will hold the correspondence and take reasonable steps to contact the 
applicant to inform them that correspondence needs to be sent to them and to agree 
a way of sharing the correspondence.

Gypsy and Traveller applicants

2.28  Applicant households who are Gypsies, Irish Travellers or other Travellers can, 
in addition to the Housing Register, apply to be included on the register for 
permanent pitches on the Council’s designated Gypsy and Traveller site. Information 
about the services available in Gwynedd will be provided at the Housing Options 
interview.   

Documentation required

2.29  Documentation is required from applicants to ensure accuracy, and to assess 
the application. If the correct information is not supplied, this can delay an application 
being registered.

2.30  Where applications cannot be registered due to a lack of information, a request 
for additional information will be sent to the applicant. If the applicant fails to return 
the requested information within 14 days, the original application will not be 
registered and the applicant advised in writing. Examples of documents that may be 
required for verification of identity and circumstances are available from the Team 
and provided in the application process.

2.31  Where the Team reasonably requires information from any other person or 
body in order to consider and process the application, the applicant will be required 
to provide any necessary consent to the disclosure of the information. If the applicant 
refuses to provide consent or fails to provide it within 14 days of being asked for it, 
the application will not be registered and the applicant will be advised of this in 
writing.

Page 112



10

2.32  Applicants will be advised that the Team may be in contact with other 
organisations throughout the process.

Notification of decision 

2.33  Applicants will be informed in writing of:
 Whether or not they have been accepted onto the register, and
 If accepted, which priority banding they have been awarded usually within 14 

days of receipt of all necessary information. The letter will also provide details 
of: 
o Application reference number
o Date of application, choice of areas and property types

2.34  Applicants not accepted onto the register shall be informed within 14 days of 
the reason(s) why the application was unsuccessful. Applicants given reduced or no 
priority because of unacceptable behaviour will be advised why.

2.35  The Team must consider whether there are reasons to believe that the 
applicant may have difficulty understanding the implications of a decision and if so 
should consider whether the decision and the reasons for it should also be 
communicated in person to the applicant.

Review of a decision relating to housing application

2.36  An applicant has the right to request a review of the decision made if the Team 
decides that:

 The applicant is ineligible as being subject to immigration control
 The applicant is an ineligible person from abroad
 The applicant is treated as ineligible because of unacceptable behaviour
 An applicant is to be given reduced priority and placed in Band 3
 Cancellation of an application for a second refusal of a reasonable offer of 

accommodation

2.37  Applicants will have 28 days to request a review of the decision and to submit 
new information as well as any representations in support of that review, during 
which time they shall be temporarily suspended from the register. Details of an 
applicant’s right to a review and the procedure to be followed are contained in Part 5 
of the Policy.

Complaints regarding the service

2.38  An applicant who is unhappy about the way their application has been handled 
by the Team, or the behaviour of staff, should make a complaint in accordance with 
the Council’s Complaints Procedure. 

2.39  Any other complaint regarding the service, such as an allocation of property, or 
the behaviour of housing association staff will be dealt with by the respective 
Housing Association through their respective complaints procedure.

Page 113



11

False or misleading information

2.40  Under the 1996 Act it is a criminal offence for anyone to knowingly give false 
information or to withhold relevant information if reasonably required to give it, on 
any matter regarding the allocation of housing. Applicants have a duty to notify any 
change of circumstances, so they may be guilty of providing false information by 
failing to update the Team where their circumstances have changed. Applicants who 
are deemed to provide false or misleading, or withholding information may have their 
priority reduced in accordance with paragraph 3.43 or may be deemed ineligible for 
housing on the basis that such behaviour is unacceptable behaviour in accordance 
with Appendix 3.

2.41   Should an applicant be successful in obtaining a tenancy from one of the 
members of the Partnership by knowingly or recklessly making a false statement or 
withholding required information then the Housing Association would be entitled to 
seek possession of the property in accordance with ground 17 of Schedule 2 of the 
Housing Act 1988. In some cases, this may also result in criminal prosecution and if 
found guilty, substantial fines.

The Provision of information to applicants

2.42  The Team will provide the following information to all applicants for social 
housing:

 The number, type and size of homes owned by members of the Partnership in 
each community in Gwynedd where they have expressed a preference to be 
accommodated

 The frequency with which each property type and property size becomes 
available for letting in each community where they have expressed a 
preference to be accommodated

 How many properties have previously become available for an allocation in 
each area during the past year

 What band priority the successful applicant had, and
 How long they had to wait in that band before being allocated the property 

they accepted.

2.43  The information will be available on www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/taicymdeithasol 
and updated periodically.

Choice of areas and property types

2.44  Applicants may choose areas within Gwynedd in which they wish to be housed, 
also the type of property required and the number of bedrooms they wish to be 
considered for. They can also update and amend their preferences by contacting the 
Team. 

2.45  However, a guide to the bedroom requirements of different household types is 
contained at Appendix 4 and it should be noted that applicants cannot choose any 

Page 114

http://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/taicymdeithasol


12

size of property, just those that match their household needs, as set out in the 
Appendix and/or is affordable.

2.46  It should also be noted that the Partners may have their own letting criteria. 
Under these criteria, they can determine (amongst other things) the family 
composition for individual vacant properties as part of the re-letting process to 
ensure the best use is made of each property in terms of the size of the property and 
the size of the prospective tenant’s family; for example to ensure that a property 
would not be under occupied or overcrowded, or ensuring that children of a suitable 
age live in a flat (these examples are not exhaustive). This could mean that some 
applicants would not be offered the type of accommodation that they have ideally 
chosen.

2.47  Applicants should only choose areas they genuinely want to live in. If one 
reasonable offer is refused, the application shall be given reduced priority. If two 
reasonable offers of housing are refused the application will be removed from the 
Housing Register and will not be eligible to re-apply to go on the Register for six 
months. It is possible for an applicant to select locations within an area of choice 
where they do not want to be rehoused in, providing there is a valid reason. 

2.48  The Team will have discretion to add areas, type of property, design of 
property and number of bedrooms where it is reasonable to do so. The Team will 
endeavour to do this after discussion and permission of the applicant where it is 
practicable to do so. This may happen, for example in cases such as:

 Where an applicant is owed a homeless duty and to enable the Council to 
bring its duty to an end

 Where there is a need for accessible or adapted housing
 Where there is a particular or acute vulnerability in the household
 Where there is a particular need for specialist services

2.49  In cases where the applicant is owed a duty by the Council under sections 66, 
73 or 75 of the 2014 Act, the Team shall contact the Homeless Department to 
confirm which combination of area, type of property and number of bedrooms is  
considered suitable for the household and is reasonable to bring the Council’s duty 
to an end. 

2.50  Applicants if accepted onto the Housing Register may be offered a tenancy 
with any of the partner landlords.

Keeping an application up to date 

2.51  It is the responsibility of the applicant to keep their information up to date. 
Applicants must contact the Team if, for example: 

 They change their contact information: telephone numbers or email address 
 If they move house 
 Any significant change in housing, medical condition or any other personal 

circumstances
 A person leaves or joins their household 
 Their financial circumstances change  

Page 115



13

 Their immigration status changes 

2.52  Once the information has been received, the application will be re-assessed in 
accordance with the provisions of this Policy.  In some circumstances further 
information to support or verify their change in circumstances will be required and 
must be provided by the applicant. Where the applicant’s registration is altered as a 
result, the decision will be communicated to the applicant in accordance with 
paragraphs 2.33. If paragraph 2.34 applies, the applicant will have a right to a 
review.

Keeping the register up to date - 12 monthly review of application

2.53  Each application on the housing register will be subject to a 12 monthly review. 
The review will take place approximately 12 months after the date the application 
was initially registered and every 12 months thereafter.

2.54  When applications are reviewed by the Team, applicants will be contacted to 
confirm they are still in housing need and that their information is correct and up to 
date. Those still in housing need will have their details checked and their priority 
banding reviewed.  

2.55  Applicants who fail to respond within 14 days to the 12 month review may be 
removed from the register.

Cancellation of applications from the register

2.56  Applicants may be removed from the register if:
 They are not in a position to take up an offer of accommodation in the near 

future, e.g. because they are in hospital, custody or an institution and are 
likely to be there for more than a short period 

 They have refused 2 reasonable offers of accommodation
 They don’t reply to application review letters within 14 days  
 They have requested to cancel their application 
 They are re-housed – having accepted an offer of accommodation from the 

housing register
 They move house without informing the Team of their new address
 In the case of an application made by a single person, when that person dies
 In cases of providing false or misleading information or withholding requested 

information
 It can be reasonably inferred from the circumstances that the applicant wishes 

to withdraw their application for accommodation

Such cases shall be considered on an individual basis and on the information 
provided to or received by the Team.

2.57  Applicants will be advised in writing of a decision to remove them from the 
register. They have a right to request a review of the decision within 28 days, and 
details of how to do so will be noted in the decision letter and are set out within Part 
5 of the Policy.

Page 116



14

PART 3 PRIORITISING APPLICANTS FOR HOUSING

Introduction

3.1  In accordance with section 167 of the  1996 Act, “reasonable preference” 
(priority) will be given to certain groups of applicants. These are:

 People who are homeless within the meaning of Part 2 of the 2014 Act
 People who are owed a duty by a local housing authority under sections 66, 73 

or 75 of the 2014 Act
 People occupying insanitary or overcrowded housing or otherwise living in 

unsatisfactory housing conditions
 People who need to move on medical or welfare grounds
 People who need to move to a particular locality in the district, where failure to 

meet that need would cause hardship to themselves or others

3.2  Part 6 of the 1996 Act enables each Housing Authority to use its discretion in 
framing its policy in such a way as:

 To give additional preference to households in urgent housing need 
 To determining priorities between applicants on the basis of the following 

factors:
o Financial resources
o The behaviour of the applicant or anyone in his household
o The applicant’s connection with the area

3.3  This Policy is founded on the principle that vacancies will be allocated to eligible 
applicants in housing need, with priority going to eligible applicant households who 
have a Gwynedd connection and have been waiting the longest.

3.4  This Policy does not take account of cumulative need. Applicants will be placed 
in the band which best matches their housing needs assessment.

The Banding Scheme

3.5  The Policy uses a banding scheme to prioritise applicants according to their 
circumstances.
  
3.6  The banding scheme consists of four bands, from one to four in descending 
order of priority.

The priority bands 

Band Degree of Housing Need 

a. Applicants in Urgent Housing Need with a Gwynedd connection
1 

b. Applicants in Urgent Housing Need (with no Gwynedd connection)

Page 117



15

2 Applicants in Housing Need with a Gwynedd connection

3 Applicants in Housing Need with no Gwynedd connection and 
Applicants with reduced priority  

4 Applicants with no housing need with a Gwynedd connection

3.7  Applications which have no housing need and no Gwynedd connection shall not 
be placed in any of the priority bands. Such applications shall not be registered. 

3.8  The Band in which an applicant is placed, depends on their housing need and 
whether they have a Gwynedd connection.

3.9  Properties shall be allocated in the first instance to applicants in Band 1. If there 
are no qualifying applicants in Band 1 then the property shall be allocated to an 
applicant in Band 2, and so on. This process will be repeated through each band 
until the vacancy is allocated.

3.10  Priority can change as circumstances change, so applicants may be moved  
between bands. When an application moves up to a higher priority band, the date of 
that move shall be the relevant date which determines their position in the band in 
accordance with paragraph 3.13 below. This is to recognise that there will already be 
applicants waiting for re-housing in that greater priority band. If an applicant moved 
to a band with lower priority, the date of their original application will be the relevant 
date.   

Gwynedd connection

3.11  Gwynedd connection (as defined below) is relevant to applications that appear 
in Band 1a, Band 2, Band 3 and Band 4. 

3.12  A Gwynedd connection is created when the applicant or a household member 
(someone normally living with the applicant as part of their household):

 Has been resident in Gwynedd for 5 years (at any time) 
 Has family associations in Gwynedd. Family association normally arise when 

the applicant or household member has either a parent, adult child, brother or 
sister who live in the local Authority area, and have done so for at least 10 
years, at the date of application. Both the applicant and locally residing relative 
must indicate a wish to be near each other 

 Provides support for or receives support from some person or specialist 
provision in the local authority area 

 Has been in employment in Gwynedd for the last 5 years  
 Has been offered a job in Gwynedd but have a disability and are unable to take 

up the job offer because of the difficulty of finding adequate accessible housing 
in the area  

 Needs to move to Gwynedd so that a member of their household with a 
disability can attend a school or receive specialist support but are unable to do 

Page 118



16

so because of the difficulty in finding adequate accessible housing in the area. 
The need must be as a consequence of the disability and the need to move to 
Gwynedd must be evidenced 

 Is serving in the Armed Forces in Gwynedd 
 Is a former member of the Armed Forces, not currently employed or resident in 

Gwynedd who served in Gwynedd  whilst in the Forces

3.13  Within each band where Gwynedd connection is relevant, applications shall be 
prioritised as follows:

 Applicants, or members of the household, with 5 years or more residency in the 
Community Council area in which the property to be allocated is situated. Each 
application shall then appear in date order, with the application which has the 
earliest registration (or relevant) date considered first, and so on.

 If no applications fulfil the above criteria, then applications with less than 5 
years' residency (or no residency at all) in the Community Council Area where 
the property to be allocated is situated shall be considered. Each application 
shall then appear in date order, with the application which has the earliest 
registration (or relevant) date considered first, and so on.

 In certain circumstances applicants who have not resided in a neighbouring 
community can carry over their residency to another community. This can only 
happen where there is a need for specialised accommodation which is not 
available in their current community and is available in a neighbouring 
community. Specialised accommodation would include sheltered housing, 
accessible housing or housing which provides a specialised and specific 
service. 

Urgent housing need

3.14  Applicants with an urgent housing need shall be placed in either Band 1a (with 
a Gwynedd connection) or Band 1b (with no Gwynedd connection). Evidence will be 
required in these cases to demonstrate the legitimacy of the claim. 

3.15  Urgent Housing Needs the applicant will be considered to have an urgent 
housing need if he/she or a member of the household falls within one of the following 
categories (the list is not exhaustive):

3.16  Homeless due to abuse or probable abuse requiring urgent re-housing. 
This category includes people who are homeless and owed a duty under s75 of the 
Act and where:

 They are homeless as a result of abuse as defined by s 58 (1), of the 2014 Act. 
This includes those who have experienced abuse at, or outside, the home; and 
those who, if they remained in their accommodation, would probably 
experience abuse 

 People who have been targets of hate crime (that is, a serious or violent 
criminal offence which was motivated by hostility or prejudice on the victim’s 
actual or perceived disability, race or ethnicity, religion or belief, sexual 
orientation, gender identity) 

 Witnesses of crime or victims of crime who are at risk of intimidation amounting 
to violence or threats of violence if they remain in their home

Page 119



17

 Note that this clause shall not be subject to the Gwynedd local connection 
provision and that cases which meet this clause shall appear in Band 1a 
(subject to any matters which would place them in Band 3) 

3.17  Urgent medical, welfare or disability related need. Applicants whose 
household includes someone who: 

 Has a medical condition which is life threatening or likely to become so, and 
which is directly linked to their housing conditions and is likely to improve with 
re housing 

 Has been assessed by the relevant practitioner as having a need to move 
urgently to an accessible property  

 Has a serious physical or mental illness, disability or medical condition or 
behavioural disorder which is causing serious dysfunction to themselves or the 
family unit such that they are completely unable to cope at their present 
accommodation and re housing would alleviate the problem. For example, a 
terminal illness or advanced progressive condition 

 Is hospitalised and is unable to return to their home as it is totally unsuitable for 
their long-term needs by way of design, location and/or is unsuitable for 
disabled adaptations 

 Is disabled and unable to access essential facilities within the property e.g. 
bathing or WC, or access to the property itself is totally unsuitable. The property 
cannot be reasonably and practically adapted to meet their needs 

 Needs to move to provide support to a relative or person with serious illness, 
disability or medical condition and that person can only cope in their present 
accommodation with the applicant’s support 

 Is living in overcrowded accommodation which leaves a person vulnerable to 
serious infection

3.18  Leaving the Armed Forces: 
 A member of the Armed Forces who will be homeless on discharge
 A member of the applicant’s household needs to move to suitable adapted 

accommodation because of a serious injury, medical condition or disability 
sustained as a result of service in the Armed Forces

3.19  Applicants in supported accommodation by an accredited provider where 
the applicant is able to sustain a tenancy independently (deemed ready to 
‘move on’)

3.20  Young people leaving the care of the Local Authority. This will include 
young people who have left care in the past 2 years but are still subject to care 
duties by a local authority. 

3.21  Urgent Cases where the household needs access to social housing to 
prevent a child from being taken into/remaining in care. Examples include: 

 Foster parents who urgently need accommodation to take a child 
 Where a child care plan identifies the need for accommodation to prevent the 

child being looked after by the Authority (for example, child in need/looked after 
child/child protection)

Page 120



18

3.22  Existing social tenants in Gwynedd who are either under occupying by 
one or more bedrooms and wish to transfer to a smaller property, or who are 
occupying an adapted property which they do not need -  provided that one of 
the following applies: 

 They are suffering serious financial hardship as a result of welfare reform and 
there is a risk that the existing tenancy will be lost, or the tenant fall into serious 
debt, and the proposed move will enable the tenant to move to an affordable / 
sustainable property. In this context “serious debt” will be treated as a debt 
which leads the landlord to initiate legal proceedings

 Their moving would release a property for someone in urgent need who would 
otherwise have to wait an unreasonably long time to be re-housed 

 Applicants must hold a social housing tenancy in Gwynedd and evidence will 
be required from the landlord of the circumstances and the tenant’s attempts to 
sustain the tenancy

3.23  Loss of home as a result of a disaster. An Applicant who has a reasonable 
prospect of an allocation within a short period who suddenly and permanently loses 
their existing home as a result of a disaster.

3.24  Some applicants who are owed a homeless duty. Applicants owed a duty 
by Gwynedd Council in accordance with section 75 of the Housing (Wales) Act 2014 
("duty to secure accommodation for applicants in priority need where the duty in 
section 73 has ended") and who also are staying in temporary accommodation not 
entirely suitable for their needs, are included in the category of "urgent need for 
housing". Examples would include:

 Families with children in temporary bed and breakfast accommodation 
 Families with children in one of the Council’s homeless hostels, or in other 

accommodation, where basic facilities such as kitchen and bathroom must be 
shared. This includes families with children who have been forced to move 
back to live with a family, but not to include applicants who want to leave the 
family home for the first time.  

 Fragile person in temporary accommodation needing support to sustain a 
tenancy

3.25  Exceptional case of urgent need where the circumstances or the urgency 
of the circumstances are not dealt with elsewhere in this scheme. Cases may 
arise which include an urgency for rehousing which are not included in any of the 
categories above. In such cases the application may be considered as being in an 
urgent need for housing, and therefore qualify for inclusion in either Band 1a or Band 
1b depending on their Gwynedd Connection. Such cases shall be considered on an 
individual basis and on the information provided and may include cases where 
safeguarding issues have been identified or there are any other identified urgent 
need for rehousing.  
 

Housing need

3.26  Applicants with a housing need that is not urgent shall be placed in either Band 
2 (with a Gwynedd connection) or Band 3 (with no Gwynedd connection).

Page 121



19

3.27  An applicant will be considered to have a housing need if he/she or a member 
of the household falls within one of the following categories (the list is not 
exhaustive):

3.28  Applicants who are homeless or threatened with homelessness within 
the meaning of Part 2 of the Housing (Wales) Act 2014. The definition of 
homeless can be found in sections 55 to 57 of the 2014 Act. It includes, but is not 
limited to, the following:

 A person who has no accommodation available for his occupation, which he is 
entitled to occupy by virtue of an interest or an order of a court; has a licence to 
occupy; or occupies as a residence by virtue of an enactment or rule of law 

 A person who has accommodation but cannot secure entry to it, or it is a 
moveable structure and there is nowhere to place it for it to be lived in

 A person would be considered to be homeless if they have accommodation, but 
it is not reasonable for them to occupy it, subject to certain conditions contained 
in the Act

A person is threatened with homelessness if he or she is likely to become homeless 
within the next 56 days.

3.29  Applicants who are owed a duty by a local housing authority under 
sections 66, 73 or 75 of the 2014 Act: This category includes applicants who are 
owed a duty under:

 Section 66 of the Act: a duty to help prevent an applicant from becoming 
homeless.  The duty can be owed by any local housing authority

 Section 73 of the Act: a duty to help to secure accommodation for homeless 
applicants.  The duty can be owed by any local housing authority

 Section 75 of the Act: a duty to secure accommodation for applicants in priority 
need (when the duty in section 73 ends). Note that some cases will deemed as 
in urgent need of housing in accordance with 3.24 above  

3.30  Applicants occupying insanitary or overcrowded housing or otherwise 
living in unsatisfactory housing conditions. Applicants whose current property 
does not meet modern safety standards shall be deemed to be in housing need. 
Each case shall be assessed by an Environmental Health Officer in order to confirm 
that the property is insanitary, overcrowded or otherwise unsatisfactory.
 
3.31  The Environmental Health Officer’s assessment shall be based on the Housing 
Health & Safety Rating System (HHSRS) which is an assessment of the hazards 
associated with a residential property. Hazards may include:    

 Lack of bathroom with facilities or the facilities are located in an insanitary 
location e.g. within kitchen  

 Lack of a kitchen and/or appropriate facilities; or lacks an inside W/C   
 No hot or cold water supply to the property due to defect with the property   
 No electrical supply due to defect with property   
 No gas supply due to defect with property where such a supply is required to 

operate existing or necessary services, such as heating   
 Applicants who share facilities with other persons who are not part of their 

household on a permanent basis. This applies to the sharing of a kitchen, 
bathroom/shower or toilet   

Page 122



20

 Applicants living in overcrowded housing. A household is deemed to be 
overcrowded if it lacks at least one bedroom. This must be on a permanent 
basis. Overcrowding in this context is defined in accordance with current 
bedroom allowance guidelines for the calculation of housing benefit

3.32  All applicants residing in insanitary or hazardous housing in Gwynedd will be 
referred to the Council’s Environment Service in order to identify if there are other 
reasonable means to resolve the problem and enable the applicant to remain in their 
home before the applicant is considered in housing need under this policy. In such a 
case, an application will be suspended whilst that is investigated.

3.33  Applicants who need to move on Medical or welfare grounds (including 
grounds relating to disability). This would include:

 Applicants whose household includes someone with a medical condition which 
is directly linked to unsuitable housing and where rehousing is necessary to 
significantly improve their health  

 Where current accommodation presents access problems to a member of the 
household which have a detrimental impact on their welfare, which cannot be 
resolved in the current property and would be significantly alleviated if they 
were suitably re-housed. Such cases would be assessed by the relevant 
practitioner as requiring a move to an accessible property 

 Applicants whose household includes someone who has social care needs 
which are not being met and re-housing is necessary to significantly improve 
their care  

3.34  Such cases will be assessed by the Team following advice from an 
Occupational Therapist, Doctor or other similar medically qualified person on 
whether the person requires a move to an accessible property within the above 
definition. Where possible that should be by a health professional with knowledge of 
the medical condition of the person in question and its relevance to their housing 
needs.

3.35  Private Sector Housing Affordability. Cases where the applicant can show 
that their current accommodation in the private rented sector is not affordable and 
that there is no affordable alternative accommodation in the private rented sector, 
but that alternative accommodation in the social rented sector would be affordable.

3.36  Existing social housing tenants in Gwynedd who are under-occupying by 
one or more bedroom and wish to transfer to a smaller property. Applicants 
must hold a social housing tenancy in Gwynedd with a partner landlord. Under-
occupying social housing tenants who are also experiencing financial hardship may 
qualify for higher ‘Urgent Need’ priority.

3.37  People who need to move to a particular locality in the district, where 
failure to meet that need will cause hardship (to themselves or to others). 
Examples include:

 A failure to move to the particular locality will cause exceptional financial 
hardship

 The applicant or a member of their household is at risk of being admitted to 
residential care or hospital if they are not re-housed in the particular locality

Page 123



21

 The applicant needs to move to a particular locality due to a relationship 
breakdown, and there is need to safeguard and promote the welfare of an 
associated child or children

 The applicant is a ‘relevant child’ under the Children Leaving Care Act 2000, is 
a care leaver, is vulnerable and has a high housing need that is best met by the 
provision of long term settled housing in a particular locality

 The applicant or a member of their household has permanent employment 
which cannot continue, or an offer of permanent employment which they cannot 
take up, unless they reside in a particular locality

 The applicant is giving or receiving essential support, which can only be 
delivered if they live in a particular locality.

 Applicants whose household includes children under 10 years of age who are 
either living in a flat or maisonette or are living in a property where there is no 
outside space

 Applicants from a family unit that are forced to live apart because of the lack of 
suitable accommodation

3.38  Displaced Agricultural Workers. 
 The applicant is a displaced agricultural worker (as defined in the Rent 

(Agriculture) Act 1976) whose agricultural occupancy has ended and where the 
farmer cannot provide suitable alternative accommodation for the displaced 
worker. The Team must consider all relevant factors and any advice from the 
Agricultural Dwelling-House Advisory Committee

 The dwelling from which an agricultural worker is displaced is needed to 
accommodate another agricultural worker and they need to re-house the 
displaced worker in the interests of efficient agriculture

3.39  Exceptional case of housing need where the circumstances are not dealt 
with elsewhere in this scheme. Cases may arise which include a need for 
rehousing which are not included in any of the categories above. In such cases the 
application may be considered as being in a need for housing, and therefore qualify 
for inclusion in either Band 2 or Band 3 depending on their Gwynedd Connection. 
Such cases shall be considered on an individual basis and on the information 
provided and may include cases where there is an identified need for rehousing.  

No housing need

3.40  Any applicant who does not come within any of the “Urgent Housing Need” or 
“Housing Need” criteria set out in paragraphs 3.16 to 3.39 has no housing need. 
Applications with no housing need but with a Gwynedd Connection may be 
registered and placed in Band 4. Applications with no housing need but with no 
Gwynedd Connection shall not be registered or subsequently cancelled if a current 
application.

3.41  Applications in Band 4 may be considered for ‘available to let’ properties where 
there are no eligible applicants from Bands 1 to 3. 

Page 124



22

Reduced priority 

3.42  In accordance with clause 3.2 of this policy some applications shall receive 
reduced priority as a result of their circumstances or behaviour. Applicants with 
reduced priority will be placed in Band 3 and prioritised in accordance with clause 
3.13. Applications with reduced priority include the following:

3.43  If an applicant household’s behaviour affects their suitability to be 
tenants.  Where an applicant or member of the household has a history of 
unacceptable behaviour, which although not making an applicant completely 
unsuitable to be a tenant (in accordance with Appendix 3), it does nevertheless 
affect his or her suitability to be a tenant then reduced priority will be applicable. This 
will be reviewed 6 months after the priority was originally reduced to see whether the 
circumstances or situation has changed. Examples of such behaviour includes:

 Anti-social behaviour which is serious enough for the landlord to seek a 
remedy, for example to issue a final warning, to seek an acceptable behaviour 
contract or court action such as an injunction or a suspended possession order

 Current tenants who have been subject to action for a breach in the terms of 
their tenancy agreement and where the applicant has not remedied the breach

 When current tenants are wishing to transfer, but their current property is in 
such poor condition due to deliberate damage or carelessness by the tenant, a 
member of his or her household or someone he has invited to the property, that 
it cannot be re-let within a reasonable timescale

 Applicants who have a debt relating to a current or former tenancy of any of the 
Partnership members and who have not maintained a satisfactory arrangement 
to repay the debt
o Debt which has accrued due to the effect of welfare reform will not be 

considered where there is evidence that the tenant has cooperated with 
the landlord to resolve the matter and that steps were taken to maintain 
the tenancy in the first place

o Debt include rent arrears, court costs, rechargeable repairs, service 
charges or any other charge related to a tenancy 

o The organisation owed the debt shall determine what is a ‘satisfactory 
arrangement to pay’

 Applicants who have deliberately provided false or misleading information or 
failed to disclose information relevant to their application. For example:  
o By deliberately moving to a property they know will make them 

overcrowded  
o By deliberately damaging their accommodation to make it uninhabitable or 

resulting in eviction
o By failing to pay rent, resulting in eviction 
o Deliberately doing something (or not doing something) they knew could 

lead to the loss of their accommodation
More serious cases may be removed from the Housing Register in accordance with 
clause 2.56 above.

3.44  Financial resources. Social housing is usually provided in circumstances 
where applicants have difficulty obtaining suitable housing to meet their housing 
needs because of their financial situation. The Charitable Status of the Housing 
Associations does not allow an offer of housing to be made to an applicant who has 

Page 125



23

the substantial financial resources to meet their housing costs unless there are 
matters relating to disability or age that need to be considered and that there is a 
housing need. Applicants who have sufficient financial resources to meet their own 
housing needs will be assessed on a case by case basis (this may apply when the 
person has legal or financial interests in a property or sufficient income or savings) 
and may be given reduced priority.

3.45  Applicants who have refused a reasonable offer of accommodation. 
Applicants who refuse a reasonable offer of accommodation for the first time shall 
have their priority reduced. A reasonable offer of accommodation is defined in 
paragraph 4.18 below. On a first refusal of a reasonable offer of accommodation the 
application shall be moved to Band 3 for a period of 6 months. A subsequent, 
second refusal shall lead to cancellation of the application.

3.46  If we have reduced the priority of an application by placing it in Band 3 but 
subsequently the reduced priority is removed then the applications shall return to its 
original band but the relevant date shall be the date of returning to the band and not 
the original application date.

Suspended applications not considered for allocations

3.47  Applications may be suspended for a temporary period of time. Whilst 
suspended, an application will not be considered for an allocation of housing. 
Examples of instances when an application is suspended include:

 Where there are reasonable grounds to suggest the applicant’s situation may 
have changed 

 The applicant is not in a position to take up an offer of accommodation in the 
short term, e.g. because they are in hospital, custody or an institution

 The application is currently being assessed on the basis of new information 
received which relates to the application. This may include information that 
could lead to the application moving to another band, or being placed in band 3 
because of reduced priority, or a significant change in circumstances

 Where the applicant has previously refused two reasonable offers of 
accommodation and the application was cancelled in accordance with 
paragraphs 2.56 and 4.20 and they re-apply within 6 months of the 
application’s cancellation, then the application will be suspended for a period 
ending 6 months from the cancellation save where the Operational Group 
determine that special circumstances apply 

3.48  Temporary suspension of transfer applications. In addition to the above, 
applications for transfer made by a current tenant of the Partnership’s members may 
be temporarily suspended in cases where the housing association has concerns how 
the tenant has been conducting the tenancy and where it can be shown that there is 
a breach of the tenancy conditions. The purpose of suspending the application is to 
give the tenant and housing association an opportunity to manage the situation and 
improve how the tenancy has been conducted.

3.49  In such cases the housing association will make an application to the Team to 
temporarily suspend the application. The housing association will need to act 
responsibly, and it is expected that only in serious cases where legal action has 

Page 126



24

commenced or cases of lack of co-operation will such applications be made. Each 
application will be considered on its own merits and the facts at the time. Once an 
application has been temporarily suspended the situation will be monitored regularly 
by the housing association and the Team.

3.50  The team will write to advise the applicant if the application is suspended with 
reasons for the decision.  If the applicant needs to provide information or do 
something before the application can be considered again the applicant will be 
advised and realistic deadlines given for the provision of the information or action 
required.

3.51  If following a suspension a decision is made that the application is reinstated 
but applicant’s priority band is reduced then the applicant will be notified in writing 
and will have the right to request a review in accordance with paragraph 2.36. The  
registration date of the application (for the purpose of determining the position within 
that band) will be amended to the date you become eligible again to be offered 
housing following suspension.  This will mean the application goes to the bottom of 
the relevant band.

3.52  If following a period of suspension the decision is that the applicant is no longer 
eligible for housing he or she will be notified in accordance with paragraph 2.34 of 
this policy and the applicant will have a right to request a review of the decision in 
accordance with paragraph 2.36.

Page 127



25

PART 4 LETTING OF ACCOMMODATION

The selection of applicants for an offer of a tenancy

4.1  This describes the process that Officers in each of the Housing Association who 
are members of the Partnership will follow when allocating the following types of 
accommodation owned by the housing association:

 General needs housing
 Sheltered Housing
 Property suitable for older people
 Accessible Housing

The forms of housing and types of tenancy excluded from this process are set out in 
Appendix 1.

General needs housing

4.2  Vacant properties will be offered first to applicants in Band 1 in accordance with 
the band criteria. If the property is not suitable to any household in Band 1, the 
property will be matched with suitable applicant households in Band 2 and so on.

4.3  Properties will be matched according to household’s preferences for location, 
property type and household make up subject to occupancy criteria. The housing 
associations may specify the occupancy criteria for properties to be let under this  
scheme in order to make the best use of their housing stock. This can mean that 
applicants who have chosen a particular size of property may not always be 
considered for properties of that size, for example a small family who have chosen to 
be considered for a larger family home. 

Sheltered housing

4.4  This is housing which may include the services of either a resident or visiting 
warden for which there may be an additional charge. Typically, this type of housing is 
restricted to people aged 55 or over and who require the warden service and are 
suitable for sheltered housing. The Partners may have other criteria. In cases where 
there are no applicants who meet the criteria, then applicants younger than 55 years 
or applicants who do not require the warden service may be considered at the 
discretion of the relevant Partner.

Properties designated for older people and/or people with a 
disability

4.5  This is housing designated for people 55 years or over and/or it may be 
particularly suitable for persons with a disability . Such housing will be allocated only 
to those who meet the criteria and have a need for the particular adaptations or 
features which the property in question has, but in cases where there are no suitable 
applicants then applications by younger persons or those without a disability may be 
considered at the discretion of the relevant Partner.

Page 128



26

Accessible homes

4.6  Accessible homes are homes that have been substantially adapted for people 
with a disability. The allocation of accessible homes will be made by considering the 
adaptations that are present in the property and matching them to the requirements 
and needs of applicants, with the allocation being made to the best match of 
applicant needs and property specifications whatever the position on the waiting list 
is. Advice will be sought by practitioners such as Occupational Therapists to ensure 
that the best match is made based also on the applicants’ housing needs. 

4.7  In cases where there is more than one application whose needs match the 
property’s specifications, then the banding priorities as outlined in Part 3 of the 
scheme shall be followed.

Applicants’ suitability for an allocation

4.8  When information comes to the attention of or is held by any of the partners 
about the current or previous behaviour of the applicant or any member of his 
household including criminal record, which may affect the suitability of a particular 
property location for the applicant and his household to be housed in then a 
suitability assessment will be conducted.

4.9  The purpose of the assessment will be to assess if the proposed location is 
appropriate for the applicant / family member, given the behaviour. 

4.10  The suitability assessment may include seeking information from agencies 
such as the Police, Probation Service, Social Services or any other relevant 
organisation. Should the assessment deem the location not to be suitable for 
whatever valid reason, then the applicant will not be considered for an allocation of 
that property and no offer of a tenancy will be made.  The applicant will remain on 
the waiting list and his or her position on it will not be altered.

Affordability

4.11  A Partner may in accordance with its own procedures assess the affordability 
of a tenancy before making an offer. In order to do this the Partner may seek 
information from the Applicant about his or her income and outgoings.  If the Partner 
reasonably decides that the applicant cannot afford the tenancy, then they do not 
have to offer the property to them.

Offer of accommodation

4.12  Applicants will only be made one offer of accommodation by the Partnership, at 
any one time. Applicants may be offered a tenancy with any of the Partners.

4.13  Applicants who receive an offer of housing will have that offer in writing, but 
this does not mean they will not also be contacted by telephone or email to discuss 
the offer and arrange for viewings. The applicant will be expected to respond to the 
offer within 5 days.

Page 129



27

4.14  Applicants who are owed duties under sections 66, 73 or 75 of the  2014 Act 
will also always receive a written offer. The offer letter will state that it is a final offer 
for the purposes of discharging the Council’s duty under Part 2 of the 2014 Act.  

4.15  If the applicant hasn’t contacted the Partner to accept the offer by the end of 
the 5th day the applicant will be deemed to have refused the offer and the Partner 
will offer the tenancy to the next applicant on the housing register who is requesting 
that type of property. The Partner will inform the Team, in order to revise the 
application

4.16  All applicants who have received an offer of accommodation will be provided 
with the opportunity to visit the vacant property for a viewing, within a reasonable 
period of time, before deciding to accept or reject the offer.

4.17  The Partner  has discretion to extend the 5 day period in appropriate 
circumstances and in considering whether to do so, they will take into account all 
relevant factors including:

 Difficulty for an applicant who is working or has children or other care 
commitments to make arrangements to view the property and/or

 The property’s distance from the applicant’s current accommodation and/or
 Where acceptance of the offer would involve a child changing schools or create 

difficulties for members of the household maintaining work or training or the 
need to explore alternative arrangements.

4.18  A reasonable offer of accommodation is one which:
 Is in the area of choice selected by the applicant (and not a particular individual 

property), and
 Is the type of property for which the applicant has asked to be considered (and 

for which they are eligible), and
 Meets the current lettable standard of the housing association partner, and
 Is not unreasonable for some other significant reason, or
 Would discharge a council’s duty under sections 66, 73 and 75 of the 2014 Act 

where such duties are owed

4.19  In cases where the applicant is owed a duty under either sections 66, 73 or 75 
of the 2014 Act, the Team will have discretion to add areas, property types or 
property sizes not selected by the applicant. The Team, in conjunction with the 
Council’s homeless department, will consider which additions are reasonable in 
order to discharge the Council’s homeless duty.

Refusing of an offer of accommodation

4.20  If one reasonable offer (as defined in 4.18) is refused, the applicant will, in 
accordance with 3.43 above, have its priority reduced by moving to Band 3. If two 
reasonable offers of accommodation are refused the application will, in accordance 
with 2.56 above, be cancelled and removed from the Housing Register. Applications 
cancelled for this reason will have to wait 6 months before joining the register again. 
If the application is received within 6 months of cancellation, then it shall be 
suspended until the 6 months have passed. 

Page 130



28

4.21  Where the applicant is owed a homeless duty under sections 66, 73 or 75 of 
the  2014 Act they can request a review of the suitability of the accommodation 
offered, in accordance with section 85(3), whether or not the applicant accepts the 
offer. Applicants will be informed at the offer stage of the possible consequences of 
refusing an offer and of their right to request a review of the suitability of the 
accommodation and that the offer will be a final offer discharging the Council’s duty 
under Part 2 of the 2014 Act.  

4.22  If the applicant requests a review and the review is not successful, then the 
Council’s duty under Part 2 of the 2014 Act will come to an end and the applicant will 
lose any priority awarded as a result of the duty owed. If, however, the review is 
successful then the Council’s duty will remain and the priority awarded to the 
application will not be affected

Available to let properties

4.23  There may be a small number of properties that are available to let at any 
given time.  This will usually happen when there is no-one on the Housing Register 
eligible to be offered a particular property, or where the Register has been 
exhausted.

4.24  We advertise details of any immediately available to let properties on the 
Council and partner websites.

4.25  Applicants with no priority will be able to apply for these tenancies but will need 
to satisfy the eligibility criteria. Applicants who want to be considered for an 
advertised property should contact the Team to apply.

4.26  Any allocation will be based on an applicant’s circumstances including such 
matters as:

 Their local connection with Gwynedd
 Their financial situation
 Their previous tenancy record, and/or
 Any other matters relevant to the aim of letting the property to a person in 

housing need.

Management transfers

4.27  There will be cases where one of the Partners wish to facilitate a transfer within 
its own housing stock and instigated by the landlord. These types of transfers are 
called ‘management transfers’. Management transfers do not fall within the remit of 
this Policy. Further details are available at Appendix 1.

Local lettings policies

4.28  Section 167(2E) of the 1996 Act enables housing authorities to allocate 
particular accommodation to people of a particular description, whether or not they 
fall within the reasonable preference categories. Such a policy is known as a ‘local 
lettings policy’. 

Page 131



29

4.29  Local Letting Policies work by including additional criteria to those in the main 
lettings policy that will be considered when letting properties in a particular estate or 
community. Local Lettings Policies are used to achieve a wide variety of housing 
management and other housing policy objectives, and are usually developed where 
there is a wish to alter the balance of the community or ensure a balanced 
community at the stage where a new development is let. 

4.30  Each of the housing association partners will have the ability to introduce Local 
Lettings Policies in areas of their stock and those policies will be approved by the 
relevant Housing Association’s Board.

4.31  Each Local Lettings Policy introduced will be published. It will be monitored for 
effectiveness and will be reviewed regularly so that they can be revised or revoked 
where they are no longer appropriate or necessary.

Section 106 agreement letting scheme

4.32  Properties developed on sites that incorporate a section 106 agreement 
determining the allocation of housing on that site will be let in accordance with the 
terms of the agreement. These allocations are subject to a Planning Obligation under 
section 106 of The Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by the 
Planning and Compensation Act 1991.
 
4.33  Such agreements have been developed to ensure that secure mechanisms are 
in  place to restrict the occupancy of the dwelling both on first occupation and in 
perpetuity to those who have a local community need for an affordable dwelling.
Each of the partner housing associations will develop policies for letting homes on 
section 106 sites. 

Sensitive lettings

4.34  There are occasions when individual sensitive lettings can be justified to 
protect the interests of existing or prospective tenants. Such circumstances are rare 
and would relate to instances where for example an area had experienced serious 
anti-social behaviour over a long period and the perpetrator’s tenancy has ended. In 
such instances the landlord will consider it important to ensure that other residents in 
the area are not subjected to problems from the new tenant. Therefore, the next 
letting in the area would be made to some-one whom the landlord has confidence 
would not cause further problems. 

4.35  All instances where a Housing Association member of the Partnership seeks to 
make a sensitive letting, they will inform the  Team, providing information about:

 The reasons why a sensitive letting is justified
 The position on the waiting list of the person the letting is made to
 The reasons for offering ‘out of turn’.

Page 132



30

PART 5 REVIEW OF DECISION AND REVIEW PROCEDURE

The right to have a decision reviewed

5.1  An applicant can seek a review of a decision that
 The applicant is ineligible as being subject to immigration control
 The applicant is an ineligible person from abroad
 The applicant is treated as ineligible because of unacceptable behaviour
 An applicant is to be given reduced priority and placed in Band 3
 An applicaion is cancelled for a second refusal of a reasonable offer of 

accommodation

5.2  If an applicant does not agree with any decision, they will be encouraged to 
speak in the first instance to the Team, but are not required to do so. Alternatively, 
applicants may request a review of a decision as outlined below.

5.3  If after speaking to the Team the applicant is still not happy with the decision, 
the applicant can ask for their application to be reviewed by an officer not involved 
with the original decision (and senior to the officer who made the decision) by 
following the process set out below:

 The applicant writes to the Team within 28 days of receiving a decision letter 
requesting a Review of the decision, setting out the reasons why the decision 
should be reviewed

 An officer from the Team who wasn’t involved in the original decision, will 
undertake the Review within 28 days of an applicants’ request.  If additional 
information is required which will not be available within the 28 days, the 
Officer will write to the applicant advising them of the delay and the likely date 
that the Review will be completed

 The Officer undertaking the Review will write to the applicant advising them of 
the outcome of the Review. 

 The letter must include information about the applicant’s right to seek a further 
review by the panel as set out in paragraphs 5.4 – 5.6 below, and how the 
applicant can do so including the deadline by which the request for a review 
must be received.

Operational Group Panel review

5.4  If an applicant is still not happy with a decision after a Review they can ask for 
the decision to be considered by a panel which comprises of at least three Senior 
Officers from members of the Partnership who are on the Operational Group (see 
paragraph 6.4), known as the ‘Review Panel’ (the “Panel”). 

5.5  The process for a decision to be considered by the Panel is as follows: 
 The applicant will write to the Team and request that the Panel consider a 

decision within 28 days of receiving the decision with regard to a Review of 
their application. In exceptional situations a longer period may be agreed (at 
the discretion of the Panel)

 The applicant can request an oral hearing by the Panel

Page 133



31

 If the Applicant seeks an oral hearing, he or she must be given not less than 
three days’ notice of the date, time and place of the hearing. The letter must 
advise the Applicant that they have the right to be heard, be accompanied and 
be represented. They must also be advised that they can call their own 
witnesses, and  make representations in writing.

 If the Applicant requests that the Panel consider the review on the papers, the 
applicant must be given an opportunity to make written representations to be 
considered by the Panel.

 At the hearing, the Panel  will consider all the relevant information including 
the original decision and the decision on Review, and any change in 
circumstances or additional information which has come to light since those 
decisions and shall come to a decision whether or not the original decision 
was made in accordance with this scheme and whether it remains the correct 
decision in light of the current situation. 

 The Panel will reach a decision and advise the applicant of the decision within 
28 days of the meeting.

5.6  The Panel’s decision is final and it is not possible to challenge any further a 
decision made on an application which is subject to this scheme under this policy. 
This does not prevent an applicant pursuing any other legal challenge which is open 
to them.

Page 134



32

PART 6 GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS

The Gwynedd Common Housing Register Strategic Group

6.1  The Strategic Group will provide strategic direction to the Partnership and review 
the operation of the Scheme. 

6.2  Each of the Partners will have one representative on the Group.

6.3  The Group will meet at least 3 times a year, or as required, and will consider the 
following:

 The effectiveness of arrangements for processing applicants, including key 
performance monitoring information (which will include complaints received)

 The need for change in policy and procedures, in the light of legislative and 
regulatory change, case law and outcomes of reviews and appeals requested 
by applicants

 Agreeing the introduction of Local Lettings Policies and reviewing their impact
 Monitoring the use of sensitive lettings by members of the Partnership
 Monitoring the number of applicants were not offered tenancies because such 

an offer would conflict with the Associations charitable objects
 Future strategic direction of the Partnership
 Agree and monitor set Key Performance Indicators 

The Gwynedd Common Housing Register Operational Group

6.4  The Operational Group shall provide operational direction to Partnership staff on 
the operation of this Policy, its procedures and administration of the Common 
Housing Register.

6.5 Each of the Partners will have representatives on the Group

6.6   The Operational Group shall meet at least 10 times a year, or as required and 
will consider the following:

 Effective operation of the Policy by front line staff
 Effective administration of the Common Housing Register by the Team
 Direct operational issues and possible policy development to the Strategic 

Group
 Review operational procedures and any related documentation
 Review application forms / online application facility
 Review and develop information sharing procedures
 Review and develop IT facilities
 Discuss any individual cases which require a multi-agency approach

6.7  Each organisation shall have one vote to cast when decisions are made, 
irrespective of how many representatives each organisation may have attending a 
meeting of the Group.

Page 135



33

Appendix 1

Lettings which do not fall within the scope of the scheme

1.  This scheme does not apply to any letting by any of the partner housing 
associations which will not be a let on an assured or probationary tenancy. 
Examples of lettings do not fall within the scope of this scheme are:

 Letting a property on a licence or an assured shorthold tenancy to a homeless 
person to whom Gwynedd Council owes a homelessness duty under 2014 Act

 Lettings in supported housing projects
 The letting of premises occupied in connection with employment
 The letting of accommodation for provided for asylum seekers
 The letting of temporary accommodation for persons taking up employment
 The letting of temporary (decant) accommodation during works
 The letting of agricultural holdings
 The letting of licensed premises
 The letting of garages
 The letting of student accommodation
 The letting of business premises
 The letting of Extra Care Housing
 Lettings activities by the Partners which are part of a specified private lettings 

scheme, intermediate lettings scheme or rent first scheme

2.  Management transfers. The provisions of the Common Housing Allocations 
Policy do not apply to someone who is already an assured or assured shorthold 
tenant of one of the Partners unless the allocation involves a transfer of housing 
accommodation for that person and is made on his or her own application.  

Transfers instigated by a Partner therefore fall outside this scheme.  It is important to 
note that these lettings are instigated and administered by the Partner’s officers.  In 
some cases, the applicant may have an application already registered with the 
Housing Options Team but the Partner would instigate a transfer to a particular 
property thus bringing the letting outside this scheme. Examples would include:

 Transfers at the Partner’s instigation because a current assured or assured 
shorthold tenant is subject to victimisation because he or she is the witness to a 
crime or anti-social behaviour and needs to be moved for his or her safety and 
wellbeing

 Re-letting of a property to a sitting assured or assured shorthold tenant 
 The grant of a joint tenancy where the sole tenant of a current property has 

married or has entered into a civil partnership agreement and both spouses or 
civil partners seek the granting of a fresh tenancy in their joint names

 To facilitate the move of an assured tenant into sheltered or designated 
accommodation for the elderly thus releasing the property to make better use of 
housing stock.

 To facilitate the move of an assured tenant into a more suitable 
accommodation where the request for major adaptations has been made to the 
current property thus adapting another property more suitable to a disabled 
person and releasing the current property to make better use of housing stock 

Page 136



34

 Where an assured or assured shorthold tenant dies and there is a person 
qualified to succeed to the tenancy under section 17 of the Housing Act 1988 or 
the terms of the assured tenancy.

 Where an assured tenant or assured shorthold tenant dies, and the tenancy is 
for a fixed term

 Where the tenancy is assigned by way of exchange 
 Where an assured tenancy is assigned to someone who would be qualified to 

succeed to the tenancy if the tenant had died immediately before the 
assignment

 Where an assured or assured shorthold tenancy vests or is otherwise disposed 
of in pursuance of a court order made under:
o Section 24 of the Matrimonial Causes Act 1973 (property adjustment 

order in connection with matrimonial proceedings), or
o Section 17(1) of the Matrimonial and Family Proceedings Act 1985 

(property adjustment order after overseas divorce), or
o Paragraph 1 of Schedule 1 to the Children’s Act 1989 (orders for financial 

relief against parents), or
o Part 2 of Schedule 5 or paragraph 9(2) or 9(3) of Schedule 7, to the Civil 

Partnership Act 2004 (property adjustment orders in connection with civil 
partnership proceedings or after overseas dissolution of civil partnerships 
etc).

 Where an assured shorthold tenancy becomes an assured tenancy on ceasing 
to be an assured shorthold tenancy

 To allow a tenant who under-occupies the property to move into more suitable 
accommodation where there is a risk of the current tenancy failing (for example 
as a result of changes to the welfare benefits system)

Page 137



35

Appendix 2

Ineligible applicants – Persons from abroad

1.  Certain persons from abroad are not eligible for an allocation of accommodation. 
Persons from abroad who are not eligible fall into two categories:

 People who are subject to immigration control. That is in general terms, 
persons who require leave to enter and/or remain (whether or not leave has 
been granted). Broadly speaking the term covers nationals of countries outside 
the European Economic Area and Switzerland, and nationals of countries 
within that area who do not have a right to reside in the United Kingdom, the 
Channel Islands, the Isle of Man or the Republic of Ireland. Such persons
o Are not eligible for an allocation of accommodation
o Unless they fall within a class prescribed by the Welsh Ministers as being 

eligible
 People who are not subject to immigration control but who are nevertheless 

prescribed by regulations made by the Welsh Ministers as being ineligible for 
an allocation of housing accommodation. Examples include:
o Persons who are not habitually resident in the Common Travel Area 

unless they are prescribed as exempt from the habitual residency test; or
o They are not eligible because of their particular rights of residence under 

UK and EU law

2.  For further information about both categories of eligibility reference should be had 
to the Welsh Government’s Code of Guidance on the Allocation of Accommodation.

3.  Where an application is made by two or more persons jointly, they will not be 
eligible if either or any of them is a person mentioned in paragraph 1 above.

4.  The Team will decide whether an applicant is to be considered as ineligible.  The 
Team will consider any information from the Home Office, UK Border Agency, any 
local police force and any information kept by another local housing authority or 
registered social landlord within the United Kingdom and will where appropriate 
contact the UK’s Visa and Immigration Centre having first advised the applicant that 
they will do so (in accordance with the Code) 

5.  The Welsh Government’s Code of Guidance on the Allocation of Accommodation 
and Homelessness offers guidance as to the process of determining whether or not 
a person is eligible for an allocation because they are from abroad. The Team will 
have regard to that guidance and shall comply with related legislation and 
regulations in determining whether or not a person is eligible for an allocation.

6.  Should an application be made by a secure tenant of a local authority, or in some 
cases an assured tenant of a registered social landlord, then it shall be treated as an 
eligible application even if the application is made by a ‘person from abroad’ unless 
the application is made by the secure or assured tenant him or herself (or in the case 
of a joint tenancy, an application by one of them).

7.  All applicants who have been found to be ineligible on grounds of immigration 
status have the right to written notification of that decision and the grounds for it.  

Page 138



36

They have the right to request a review of that decision, and to submit new 
information as well as any representations in support of that review.  

Page 139



37

Appendix 3

Ineligible applicants – Unacceptable behaviour

1.  Applicants with a past history of unacceptable behaviour can be treated as 
ineligible for an allocation of accommodation. The Housing Options Team will 
exercise the discretion conferred on the Council and partner Housing Associations 
by section 160A(1)(b) and (7) of the 1996 Act and may decide that a particular 
individual is ineligible if that particular individual falls within the tightly drawn statutory 
definition.

2.  Each applicant, or member of his or her household, will be treated individually on 
a case by case basis.

3.  The Team will consider cases in three stages:
 Is there evidence of serious unacceptable behaviour (see 5 below)
 Was the behaviour serious enough to render the applicant or household 

member unsuitable to be a tenant?  (see 6 below) and
 Is the behaviour unacceptable at the time of application (see 7 below)? 

4.  Only if all the criteria above are met can the application be deemed as not eligible 
for an allocation of accommodation.

5.  “Unacceptable Behaviour” is defined as only that behaviour, by the applicant, or 
by a member of his or her household, which, if the applicant had been a secure 
tenant of a Local Authority, would have entitled the Authority to a possession order 
on any ground in the Housing Act 1985, Part 1, Schedule 2 (other than Ground 8) or 
on the absolute ground for possession in section 84A of the Housing Act 1985. 

6.  “Unsuitable to be a tenant” is behaviour that not only would entitle a local 
authority to a possession order as noted above, but that the possession order would 
not be suspended or postponed on any terms, i.e. that the behaviour was serious 
enough to warrant the making of an outright possession order.

7.  “Unacceptable behaviour at the time of the application”. The Team will have 
regard to the circumstances at the time the application is considered and must 
satisfy itself that the applicant is still unsuitable at the time the application is 
considered. The Team shall consider each application on its own merits and take 
into account all relevant factors which may include evidence that the behaviour can 
be shown by the applicant to have improved. Unless there has been a considerable 
lapse of time, it will be for the applicant to demonstrate the improvement in their 
behaviour.

8.  The Team must be satisfied on all three aspects, and then must consider how its 
discretion should be exercised. Each application must be considered on its own 
merits and in light of all relevant circumstances. The applicant’s personal 
circumstances (and the personal circumstances of the applicant’s household), 
including his or her health and medical needs, dependents and any other factors 
relevant to the application must be considered. 

Page 140



38

9.  Whilst an assessment on an individual’s eligibility to be on the register because of 
their behaviour is carried out, any application which includes that individual will not 
be considered for social housing under this Policy. 

10.  The Team may make enquiries with any organisation or individual which may 
assist in its investigations which may include police forces, local authorities, 
registered social landlords, other landlords. The applicant should be expected to co-
operate if their consent is needed for information to be provided to the Team for 
these enquiries to be carried out provided that it is reasonable to seek the 
information. 

11.  All applicants who have been found to be ineligible on grounds of past 
unacceptable behaviour have the right to written notification of that decision and the 
grounds for it.  They have the right to request a review of that decision, and to submit 
new information as well as any representations in support of that review.  

12.  The Code of Guidance applies to decisions as to eligibility on the ground of 
unacceptable behaviour and to the review procedure and the Team will have regard 
to it whilst making decisions

Page 141



39

Appendix 4

Household type and bedroom requirements 
 
1.  The matching policy will be used to assess applicant’s bedroom requirements.  
The table shows the size and types of property that the applicant may be considered 
for based on the household composition. This should be used as a guide only. The 
relevant housing association will determine the family composition and occupancy 
rate of each individual property that becomes available for re-letting through this 
policy in accordance with paragraph 4.3.

Property size

Applicant household

1 
be

dr
oo

m

2 
be

dr
oo

m

3 
be

dr
oo

m

4 
be

dr
oo

m

5+
 b

ed
ro

om

Single person  
Couple  
Family wuth 1 child  
Family with 2 children  
Family with 3 children  
Family with 4 children   
Family with 5 or more children   

 Bungalows are usually designated for older people and/or people with a 
disability and in some instances are part of sheltered housing in accordance 
with clause 4.4  above.

 Families with a child due to turn 10 within 12 months, where there is currently a 
boy and girl sharing, may be considered for an additional bedroom, or where 
pregnancy, or the age of household members mean that the household would 
qualify for a larger property within a reasonable period of time. In such 
circumstances, applicants may be allowed to register for properties which they 
would currently under-occupy.  

 Due to the shortage of 4 bedroomed properties, households requiring 4 
bedrooms may be considered for larger 3 bedroomed properties with a second 
reception room. e.g. a separate dining room, that could reasonably be used as 
a bedroom.  

 Same sex family members over 16 years (not couples) are entitled to their own 
room.  

 Applicants who require an additional bedroom for a non-resident carer will 
normally be registered for properties with an additional bedroom 

 Where there is a limited supply of properties with fewer bedrooms relative to 
demand, and a reasonable supply of properties with more bedrooms relative to 
demand, applicants may be considered for, and offered, properties with more 
bedrooms than they require;  

Page 142



40

 Where an applicant is in urgent need, but the supply of suitable properties is 
limited, they may be considered for, and offered, properties with more 
bedrooms than they require;  

 Where an applicant is homeless, but the supply of suitable properties is limited, 
they may be considered for and offered properties with more bedrooms than 
they require.  

2.  Should applicants be considered for a property with more bedrooms than they 
require, the applicant’s ability to afford the rent would be taken into account in 
determining whether to offer the property.   

Page 143



41

Appendix 5

Glossary of terms

‘The Partnership’ The Gwynedd Common Housing Register 
Partnership

‘The Policy’ The Gwynedd Common Housing Allocation 
Policy (this document)

‘Team’ or ‘the Team’ The Housing Options Team in Gwynedd 
Council

‘The 1996 Act’ The Housing Act 1996 (as amended)

‘The 2014 Act’ The Housing (Wales) Act 2014

‘Partner’ A partner member of the Gwynedd Common 
Housing Register Partnership

‘Housing Association Partner’ A housing association that is partner member 
of the Gwynedd Common Housing Register 
Partnership

‘Code’ or Code of Guidance’ The Welsh Government’s Code of Guidance 
to Local Authorities on the Allocation of 
Accommodation and Homelessness (March 
2016)

‘The Council’ Gwynedd Council

‘The County’ or ‘County of 
Gwynedd’

The County of Gwynedd as defined in the 
Local Government (Wales) Act 1994

‘Panel’ A panel set up to consider a review of a 
decision earlier considered under review  

Page 144



                    

The Council is required (under the Equality Act 2010) to consider the impact a change 
in any policy or procedure (or to create a policy or procedure) will have on people with 
equality protected characteristics.  The Council also has additional general duties to 
ensure fairness and foster good relationships.  A timely Equality Impact Assessment 
must be carried out before making a decision on any material change (i.e. which have 
an impact on people with protected characteristics).

1 Details 

1.1 What is the name of the policy / service in question?

Gwynedd Common Housing Allocations Policy.

      
1.2 What it the purpose of the policy / service that is being created or 
changed? What changes are being considered?

Review Gwynedd’s Common Housing Alllocations Policy, specifically moving away from 
a points based system to prioritise housing need to a banding system. 

Gwynedd Common Housing Allocations Policy (December 2018 version). This version 
of the policy is essentially a new policy, because it is very different to the previous 
version.

The key objectives of the Policy is that it: 
 helps to meet the housing needs and local housing issues in Gwynedd, 
 giving priority to those in greatest housing need and with the strongest 

connection to the area to which they are applying 
 is easy for applicants and staff to understand 
 consistently prioritises applicants in similar circumstances 
 would enable all applicants to be considered by all providers of social housing 

with only one application 
 includes applicants’ preferences as far as possible 
 make the best use of the housing stock 
 take into take account of local circumstances 
 provide all applicants with advice about their housing options
 provides assistance for applicants to apply as required

The day to day functions include: 
 accepting applications for social housing 
 assess eligibility for inclusion on the common housing register 

Equality Impact Assessment

Page 145



 application assessment to determine in which priority band the application will 
appear 

 offer social housing tenancies 
 provide housing options advice for those in housing need

          
1.3 Who is responsible for this assessment?

Housing Service, Gwynedd Council.

1.4 When did you begin the assessment? What version is this?

An initial assessment had been completed in November 2018. This is the second 
version following a consultation process.

     
2 Implementation

2.1 Who are the partners that you will have to work with to carry out this
assessment?

The Gwynedd Common Housing Register Partnership includes:
- Gwynedd Council
- Cartrefi Cymunedol Gwynedd
- Grŵp Cynefin
- North Wales Housing

2.2 What steps have you taken to engage with people with protected 
characteristics?

Between 3 December 2018 and 1 March 2019 consultation on proposed changes to the 
Common Housing Allocations Policy and Equality Impact Assessment was carried out. 
The consultation was advertised in public on the Council’s website and social media 
and invited everyone on the Common Housing Register to participate. Agencies and 
organisations who will, or could, represent people with protected characteristics have 
been invited to take part in the consultation, including:

- Disability Wales
- Body Positive
- Cais
- Canllaw
- Cymorth Cymru
- Welsh Womens Aid
- Cyngor Iechyd Cymunedol Betsi Cadwaladr
- Cynllun Adfocatiaeth Iechyd Meddwl
- Gofal
- Gorwel

Page 146



- GISDA
- National Health Service
- Gwynedd Ni
- Hafan Cymru
- Llinell Gymorth Byw Heb Ofn
- Mantell Gwynedd
- National Federation of Gypsy Liaison Groups
- Tai Pawb
- Tîm Integredig Plant Anabl Derwen

2.3 What was the result of the engagement?

We received a number of specific and general comments about the proposed Common 
Housing Allocations Policy, with some comments relevant from the perspective of 
equality and protected groups. Full attention has been given to the comments with a 
variety of changes made to the Policy as a result.

2.4 What other information informed the way you operate?

The contents of housing allocations policies in Wales are influenced by legislation and 
Welsh Government guidance as follows: 

- Housing Act 1996 (in particular part 6 of the Act) (as amended) 
- the Welsh Government Code of Guidance on Allocation of Accommodation and 

Homelessness (2016)

The Act states that each local housing authority in Wales shall have a scheme ("their 
allocation scheme") for determining priorities, and about the procedure to be followed 
when allocating housing accommodation. This is the Common Housing Allocations 
Policy.  

The Code is a guide published by the Welsh Ministers. Local authorities must have 
regard to the code when carrying out their functions in relation to homelessness and 
housing allocation. Local authorities must have regard to any guidance issued by the 
Welsh Ministers. Ministerial guidelines issued under the provisions of the Act are 
contained in the Code.

2.5 Are there any gaps in our evidence that need to be gathered?

No.

 
3 Identifying the Impact

3.1 The Council must give due regard to the impact of any changes will have 
on people with equality characteristic below.  What impact will the 

Page 147



policy/new service or the proposed changes have on these characteristics?  
You are welcome to add other features if you wish. 

Characteristic What type 
of effect? 

In whcih way? What is the evidence?

Race 
(including
nationality)

Negative Not everyone is eligible to be on the Common housing 
register. Statutory regulations determine that citizens 
of some countries cannot qualify for social housing 
allocation, and the policy confirms that.

Subject to these regulations, the Policy does not 
discriminate on the basis of race or nationality.
   

The Welsh 
Language

Positive By using local connection as a tool to determine who 
will be given which band, it is believed that the policy 
is positive in terms of protecting Welsh communities, 
with 65.4% of Gwynedd residents (3 years and older) 
able to speak Welsh.

Disability Positive / 
negative

It is a statutory requirement to ensure that reasonable 
preference is shown to an applicant (or family member) 
who need to move on medical or welfare grounds 
including grounds related to a disability (section 167 
(2) of the Act). This can therefore be seen as positive.

However there may be challenges on providing 
properties for people with physical disabilities due to 
the nature of the social housing stock, that is the 
relative lack of supply of accessible properties or 
properties with adaptations in them compared to the 
demand for such properties. Please note that new 
social properties developed do meet accessible homes 
standards.

It should be noted that the Policy is not inherently 
negative, but the implementation of the policy may be 
disadvantaged.

Sex None Information on applicants’ and family members’ sex is 
used for assessing needs in terms of property size and 
bedroom needs, and to determine if overcrowding or 
under-occupation are present and may affect the 
priority given to an application.

Age None Anyone over the age of 16 can apply for social housing 
(with a guarantor if they are 16 or 17). The policy also 
makes specific reference to different age groups 

Page 148



(young and older) as a result of various factors which 
affect people at different times in their lives. These 
include young people who leave local authority care, 
preventing children from being taken into care, older 
people who wish to move to designated schemes for 
older persons (this also relates to suitable 
accommodation based on Disability because often Age 
and Disability issues affect an individual at the same 
time).

Sexual 
Orientation

None. An applicant’s sexual orientation plays no part in the 
assessment of an application for social housing. The 
question is asked for equality monitoring purposes and 
an applicant may choose not to answer the question.

Religion or
belief (or lack 
of belief)

None. An applicant’s religion, belief or non-belief plays no 
part in the assessment of an application for a social 
housing. The question is asked for equality monitoring 
purposes and an applicant may choose not to answer 
the question.

Gender
reassignment

Positive Although the policy makes no distinction between 
applicants of the same sex as allocated to them at 
birth, and those who have reassigned, it is recognised 
that transgender people could suffer abuse in society.

The policy allows for consideration for an urgent need 
for housing if a transgender applicant is homeless 
because of abuse or hate crime.

Pregnancy 
and Maternity

None. The policy refers to pregnancy and maternity as 
regards the household’s bedroom requirements. An 
application may be affected by the need to look at the 
family circumstances at the time of application and inr 
the near future in terms of the suitability of a property.

Marriage and 
Civil 
Partnership

None. The policy refers to marital status and partnership in 
terms of the household’s bedroom requirements, but 
there is no discrimination here between marriage, civil 
partnership or co-habiting partnership.

3.2 It is incumbent on the Council under the equality act 2010 to contribute 
positively to a fairer society by promoting equality and good relations in 
its activities in the areas of age, sex, sexual orientation, religion, race, 
transgender, disability and pregnancy and maternity.  The Council must 
give due regard to how any change affects the duties here. 

General Duties Does it have In what way? What is the evidence?

Page 149



of the Equality
Act

an impact?

Remove illegal
discrimination,
harassment
and
victimisation

Yes  The Policy is based on legislation and addressing 
issues of equality is a duty on the Council according 
to the Welsh Government's Code of Guidance on 
Housing Allocations and Homelessness.  

The Policy places people who suffer from 
harassment or victimisation in the ‘housing need’ 
category, and if the harassment or victimisation is 
of a violent nature then they will be placed in the 
‘urgent housing need’ category.

Promoting
equal
opportunities

Yes The Policy promotes equal opportunities, however 
we must also consider that the policy must give 
reasonable preference to 5 statutory categories of 
applicant.

Encouraging
good
relationships

Yes The Council is working in partnership with Grŵp 
Cynefin, Cartrefi Cymunedol Gwynedd and North 
Wales Housing to implement this Policy. Applicants 
will be supported by various public and third sector 
agencies in their quest for social housing.

4) Analysing the results

4.1 Is the policy therefore likely to have a significant, positive impact on any 
of the equality characteristics or the General Duties and what is the reason 
for this?

It is not anticipated that there will be a significant positive impact on any of the 
equality characteristics or the General Duty. Please note that the Policy includes 
provision for a panel of professional officers set a higher priority for some applications 
based on circumstances of the application.

4.2 Is the Plan therefore likely to have a substantial, negative impact on any 
of the equality characteristics or General Duties and what is the reason for 
this?

It is not anticipated that there will be a significant negative impact on any of the 
equality characteristics or the General Duty. Please note that the Policy includes 
provision for a panel of professional officers set a higher priority for some applications 
based on circumstances of the application.

4.3   What should be done?

Page 150



Choose one of the following:

Continue with the policy because it is robust 

Adapt the policy to eliminate any barriers

Suspend and abolish policy because as the detrimental effects are too large

Continue with the plan as any detrimental impact can be justified 

4.4 If continuing with the scheme, what steps do you take to reduce or 
mitigate any negative effects?

Race – will have to comply with legislation on access to the register for people who are 
subject to immigration control and people from abroad.  

Disability – new social housing developments reaching modern accessibility standards 
will mean more properties in the social stock to meet the needs of applicants with 
disabilities.  

Please note that the policy includes a provision for a panel of professional officers set a 
higher priority for applications based on circumstances of the application.

4.5 If you do not take further action to remove or reduce negative impacts, 
please explain why here.

5) Monitoring

5.1 What steps will you take to monitor the impact and effectiveness of the 
policy or service (action plan)?

The Common Housing Allocations Policy will be reviewed annually, or when there is a 
change in legislation or statutory guidance or at the request of the Partnership.

Page 151



Appendix 3 – Consultation Questionnaire Analysis – Overview and Summary

Here is a summary of the responses to the consultation questionnaire. 123 responses were 
received, with 113 submitted online and 10 through the paper questionnaire. The first graph 
shows the group to which respondents belonged, with the subsequent graphs showing 
responses to the 7 question which were asked in the questionnaire.

Other member 
of the public

[VALUE]Applicant on the 
Common Housing 

Register (or 
answering on 
their behalf)

[VALUE]

No answer 6%

Stakeholder 
[VALUE]

Community Council 
[VALUE]

Responses to the Consultation Questionnaire

Yes [VALUE]

No [VALUE]

No answer [VALUE]

1. Do you agree that a banding system would be advantageous 
compared to a points system?

Page 152



Yes [VALUE]

No [VALUE]

No answer 6%

2. Do you agree that people with a community connection 
should get more priority?

Yes [VALUE]
No [VALUE]

No answer 6%

3. Do you agree that persons who have been on the register 
longest should get more priority?

Yes [VALUE]

No [VALUE]

No answer [VALUE]

4. Do you agree that only people with a need for social 
housing should go on the register?

Page 153



Yes [VALUE]

No [VALUE]

No answer [VALUE]

5. Do you agree that a person with more than 5 years local 
connection with Gwynedd should get more priority for social 

housing?

Yes 68%

No [VALUE]

No answer [VALUE]

6. Do you agree that priority should be reduced if a person has 
refused an offer of accommodation without giving a valid reason 

for the refusal?

Yes [VALUE]

No [VALUE]

No answer [VALUE]

7. Do you agree that priority should be reduced because of a 
person’s behaviour (for example anti-social behaviour, tenancy 

debts)?

 

Page 154



GWYNEDD COUNCIL CABINET 

1. DECISION SOUGHT

To avoid losing grant funding and to allow us to persist with existing schemes to 
approve the release of £1.25m of the Council Tax Premium Fund towards 3 
schemes highlighted in appendix 1 during 2019-20.
 

2.  REASON THE DECISION IS REQUIRED

We are in the process of completing consultation on the proposed Housing 
Strategy which will be presented to the Cabinet and the Council over the next 
months. When adopted the strategy will confirm priorities and a spending plan 
over the next 5 years. In order to avoid delays and to commence and initiate 
delivery in certain areas during 2019-20 it is necessary to confirm an allocation of 
funding for some activities now to ensure we are able to deliver on some 
priorities.

     3.  INTRODUCTION

The attached table outlines the program and provides details of the individual 
plans which will be delivered during 2019-2020. Initial effort will concentrate on 
activity which make a difference in areas that create challenges and initiatives 
which attract external grant funding. 

Schemes within the program create opportunities to attract additional resource 
from external sources to maximize attainment and to progress existing schemes. 
We are requesting that the 2019/20 element of the allocation is confirmed to 
maximize the resource available, to help take advantage of collaborative 
opportunities which will help make a difference to the people of Gwynedd.

Report for a meeting of Gwynedd Council Cabinet

Date of Meeting: 25th of June  2019
Cabinet Member: Councillor  Craig ab Iago
Officer Contact: Arwel Wyn Owen

Report Title : Housing Strategy – Financial Allocation for 2019/20 

Page 155

Agenda Item 10



The attached list includes proposals which build and extend previous schemes 
which have been successful and to increase outputs. In order to fully realize 
opportunities that arise, an element of flexibility will be required within the 
themes, to take advantage of emerging opportunities and to maximizing external 
grant programs.

   4.    REASON AND JUSTIFICATION FOR RECOMMENDING THE DECISION.

The purpose of this report is to implement an expenditure program and to 
confirm a firm direction for 2019/20 thereby avoiding delay.

Gwynedd Council has raised additional council tax income by charging a 
premium on second homes and long term empty properties and has committed 
that a proportion of the money collected would be allocated to housing initiatives 
to make a difference in the community.  

Appendix 1 proposes 3 early priority schemes for spending a proportion of the 
money during 2019-20. 

The allocation of the remaining resources will be prioritised in the draft Housing 
Strategy, which will be presented to the Cabinet and the Council for approval 
over the next months. 

   5.     NEXT STEPS AND TIMETABLE

The work program will be implemented on confirmation of funding.
 

   6.    CONSULTATIONS UNDERTAKEN PRIOR TO RECOMMENDING THE                    

          DECISION

          Comments of Statutory Officers

          Chief Finance Officer: 

I have worked with the author to prepare the financial aspects and figures 
in the Housing Strategy Financial Allocation report and the appendix, and 
I confirm the accuracy of the relevant content.  I believe that it would be 
reasonable for the Cabinet to approve the release of £ 1.25m from the 
Council Tax Premium Reserve to start delivering the 3 early priority 
schemes proposed in the Appendix during 2019-20.

Page 156



          Monitoring Officer: 

The report notes that that the proposed Housing Strategy is under 
preparation for decision within the next few months. However, it also 
acknowledged that the timetable and changes in grant funding mean that 
there is a case for financing projects to maintain progress. The 
recommendation protects the Councils position without prejudicing the 
proposed Housing Strategy.

           Local Member/s:
                      Not applicable.

          Consultation

A copy of the Draft Housing Strategy was presented to the Care Scrutiny 
Committee on the 28th of March 2019 following an informal discussion 
with the Scrutiny Committee on the 31st January 2019. The content was 
adapted to address some observations received and was supported by 
the Committee.

A copy of the Strategy has also been shared with key partners to help co-
ordinate priorities and to ensure that it is possible to achieve within the 
timeframe. A draft consultation copy was also been placed on the 
Council's website.

Page 157



Appendix 1

INITIATIVES TO BE FUNDED DURING 2019-20

SCHEMES ACCORDING TO PRIROITY -THEME 2019-2020
a. PREVENTING HOMELESSNESS                                                     Schemes  ( 1) £300k
b.  HELPING FIND A HOME                                                                         Scheme     (2) £700k

       ch.- HOMES WHICH ARE ENVIORMENTALLY FRIENDLY                       Scheme      (3) £250k

TOTAL £1.25m

FUNDING SOURCE FOR  2019-2020

Funding Sources 2019-2020
(£)

Council Premium on Second and 
Empty Homes

2,700k

P
age 158



LIST OF HOUSING SCHEMES TO BE IMPLEMENTED 

A. ENSURING THAT NO ONE IS HOMELESS IN GWYNEDD
Title Description of Scheme Concept Estimate of scheme’s cost 

Investment sought 

1. Bespoke 
Accommodation

[PODS Smaller Units]

New innovative scheme to provide (modular) accommodation units for single people who do not 
have a suitable place to live. It will deliver high quality accommodation that is cheap to heat and 
maintain at an affordable rent.  These will provide homes for people where there is no suitable 
provision and who therefore struggle to secure accommodation.

Phase 1 - £300k 4 units

(Welsh Government have 
offered sponsorship) 

B. ENSURING THAT THE PEOPLE OF GWYNEDD ARE ABLE TO FIND A SUITABLE HOME
2. Empty Home Scheme

(First Time Buyers + 
Landlord Loans) 

<6 months

This scheme aims to support landlords and first time buyers to bring long term empty properties 
back into use .The first time buyer element is an evolution and extension of the traditional Empty 
Homes scheme where grant assistance or a loan is offered to first-time buyers to maximise the 
standard of empty properties and to bring property back into use. It address two core priorities, 
namely assisting first time buyers to secure a foothold in the market and  to return empty property 
back into use.  The scheme has attracted a positive response with the demand exceeding the 
allocated resource.  This provides an opportunity to reach more first time buyers. The second 
element targets landlords to help improve and maximise property standards. Landlords who 
receive assistance will have to commit to deliver property of high standard and to let the property 
at an affordable rent for 5 years, and to accept nominations from the Council.

£700k per annum

45 units 

(Some additional money 
attracted via VVP)

C. ENSURING THAT GWYNEDD HOMES ARE ENVIRONMENTALLY FRIENDLY
Title Description of Scheme Concept Estimated Cost of Scheme 

Investment sought

3. Housing Repair Fund Scheme to assist vulnerable owners to renovate and improve the condition of their houses.    This 
will assist vulnerable people to retain and maintain their independence by reviewing essential 
improvements and urgent work to their properties.  Some investment can be recovered in the 
future when property is sold.  Extension of the current scheme. 

£250k per annum 

P
age 159



 GWYNEDD COUNCIL CABINET

Report to a meeting of Gwynedd Council Cabinet

1 THE DECISION SOUGHT
The Cabinet is asked to note and accept the information in the report.

2 THE REASON FOR THE NEED FOR A DECISION
The purpose of this report is to provide an update on the work that is 
ongoing in the field of equality as a result of the Strategic Equality Plan 
2016-20, and more widely.  The report is an accurate record of what has 
been done during the year.

It is also a statutory duty on the Council to complete an Annual Report and 
to note employment information each year (Equality Act 2010).

3 INTRODUCTION

In March 2016, the Council published its Strategic Equality Plan for the 
period of 2016-20 in order to reduce inequality between people who have 
equality characteristics and the rest of society.  Those characteristics are:

 Age
 Gender reassignment
 Gender 
 Race – including ethnic or national origin, colour or nationality
 Disability
 Pregnancy and maternity
 Sexual orientation
 Religion or belief - including lack of belief
 Marriage and civil partnership

(Equality Act 2010)

In the Strategic Equality Plan, the Council noted four objectives to work 
towards over the next four years.   The objectives were chosen based on a 
variety of evidence including internal information, the voice and 

 

Date of meeting: 25 Mehefin 2018 
Cabinet Member: Councillor Nia Jeffreys
Contact Officer: Delyth G Williams, Equality and Policy Officer
Contact Telephone 
Number:

01286 679708

Title of Item: Annual Equality Report 2018-19

Page 160

Agenda Item 11



participation of members of the public and data on equality characteristics. 
A fifth objective was added last year (the last in the list below), again on the 
basis of evidence.

The objectives are: 

 Improve our arrangements to discover and use the opinion of people 
who share equality characteristics 

 Improve our equality impact assessment arrangements
 Create circumstances for people from different backgrounds to 

represent the people of Gwynedd by standing in an election to 
become an elected member

 To identify any employment and pay inequalities and to take action 
to reduce them. 

 Improve our information provision for people who do not use Welsh 
as English as a first language or need information in different 
formats

The document also includes an appendix which gives employment details 
according to protected equality characteristics.

4 NEXT STEPS AND TIMETABLE
Work is ongoing to to prepare the Strategic Equality Plan for 2020-24

5 ANY CONSULTATIONS UNDERTAKEN PRIOR TO RECOMMENDING 
THE DECISION
The Strategic Equality Plan's Equality Impact Assessment has been 
updated

The Views of the Statutory Officers

i) Chief Finance Officer
Nothing to add from a financial propriety perspective

ii) Monitoring Officer
The annual report reflects progress and gives an overview in this 
important area. Equality considerations have embedded in the 
Council's decision-making processes and this is to be welcomed 
in terms of propriety.

Page 161



Page 162



www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/cydraddoldeb            
2

Purpose of the Report

In March 2016, the Council published its Strategic Equality Plan for the period 
of 2016-20 in order to reduce inequality between people who have equality 
characteristics and the rest of society.  Those characteristics are:

 Age 
 Gender reassignment
 Gender 
 Race (including ethnic or national origin, colour or nationality)
 Disability
 Pregnancy and maternity
 Sexual orientation
 Religion or belief - including lack of belief
 Marriage and civil partnership 

(Equality Act 2010)

In the Strategic Equality Plan, the Council noted four objectives to work 
towards over the next four years.   An additional objective was added to last 
year's Annual Report, as local evidence showed that it is something that 
requires further work.   The new objective is fifth in the list of five objectives, 
namely: 

 Improve our arrangements to discover and use the opinion of people 
who share equality characteristics 

 Improve our equality impact assessment arrangements
 Create circumstances for people from different backgrounds to represent 

the people of Gwynedd by standing in an election to become an elected 
member

 To identify any employment and pay inequalities and to take action to 
reduce them. 

 Improve our information provision for people who do not use Welsh or 
English as a first language or require documents in a different format.  

Page 163



www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/cydraddoldeb            
3

The purpose of this document is to note some of the most important things 
that Gwynedd Council has done during the year from April 2018 to March 
2019 in the field of Equality.  It is important to ensure that equality 
characteristics receive due regard and naturally permeate into all the Council's 
work.    

Page 164



www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/cydraddoldeb            
4

Action Plan

Objective 1

Improve our arrangements to discover and use the 
opinion of people who share equality characteristics. 

What will the Council do during 2016-20? What is the 
timescale?

1.1 Strengthen the Council's link to specific groups and establish 
an equality core group.   Share the information that comes from 
the group throughout the Council. 

2016-17

1.2 Share information from opinion poll exercises on the Council's 
intranet so that it is available to all.   (Further consideration to be 
given to finding the best method)

Ongoing

1.3 Strengthen the equality element in the Engagement Handbook 
based on good practice to ensure that services are reminded of 
the benefit that comes from receiving the views of people with 
equality characteristics, as well as the duty to do so. 

2016-17

What has happened during 2018-19? 
1.1 The Equality Core Group continues to meet quarterly and there are about 25 
names on the distribution list.  Meetings have also taken place with several 
external groups e.g. refugees, persons with learning disabilities, young people 
who have just left care, GISDA’s LGBT+ Group etc.  Their views have been of 
assistance particularly to steer the work on savings by noting the importance of 
care and education - two areas that received protection.  The details of the list of 
organisations were used to promote the questionnaire with characteristic groups 
who were not members of the core group. 
1.2 Taking place
1.3 Undertaken in 2017-18

Page 165



www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/cydraddoldeb            
5

Improve our equality impact assessment arrangements

What will Council do during 2016-20?  What is 
the 
timescale?

2.1 Give assistance and training to officers to ensure they have 
information about their duty towards people with equality 
characteristics.   This should include ensuring that impact 
assessments are a part of the development of any policy, 
project or procedure before any decisions are made. 

Ongoing

2.2 Ensure that messages that come from seeking input from 
groups and individuals with protected characteristics are shared 
throughout the Council so that they can be included in impact 
assessments. 

Ongoing 

What has happened during 2018-19? 
2.1 The equality e-module is available on the Council's website and it has 
been promoted to some extent, however, the response has been limited.   It is 
essential to advertise this further during 2019-20.  It is important that more 
people know what their duties are.  The Policy and Equality Officer continues 
to educate officers regarding the duties in other ways, by talking with 
individuals, attending group meetings and management teams. The intention 
is that this will ensure that each member of staff is aware of his/her duty under 
the Equality Act 2010 in order that they can act appropriately for people with 
equality characteristics.  

The information on the intranet has been promoted during the year, but more 
is needed.  

2.2 When the Equality Officer assists officers to create impact assessments 
he/she ensures that the information that came from meeting with different 
groups is available to them.   This information has also been published on the 
Council's website. This strengthens the equality impact assessments.

Page 166



www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/cydraddoldeb            
6

Objective 3
Create the circumstances for people from 
different backgrounds to represent the people 
of Gwynedd by standing in an election to 
become an elected member. 

 

What will the Council do during 2016-20? What is the 
timescale?

3.1 Conduct a local survey to identify the elements that prevent 
individuals from standing in an election to become a local 
councillor.

2016/17 –
2017-18

3.2 Act (where possible) on the outcome of the above to 
remove obstacles. 

2016/17 –
2017-18

3.3 Various methods to raise the awareness of the people of 
Gwynedd about democracy and the opportunities to represent 
them as a local councillor. 

2016/17 –
2017-18

What has happened during 2017-18? 

Most of this work has already been undertaken when preparing for the 2017 
Local Government Elections.  However, we have already started to think 
about promoting diversity for the next electoral cycle and in the longer term in 
the future.  

During 2018-19 a course on Unconscious Bias was offered to the Members of 
the Democratic Services in order to raise awareness of unconscious bias and 
to consider how to respond to this.  Work is underway to hold internal training 
on unconscious bias for all Members soon in April and the initial response has 
been positive.     

Page 167



www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/cydraddoldeb            
7

Objective 4
To identify any employment and pay inequalities 
and to take action to reduce them.  

What will the Council do during 2016-20? What is the 
timescale?

4.1 A campaign to fill in gaps in the equality characteristics 
data 

Commenced 
in June 
2016

4.2 Complete a pay audit 2016/17 – 
2019/20. 

4.3 Act based on the evidence from the pay audit and any 
other relevant information 

2016/17 – 
2019/20

What happened during 2018-19?

4.1 Our staff monitoring questionnaire was dated and did not ask the 
correct questions regarding some characteristics, especially religion.   A 
new questionnaire that responds better to the need is now live.   Various 
messages have been published stressing the need for staff to completed it 
so that we get worthwhile figures to act upon, although, of course, the 
Council does not have the right to demand an answer.   Under the 
circumstances, it is inevitable that the number who had completed it in 
order to report on 31 March 2019 was significantly lower than last year.    
Having said that, it must be borne in mind that the information we gather 
now answers our duty under the Equality Act 2010 much better. 
4.2 Completed
4.3 Improvement Priority 3 in the Council's Plan, namely Women in 
Leadership, promotes the number of women who apply for and reach high 
level jobs within the Council by reviewing work conditions and environment. 
The Council recognises that the number of women who perform a 
managerial function within the Council is disproportonate to the split within 
the whole workforce e.g. 70% are women and 30% are men, although the 
recent pay audit indicated that there are no gaps in equal pay. 

Page 168



www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/cydraddoldeb            
8

Bore da!
Maidin mhaith सु�भात
Goeie moarn dzień dobry
I-ghodwa t-tajba صبح صبح

Objective 5
Improve our information provision for people who 
do not use Welsh or English as a first language or 
require documents in a different format.  

What will the Council do during 2016-20? What is the 
timescale?

5.1 Engage with the Equality Core Group and other relevant 
groups to identify the most need 

ongoing

5.2 Act on what they say, if possible ongoing
What happened during 2018-19?
A discussion took place with the BDA (British Deaf Association) who are 
responsible for the British Sign Language Charter (BSL).  Since there are 
not many people in Gwynedd who are BSL users (35 according to the last 
census) they only expect small steps for us to reach a position where we 
can sign the Charter.   We are therefore working to place a video on the 
Corporate Website to inform people of their rights and to encourage them to 
ask for BSL documents if they need them.   We will then check to see what 
else is required. 

A discussion took place with Self-advocacy Groups (People with Learning 
Disabilities) and they are eager to get Easyread documents.   Work will 
need to be undertaken to raise awareness of this format, and other formats, 
over the next year.   The Policy and Equality Officer prepared Easyread 
documents for the consultation on the Council's Priorities.    Easyread 
documents are in a specific format using pictures and simple sentences so 
that they are easier to read.  It is useful for people with learning disabilities, 
those who do not speak Welsh or English as a first language, children and 
young people or people who for any other reason have lower literacy skills.   

Further engagement will be required with the Core Equality Group as a 
whole during 2019-20. 

Page 169



www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/cydraddoldeb            
9

Has the Council done anything else? 

In April 2018, Ysgol Eifion Wyn Porthmadog opened a 
special room to hold Nurture Group sessions.  Ystafell 
yr Enfys staff at focus on emotional skills, social and 
behavioural alongside language and communication, 
literacy and numeracy.   Excellent support to the 
enterprise was received from local businesses and the 
community, with nearly everything for the room given as donations, as well as 
hours of labour.  (Age, Disability)

In May 2018, the Regional Partnership Board issued a new plan to show how 
health and social care services will work together to satisfy the care 
requirements of the people of north Wales.  The Board (Local Authorities in 
North Wales, Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board and other partners) 
was responding to the population assessment that highlighted the need for 
care and support.   The plan, following an extensive consultation, notes the 
priorities for the integration of health and social care services across north 
Wales, for older people with complex needs, children and young people, 
people with learning disabilities and people with mental health conditions. 
(Disability)

During the Dementia Awareness Week, 21-27 May, 
DementiaGo open days were held at Penllyn 
Leisure Centre, Bala and Bro Dysynni Centre, 

Tywyn.  Anyone who is concerned about their memory or about developing 
dementia, or are carers, were welcome to meet the physical activities 
programme staff.  There was an opportunity to join in with easy chair 
exercises, have a cup of tea and to receive information from the Alzheimer's 
Society and other local organisations. A 'Dementia Friends' information 
session took place to learn a little more about the condition and how to support 
people within the community. (Disability)

In addition, during the week, pupils from Ysgol y 
Gorlan, Tremadog learnt about the condition and the 

Page 170



www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/cydraddoldeb            
10

little things that people can do to support people living with dementia.    The 
pupils had an opportunity to meet with people who live with dementia and 
participate in physical activity with them at Glaslyn Leisure Centre.   (Age, 
Disability)

Upgrading work was undertaken at Llys Cadfan 
(Tywyn), Plas Hafan (Nefyn) and Plas Hedd (Bangor) 
in response to local calls for specialist care services 
for people with conditions such as dementia.  People 
can continue to live within their communities, with 
family members visiting and maintaining vital links.     
There is cooperation between the Council's care team and medical staff from 
the Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board to care for up to eight people with 
dementia at each site.  The Welsh Government's Integrated Care Fund has 
contributed to the work.   (Disability, Age) 

Recently those who received support at Manton have moved on to receive 
services at other locations in the local area.   They receive an individual, 
personal care package with opportunities to learn and develop as independent 
members of the community.  Some do carpentry work at the Glynllifon site 
whilst others attend Menter Fachwen and Seren or attend a new community 
provision at the Arfon Leisure Centre, Caernarfon.  There are accredited 
training opportunities, to develop the skills and confidence of individuals so 
that they can, in due course, move on to a work placement or college.  This 
follows over two years of discussions with the individuals and their families in 
order to ascertain what they wanted for the future.  (Disability) 

A café and an upgraded community room was opened at the 
Arfon Leisure Centre, Caernarfon, in June providing  
opportunities for work experience and training for adults known 
to the Learning Disability Team.  It is a new model for service 
provision in order to work towards the Learning Disability 
Service vision to encourage independence.   The individuals will 
develop important practical life skills, focusing on their strengths 
and empowering them to live full lives.   A wide range of 

community activities are facilitated, to answer the needs of the local 
community, such as parent and child groups, 'Cuppa and Conversation' 
sessions, health and well-being activities and pop-up advice and information 
clinics by agencies.  Funding was received from the Welsh Government 
Intermediate Care Fund. (Disability)

Page 171



www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/cydraddoldeb            
11

The Council's YGC department highlighted the role of some of the women who 
work within the department for the Women in Engineering International Day in 
June.  YGC is responsible for a wide range of construction, building 
regulations and environmental projects.   It is hoped that more young women 
can be inspired to consider a career in this field and to encourage more 
diversity in the next generation of engineers.  (Gender) 

Also in June, the Lloyd George Museum and Neuadd 
Llanystumdwy (jointly with Welsh Women's Archives) held an 
event to celebrate a 100 years since some women received the 
right to vote.   A re-enactment of an event in 1912 took place 
when Lloyd George was disrupted when opening the village hall 
by members of the WSPU (Women's Social and Political Union) 
as part of their campaign.  Also talks, interviews and a schools' 

competition were conducted as part of the celebration.  In addition, there was 
a Roadshow giving people an opportunity to bring along items that recorded 
the history and life of Women in Wales and these were recorded and scanned 
by experts.   (Gender) 

Children and young people from Dyffryn Nantlle 
took part in numerous activities as part of 'Ha' Pen 
Hapus!  2018’ during the summer.  There were all 
sorts of events - sports, learning about 
archaeology, fishing and a film course to name but 
a few.   A number of organisations and groups 
came together to offer support for the enterprise as well as Council staff and 
local councillors.   The festival is part of a wider vision - young people taking 
on a prominent role to lead the process of organising and discussing what is 
important to them.  The idea came into being as a result of young people 
coming into Penygroes library to ask if any activites were being held in the 
area.  (Age)

The Derwen Youth Project (established by Derwen and 
Gwynedd Council Youth Service teams) won the 
'Promoting equality and diversity' category at the 2018 
Youth Work Excellence Awards in Wales. It offers 

Page 172



www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/cydraddoldeb            
12

various activities for disabled persons to gain confidence to participate in 
mainstream activities.   The individuals are given informal educational 
experiences on life skills such as cooking, shopping, crossing the road, web 
security.   There is an opportunity to gain qualifications in areas such as 
cookery, indoor games, art and drumming giving young disabled people the 
same opportunities as others to attend county awards evenings to celebrate 
achievement.    (Disability, Age) 

In July a virtual reality (VR) experience was launched at Galeri Caernarfon to 
assist users to understand what it is like to live with dementia - totally 
bilingually.   The project was funded by Arloesi Gwynedd Wledig and the 
Welsh Government's 2050 Welsh Grant, under the leadership of our 
Information Technology Service and Adults, Health and Welfare Department, 
and was created with the bespoke creative agency Galactig.    (Disability)

Gwynedd Council received the Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW) report 
confirming that the authority's Children and Supporting Families Department 
had "substantial strengths".  These included a 'committed and fixed' workforce, 
'strong leadership' and a 'corporate parenting board that is eager to ensure 
good outcomes for looked-after children and who receive good support from 
all council sections'.   Ensuring the welfare and safety of children and families 
in Gwynedd is at the heart of everything the Council does despite the 
extremely challenging pressures facing public services.  (Age)

The young people of Ysgol Glancegin, Maesgeirchen 
were given advice on how to stay healthy over the 
summer thanks to dieticians who support the All Wales 
Programme, Enriching School Holidays, 'Food and 
Fun'.  The scheme provides healthy meals, food and 
nutrition education, physical activities and enriching 

sessions, in areas of social deprivation.   It was the first time this type of free 
holiday club offering a variety of fun activities and healthy food was held in 
Gwynedd and it was very popular amongst families.   (Age)

At the end of October the North Wales Regional Partnership Board received 
£1.69m from the Welsh Government's Transformation Fund (Healthier Wales 
scheme) to develop seamless services for people with learning disabilities.  By 
integrating health and social care services and the third sector more 
effectively, and using assistive technology, the project will help individuals to 
live more independently and to receive care closer to their homes.   There will 

Page 173



www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/cydraddoldeb            
13

be less duplication in recording systems, so that people will not have to say 
something more than once.   It develops new ways of working that could be 
used, eventually, throughout Wales to reduce pressure on specialist services 
in the future.   (Disability)

A new path was opened in October near the Tŷ 
Moelwyn site, Porthmadog with a Capital Green 
Infrastructure Grant and the cooperation of various 
landowners.  It is suitable for walkers, cyclists and 
wheelchair users.  (Disability)

In November and December 2018 a public consultation was conducted to 
ascertain views about the 63 public toilets and the 35 community toilets 
situated in buildings such as cafés and shops including facilities for baby 
changing and changing facilities for disabled people.     (Age, Disability)

The six counties in north Wales have joined in partnership with the Chartered 
Institute of Housing Cymru to publish People, Homes and Services:  A 
regional approach to tackling homelessness in north Wales.  This document 
notes the regional strategy to tackle all types of homelessness such as people 
sleeping outdoors, homelessness amongst young people, people living in 
temporary accommodation whilst on waiting lists for social housing.   At the 
core of the strategy is a regional action plan with six individual action plans for 
each local authority.  (Age, Disability)

Two trainees from Gwynedd Council’s Managers of 
Tomorrow scheme, Arawn Glyn and Sara Marged 
Jones, have been working on the ‘Community 
Memory Chest’ project which involves residents 
from Plas Gwilym, Penygroes; Bryn Blodau, Llan 
Ffestiniog and Plas y Don, Pwllheli.  The scheme 
uses old photographs and archived audio clips to 

help the residents to recall memories from the areas where they were brought 
up.   There is also an empty scrap book, for the residents to add their own 
memories, and this will help to ensure that local stories are not forgotten. 
(Age)

Hafod y Gest, a joint development between 
Gwynedd Council and Grŵp Cynefin, has been 
opened in the centre of the town and community 

Page 174



www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/cydraddoldeb            
14

of Porthmadog, close to the town's shops and facilities.  It allows older people 
in the area to live independently in a safe community environment with flexible 
care facilities also available.   There are 26 two-bedroomed flats and 14 one-
bedroomed flats together with community areas, such as a dining room, 
lounges, gardens and activity rooms.   The scheme gave 12 apprentices from 
north Wales valuable experience in construction. (Age, Disability)

The exhibition 'Women, War and Peace' was held at Storiel, Bangor jointly 
with the Welsh Centre for International Affairs.  This was a collection of work 
by the photo-journalist Lee Karen Stow, investigating the impact of war on the 
lives of women with photographs documenting very personal stories and 
showing how women have inspired the research into peace since the end of 
the First World War.   Amongst the portraits was Ifanwy Williams from 
Porthmadog, 97 years, one of the founders of Heddwch Nain/Mam-gu 
(Grandmother's Peace) and a campaigner.  (Gender) 

Gwynedd Libraries offer Digital Help sessions in the home for everyone who 
cannot visit one of the libraries.  This is in addition to the Books for the Home 
service that has been available for many years.  By now, if people who cannot 
reach a library require assistance with digital connection, or need help in using 
IT or to get access to the digital services the library offers, such as e-books, 
audio e-books or e-magazines, a Librarian can visit the person in his/her home 
to offer help and support.  (Disability, Age) 

Following a request by a LGBT group that meet at 
GISDA in Caernarfon, a permanent LGBT collection 
has been established at Caernarfon and Bangor 
libraries.  Gwynedd Libraries have worked in close 
cooperation with the LGBT community when 
locating the section and we have also extended the 
variety of titles that were already in stock.  The 
Service was glad to be able to respond to this request and were happy to 
provide a library service that reflects the need of users and the whole society. 
The collection is aimed for adults and young adults with a mixture of self-help 
books, fiction, factual and biographies and books by LGBT authors.  (Sexual 
Orientation).

The Life for Life Special Schools Team Officer provides schools with a variety 
of sports sessions including basketball, fitness circuit, tennis and football. 

Page 175



www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/cydraddoldeb            
15

Schools can also have a block of sessions they specialize in e.g. Hafod Lon 
and Pendalar were given 6 weeks of cricket run by Cricket Wales. In addition, 
Pendalar had a period of 6 weeks of climbing sessions at Beacon climbing 
center, Caernarfon and Hafod Lon had their sessions at Harlech Leisure 
Centre. At the end of these sessions there is an invitation to enter 
competitions. (Disability, Age)

The Disability Sports Development Officer held a 
Disability Sport Consultation across the County with 
220 questionnaires completed. The results have 
shaped the information that Healthy Living Centres put 
on the website, Plas Heli's bid for a Big Lottery Grant 

and the Disability Sport strategic work program across the county. According 
to the Disability Sport Wales report the number of times that disabled people 
took part in sporting activity across the county had increased from 38,666 in 
2017 to 53,391 in 2018. During the same period, membership of disability 
sports clubs in Gwynedd had increased, and Healthy Living Center 
Membership almost doubled (from 431 to 844). The work of the Insport 
Scheme has contributed to this with a program of disability inclusion training 
courses and development work. It ensures close collaboration between 
Council departments and external agencies including the 3rd sector. 
(Disability)

In February the official opening of Hafan y Sêr 
took place.  It offers short break care for up to six 
children with various impairments a purpose built 
building. Children are referred to the provision 
located in Penrhyndeudraeth through specialist 
children's teams in Gwynedd and Anglesey. The 
building includes modern rooms, an open leisure 
area, sensory equipment, computer facilities and an enclosed garden. The 
children who stay at Hafan y Sêr will see it as a holiday - with a chance to 
relax, have fun with friends, take part in activities, try new things and develop 
skills. The provision gives families and parents a short time off from their 
caring responsibilities, having them the opportunity to do things that many 
people take for granted such as going shopping or going for a meal.

Page 176



www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/cydraddoldeb            
16

Further information

Complaints and Comments

One formal complaint was received during the period 2018-19.   It concerned 
the choices on an application form on the website (protected characteristic - 
sexual orientation).   The choices were not extensive enough to suit all needs.  
The form was immediately amended by adding other options, as well as 
moving on to check other forms. 

Other matters were brought to the attention of the Policy and Equality Officer 
as informal complaints.   Many were about the changing rooms at the 
Canolfan Byw’n Iach with  people feeling that the provision for women was 
unfair (characteristic - gender).   Action was taken to change the signage to 
explain the situation better. 

Another comment about the list of choices on the website was received, this 
time about Gypsies and Travellers (characteristic - race)   The list was 
adapted.

During consultations on savings a number of comments were received 
regarding the questions about protected characteristics that were in the 
questionnaires.   Not everyone understand why some of the questions were 
required.  We will now ensure that we better explain why we are asking the 
questions in the future. 

Equality Information

See Appendix 2 for the Gwynedd Council staff monitoring figures

By now the questionnaire has been improved and updated (see objective 3).   
Therefore, we have had to ask everyone to complete the new form.   Although 
the response within the time schedule has been good the numbers that have 
completed it are inevitably lower.  We will continue to work to encourage more 
people to complete this for next year. 

Page 177



Adroddiad Blynyddol 2016-17

Employment Information 2018-19

The Council has a Duty, under the Equality Act 2010, to provide employment 
information annually.  We noticed that the questions in the old questionnaire did not 
comply in all cases with this Duty.  Some of the terminology and users were also out 
of date. We have therefore updated the form during the year and asked everyone to 
complete the new one.  This has inevitably led to a reduction in the number 
completed but we will continue to work to increase the number.

1. General workforce information

17.2% of the Council’s staff have completed the optional equality questionnaire, 
and the figures below are based on these unless noted differently. The 
information about equality characteristics is as follows:

Gender :

Which of these describes you best? % of the 
Sample

% of the 
Workforce

Female 68.3 11.7

Male 30.6 5.3

Other / I think of myself in a different way - -

I prefer not to say 1.1 0.2

Total 100.0 17.2

Nationality or National Identity:

Which of these describes you best? % of the 
Sample

% of the 
Workforce

Scottish 0.3 0.1

Welsh 91.7 15.8

Irish / Northern Irish 0.1 0.0

British 4.4 0.7

English 1.7 0.3

Page 178



Other 0.8 0.1

I prefer not to say 1.0 0.2

Total 100.0 17.2

Race :

Which of these describes you best? % of the 
Sample

% of the 
Workforce

White 97.7 16.8

Black – Caribbean - -

Black - African - -

Black – Other - -

Gypsy or Irish traveller - -

Mixed – White and Black Caribbean - -

Mixed – White and Black African - -

Mixed – White and Asian 0.2 0.1

Mixed – Other - -

Asian – Indian - -

Asian - Pakistani 0.2 0.0

Asian – Bangladeshi - -

Asian – Chinese 0.1 0.0

Asian – Other 0.2 0.0

Other 0.2 0.0

I prefer not to say 1.4 0.3

Total 100.0 17.2

Page 179



Sexual Orientation:

Which of these describes you best? % of the 
Sample

% of the 
Workforce

Bisexual 0.3 0.0

Gay man 0.4 0.1

Gay Woman/ Lesbian 0.4 0.1

Heterosexual or Straight 94.8 16.3

Other 0.4 0.1

I prefer not to say 3.7 0.6

Total 100.0 17.2

Religion :

Which of these describes you best? % of the 
Sample

% of the 
Workforce

Atheist 2.4 0.4

Buddhist 0.1 0.0

Christion 56.3 9.7

No Religion 32.3 5.6

Muslim 0.2 0.0

Jewish - -

Hindu - -

Other 1.8 0.3

I prefer not to say 6.9 1.2

Page 180



Total 100.0 17.2

Marital Status :

Are you married, or in a civil partnership? % of the 
Sample

% of the 
Workforce

No 40.2 6.9

Yes 55.6 9.6

I prefer not to say 4.2 0.7

Total 100.0 17.2

Disability :

Do you consider yourself to be a disabled 
person?

% of the 
Sample

% of the 
Workforce

No 94.6 16.3

Yes 2.2 0.4

I prefer not to say 3.2 0.5

Total 100.0 17.2

Gender Identity :

Has your gender identity changed from that 
assigned at birth?

% of the 
Sample

% of the 
Workforce

No 96.9 16.7

Yes 0.7 0.1

I prefer not to say 2.4 0.4

Page 181



Total 100.0 17.2

Age :

% of the 
Sample

% of the 
Workforce

16-19 0.8 0.2

20-24 5.1 0.9

25-29 10.7 1.8

30-34 10.0 1.7

35-39 12.1 2.1

40-44 12.4 2.1

45-49 15.2 2.6

50-54 12.8 2.2

55-59 12.4 2.2

60-64 4.8 0.8

65-69 1.1 0.2

70-74 0.1 0.0

I prefer not to say 2.5 0.4

Total 100.0 17.2

2. Nature of the Posts

Only the gender protected characteristic needs to be noted here.

Page 182



a) The number employed according to posts :

Analysis not available

b) Number employed according to salary scale :

 % 
Female

 % Male % I prefer 
not to say

% of the 
Sample

% of the 
Workforce

Apprentice 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.1 0.0

Basic Scale (BS) 25.2 6.0 0.3 31.5 5.4

Officers (O) 20.9 12.6 0.4 33.9 5.8

Senior Officers  (SO) 14.6 9.1 0.4 24.1 4.1

Senior Managers (SM) 0.4 0.7 0.0 1.1 0.2

Chief Officers 0.2 0.3 0.0 0.5 0.1

Teachers (including 
unqualified and supply)

3.6 0.5 0.0 4.1 0.7

Headteachers / Deputy 
Headteachers

3.1 1.3 0.0 4.3 0.8

Soulbury 0.4 0.0 0.0 0.4 0.1

Total 68.3 30.6 1.1 100.0 17.2

Page 183



c) The numbers employed according to salary range :

This is on the basis of pay if the individuals were Full Time Equivalent (FTE), and 
not necessarily the actual salary they receive.

 % 
Female

 % Male % I prefer 
not to say

% of the 
Sample

% of the 
Workforce

£10,000 - £19,999 25.2 6.1 0.3 31.6 5.4

£20,000 - £29,999 22.3 12.9 0.4 35.6 6.1

£30,000 - £39,999 13.4 7.7 0.3 21.4 3.7

£40,000 - £49,999 4.6 1.8 0.1 6.5 1.1

£50,000 - £59,999 2.2 1.4 0.0 3.6 0.6

£60,000 - £69,999 0.4 0.5 0.0 0.9 0.2

£70,000 - £79,999 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0

£80,000+ 0.1 0.2 0.0 0.3 0.1

Total 68.3 30.6 1.1 100.0 17.2

d)  Number employed according to contract type

 % 
Female

 % Male % I prefer 
not to say

% of the 
Sample

% of the 
Workforce

Fixed Term 3.8 1.4 0.0 5.2 0.9

Occasional 2.5 0.5 0.0 3.0 0.5

Permanent 62.0 28.7 1.1 91.8 15.8

Total 68.3 30.6 1.1 100.0 17.2

Page 184



e)  Number employed according to work pattern 

 % 
Female

 % Male % I prefer 
not to say

% of the 
Sample

% of the 
Workforce

Full Time 44.9 27.4 1.0 73.3 12.6

Part Time 23.4 3.2 0.1 26.7 4.6

Total 68.3 30.6 1.1 100.0 17.2

3. People who have applied for jobs with the Authority during the past 
year.

Note : these are applicants who have applied for a job online only – it does not include 
those who have made a paper application.  It includes people who already work for the 
Authority as well as external applicants. An applicant can have applied for more than 
one post and so appears twice in the data..

Gender Number

Female 1,620

Male 933

Other / I think of myself in a different way 4

I prefer not to say 8

No reply 3

Total 2,568

Nationality or National Identity Number

Page 185



Scottish 8

Welsh 2,167

Irish / Northern Irish 6

British 108

English 206

Other 67

I prefer not to say 6

Total 2,568

Race Number

White 2,505

Black – Caribbean 2

Black – African 4

Black – Other -

Gypsy or Irish traveller -

Asian – Indian 7

Asian - Pakistani 4

Asian – Bangladeshi 6

Asian – Chinese 1

Asian – Other 5

Mixed – White a Black Caribbean -

Mixed – White a Black African -

Mixed – White ac Asian 10

Mixed – Other -

Page 186



Other 5

I prefer not to say 19

Total 2,568

Sexual Orientation Number

Bisexual 17

Gay man 17

Gay Woman/ Lesbian 10

Heterosexual or Straight 2,436

Other 18

I prefer not to say 62

No reply 8

Total 2,568

Religion Number

Atheist 23

Buddhist 1

Christion 590

No Religion 1,376

Hindu 3

Jewish 2

Muslim 6

Page 187



Other 24

I prefer not to say 202

Mae gen i grefydd neu gred 334

No reply 7

Total 2,568

Marital Status : Are you married, or in a civil partnership? Number

No 948

Yes 509

I prefer not to say 59

No reply 1,052

Total 2,568

Disability : Do you consider yourself to be a disabled person? Number

No 1,449

Yes 30

I prefer not to say 37

No reply 1,052

Total 2,568

Page 188



Has your gender identity changed from that assigned at birth? Number

No 1,476

Yes 14

I prefer not to say 26

No reply 1,052

Total 2,568

Age Number

16-19 52

20-24 304

25-29 298

30-34 211

35-39 164

40-44 110

45-49 116

Page 189



50-54 100

55-59 65

60-64 20

65-69 1

70-74 0

75+ 1

No reply 1,126

Total 2,568

4. People who are employed by the Council who have made an 
application for a different job within the Authority

Part of the above figure.

5. People who have made an application for training and the number who 
were not successful

The data for those who were unsuccessful is not available.

6. People who are employed by the Council who completed training 
successfully.

2,417 staff members completed training during the year, whether traditional 
employment or an e-learning.  Of these 640 had completed the equality 
questionnaire.

Gender Number

Female 435

Male 197

Page 190



Other / I think of myself in a different way -

I prefer not to say 8

Total 640

Cenedligrwydd neu Hunaniaeth Genedlaethol Number

Scottish 3

Welsh 583

Irish / Northern Irish 1

British 29

English 12

Other 6

I prefer not to say 6

Total 640

Race Number

Asian - Pakistani 2

Asian – Chinese 1

Asian – Indian -

Asian – Bangladeshi -

Asian – Other 1

Mixed – White a Black Caribbean -

Mixed – White a Black African -

Page 191



Mixed – White ac Asian 3

Mixed – Other -

White 622

Black – Caribbean -

Black - African -

Black – Other -

Gypsy or Irish traveller -

Other 1

I prefer not to say 10

Total 640

Sexual Orientation Number

Bisexual 2

Gay man 2

Gay Woman/ Lesbian 4

Heterosexual or Straight 609

Other -

I prefer not to say 23

Total 640

Page 192



Religion Number

Atheist 15

Buddhist -

Christion 358

No Religion 211

Muslim 2

Jewish -

Hindu -

Other 8

I prefer not to say 46

Total 640

Marital Status : Are you married, or in a civil partnership? Number

No 270

Yes 345

I prefer not to say 25

Total 640

Disability : Do you consider yourself to be a disabled person? Number

No 605

Page 193



Yes 13

I prefer not to say 22

Total 640

Has your gender identity changed from that assigned at birth? Number

No 624

Yes 3

I prefer not to say 13

Total 640

Age Number

16-19 7

20-24 30

25-29 77

30-34 72

35-39 77

40-44 71

45-49 94

50-54 87

55-59 73

Page 194



60-64 25

65-69 8

70-74 1

I prefer not to say 18

Total 640

7. Staff members who have been part of the complaints procedure, either 
as a complainant or as the person the complaint was made against

6 individuals have been involved in a complaints procedure.  None of them has 
completed an equality questionnaire.  

8. Staff members who have been through the disciplinary procedure

96 cases of disciplinary procedures have occurred during the year.  Of those only 
5 had completed the equality questionnaire.  It is not possible to analyse further 
because of the danger of identifying individuals.  Looking at the figures it is 
possible to say that no pattern emerges.  

9. Aelodau staff sydd wedi gadael cyflogaeth y Cyngor

594 individuals left the council employ during 2018/19. Of these 4 had completed 
an equality questionnaire.

Gender Number

Female 2

Male 2

Other / I think of myself in a different way -

I prefer not to say -

Page 195



Total 4

Nationality or National Identity Number

Scottish -

Welsh 4

Irish / Northern Irish -

British -

English -

Other -

I prefer not to say -

Total 4

Race Number

Asian - Pakistani -

Asian – Indian -

Asian – Bangladeshi -

Asian – Chinese -

Asian – Other -

Mixed – White a Black Caribbean -

Mixed – White a Black African -

Page 196



Mixed – White ac Asian -

Mixed – Other -

White 4

Black – Caribbean -

Black - African -

Black – Other -

Gypsy or Irish traveller -

Other -

I prefer not to say -

Total 4

Sexual Orientation Number

Bisexual -

Gay man -

Gay Woman/ Lesbian -

Heterosexual or Straight 4

Other -

I prefer not to say -

Total 4

Page 197



Religion Number

Atheist -

Buddhist -

Christion 1

No Religion 2

Muslim -

Jewish -

Hindu -

Other -

I prefer not to say 1

Total 4

Marital Status : Are you married, or in a civil partnership? Number

No 3

Yes 1

I prefer not to say -

Total 4

Disability : Do you consider yourself to be a disabled person? Number

No 3

Page 198



Yes 1

I prefer not to say -

Total 4

Has your gender identity changed from that assigned at birth? Number

No -

Yes 4

I prefer not to say -

Total 4

Age Number

16-19 -

20-24 1

25-29 1

30-34 1

35-39 -

40-44 -

45-49 -

50-54 -

Page 199



55-59 -

60-64 -

65-69 1

70-74 -

I prefer not to say -

Total 4

Page 200



Atodiad 3

                    

1) ASSESSMENT AUTHORS
Delyth G Williams, Policy Officer

       
2) PARTNERS
Who are your partners when starting or changing the policy / plan / practice?  
They will need to be included when undertaking this assessment. 

 People who share equality characteristics
 Groups who represent people who share equality characteristics

          
3) DATE ASSESSMENT BEGUN
8 October 2015
2019 Version – 18 June 2018

     
5) AIMS AND OBJECTIVES OF THE POLICY / PLAN / PRACTICE
Note why the policy / plan / practice is necessary.  Note what the Authority 
hopes to achieve. 

The purpose of the 2016-20 Strategic Equality Plan is to reduce inequality 
between people with equality characteristics and the rest of society. The 
intention is to do so by setting objectives that will ensure that the voice of 
people with those characteristics is given fair consideration. It is also 
important to ensure that equality is mainstreamed thoughout the work of the 
Council.

The purpose of the Annual Report is to report on any progress.

 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT
STRATEGIC EQUALITY PLAN

Page 201



Atodiad 3

6) PARTICIPATION AND CONSULTATION
Have you consulted regarding the change in policy / plan / practice?  What 
was the result?  Remember it is a statutory requirement to consult with the 
people who will be affected. 

We have received input through a number of sources. A regional engagement 
day was held with various stakeholders to discuss our regional objectives.

The Council has collected information regarding people's priorities through 
Gwynedd Challenge, an opinion gathering exercise, which included a meeting 
with groups of older people, young people and disabled people. This 
information has been used in forming the following objectives but also will be 
used in shaping of our future work.

Information from previous engagements has also been used. 

A public consultation was held at the end of 2015.

7) EVIDENCE AVAILABLE
The evidence can be based on local, regional or national evidence, e.g. the 
service’s data or regional equality statistics or a national report. 
 
Our evidence has come from a variety of sources including

• Engagement - see above
• The Council's internal information
• Data on equality characteristics

There is more information on this data in the plan.

8) GAPS IN EVIDENCE
Note any gaps in evidence and explain how you intend to fill them. 

We have identified gaps in evidence in the Plan and identified methods to 
correct this e.g. collecting information on the equality characteristics of the 
workforce.  We have updated the questionnaire but need to encourage more 
people to complete it.

We do not feel we have enough information about the need for documents in 
different formats, e.g. Easy Read or British Sign Language. There has not 
been much demand for alternative sources but we are not sure if this is 
because there is no real demand or because people are unaware of their 

Page 202



Atodiad 3

rights in this regard.  Work is ongoing to find out more information through our 
fifth objective.

 

Page 203



Atodiad 3

9) RELEVANCE AND EFFECT
The relevance of the policy / plan / practice to the general equality duty and to each one of the equaltiy groups (protected 
characteristics) must be shown.  The real or likely effect must be clearly notes.  It is possible that not every characteristic will be 
relevant or be affected.  
9a) 
Equality Act General Duty Relevance The real or likely effect 

Removing illegal 
discrimination, harassment 
and victimisation

Positive The Plan intends to respond to these duties and will therefore have a positive 
impact.

Promoting equal 
opportunities

Positive The Plan intends to respond to these duties and will therefore have a positive 
impact.

Foster good relations Positive The Plan intends to respond to these duties and will therefore have a positive 
impact.

P
age 204



Atodiad 3

9b) 
Characteristics Relevance The real or likely effect 

Race Positive The purpose of the plan and objectives are to reduce inequality and will 
therefore have a positive impact on people who share this characteristic.  Each 
of the objectives will have an impact by including people by engagement, fully 
take into account the needs of people by assessing the impact of our policies, 
encouraging more people to stand in elections, looking at our employment 
arrangements and improving our communication. 

Disability Positive The purpose of the plan and objectives are to reduce inequality and will 
therefore have a positive impact on people who share this feature. Each of the 
objectives will have an impact by involving people through engagement, fully 
take into account the needs of people by assessing the impact of our policies, 
encouraging more people to stand in elections, looking at our employment 
arrangements and improving our communication.

Sex Positive The purpose of the plan and objectives are to reduce inequality and will 
therefore have a positive impact on people who share this characteristic.  Each 
of the objectives will have an impact by involving people through engagement, 
fully take into account the needs of people by assessing the impact of our 
policies, encouraging more people to stand in elections, and looking at our 
employment arrangements. 

Gender reassignment Positive The purpose of the plan and objectives are to reduce inequality and will 
therefore have a positive impact on people who share this feature.  Each of the 
objectives will have an impact by involving people through engagement, fully 
take into account the needs of people by assessing the impact of our policies, 
encouraging more people to stand in elections, and looking at our employment 
arrangements. 

Sexual orientation Positive The purpose of the plan and objectives are to reduce inequality and will 
therefore have a positive impact on people who share this feature.  Each of the 
objectives will have an impact by involving people through engagement, fully 

P
age 205



Atodiad 3

take into account the needs of people by assessing the impact of our policies, 
encouraging more people to stand in elections, and looking at our employment 
arrangements. 

Religion or belief Positive The purpose of the plan and objectives are to reduce inequality and will 
therefore have a positive impact on people who share this characteristic.  Each 
of the objectives will have an impact by involving people through engagement, 
fully take into account the needs of people by assessing the impact of our 
policies, encouraging more people to stand in elections, and looking at our 
employment arrangements. 

The Welsh language Positive There is no specific effect on the Welsh language but, of course, all the work 
will be done in accordance with the Council's Language Policy

Age Positive The purpose of the plan and the objectives is to reduce inequality and therefore 
it will have a positive impact on people who share this characteristic. Each of 
the objectives will have an impact by involving people through engagement, 
fully take into account the needs of people by assessing the impact of our 
policies, encouraging more people to stand in elections, looking at our 
employment arrangements and improving our communication.  

Pregnancy and maternity Positive The purpose of the plan and objectives are to reduce inequality and will 
therefore have a positive impact on people who share this characteristic.  Each 
of the objectives will have an impact by involving people through engagement, 
fully take into account the needs of people by assessing the impact of our 
policies, encouraging more people to stand in elections, and looking at our 
employment arrangements. 

Marriage and Civil 
Partnership

Positive The purpose of the plan and objectives are to reduce inequality and will 
therefore have a positive impact on people who share this characteristic.  Each 
of the objectives will have an impact by involving people through engagement, 
fully take into account the needs of people by assessing the impact of our 
policies, encouraging more people to stand in elections, and looking at our 
employment arrangements. 

P
age 206



Atodiad 3

10) ADDRESSING THE EFFECTS

a) Note any possible effects from an equality perspective 

The plan and the objectives are expected to have a positive effect from an 
equality perspective.

b) What steps can be taken to lessen or improve these effects?

Monitoring and reviewing, see below.

c) Is it necessary to reconsider the proposal?

No

11) ARRANGEMENTS FOR MONITORING AND REVIEWING
What steps will you take to review the policy / plan / practice once it has been 
adopted?  Although the above assessment recognised the possible effect, it 
must be remembered that the full effect will not be seen until the policy is 
implemented 

An annual report will be completed yearly to note the work which has been 
completed and to recognise any gaps

12) DECISION

Submit to Cabinet for approval of the contents, and for information

Page 207


	Agenda
	5 MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 21 MAY AND 4 JUNE 2019
	20190604 - Cabinet Minutes

	6 ANNUAL REPORT ON THE IMPLEMENTATION OF THE WELSH LANGUAGE STANDARDS 2018-19
	Item 6 - Appendix - Annual Report on the Implementation of the Welsh Language Standard 2018-19

	7 MANAGEMENT OF THE COUNCIL'S SMALL HOLDINGS ESTATE
	8 GWYNEDD COUNCIL PERFORMANCE REPORT 2018/19
	Item 8 - Appendix - Gwynedd Council Performance Report 2018-19
	Contents
	Leader's Foreword
	The Journey 18-19
	Introduction
	Financial Information 18-19
	Improvement Priorities
	Education Department
	Adults, Health and Well-being Department
	Children and Supporting Families Department
	Economy and Community Department
	Highways and Municipal Department
	Environment Department
	Ymgynghoriaeth Gwynedd Consultancy Department
	Finance and IT Department
	Corporate Support Department


	9 GWYNEDD COMMON HOUSING ALLOCATIONS POLICY
	Item 9 - Appendix 1 - Gwynedd Common Allocations Policy
	Item 9 - Appendix 2 - Equality Impact Assessment (Draft for Cabinet)
	Item 9 - Appendix 3 - Consultation Questionnaire Analysis for Cabinet

	10 HOUSING STRATEGY - FINANCIAL ALLOCATION FOR 2019/20
	11 ANNUAL EQUALITY REPORT 2018-19
	Item 11 - Appendix 1 - Annual Equality Report 2018-19
	Item 11 - Appendix 2 - Employment Information 2018-19
	Item 11 - Appendix 3 - Equality Impact Assesment Strategic Equality Plan




